Effect of micro biocides on Listeria monocytogenes

DISSERTATION

To obtain the Academic Degree

Doctor rerum naturalium

(Dr. rer. nat.)

Submitted to the Faculty of Biology, Chemistry, and Geosciences

of the University of Bayreuth

by

Maik Szendy

born on April 30th, 1987

in Oberhausen

Bayreuth, 2019

This doctoral thesis was prepared at the Institute for Bioanalysis at the Coburg University of Applied Sciences and Arts from September 2014 until December 2019 and was supervised by Prof. Dr. Martin Obst and Prof. Dr. Matthias Noll.

This is a full reprint of the dissertation submitted to obtain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences (Dr. rer. nat.) and approved by the Faculty of Biology, Chemistry and Geosciences of the University of Bayreuth.

Date of the submission:	18.12.2019	
Date of the defense:	02.07.2020	

Acting dean: Prof. Dr. Matthias Breuning

Doctoral Committee:

Prof. Dr. Matthias Noll (reviewer)

Prof. Dr. Tillmann Lüders (reviewer)

Prof. Dr. Andreas Römpp (chairman)

Prof. Dr. Martin Obst

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
LIST OF FIGURES	VI
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES	XIII
LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES	XIII
ABBREVIATIONS	XVI
SUMMARY	XIX
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	XXII
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Listeria monocytogenes	1
1.1.1. Phylogenetic characteristics	1
1.1.2. Listeriosis	2
1.1.3. Prevalence and prevention of proliferation in food producti	on plants3
1.2. Micro biocides and their application in dairy production	plants 5
1.3. Disinfectant compounds	10
1.3.1. Hydrogen peroxide	10
1.3.2. Sodium hypochlorite	11
1.3.3. Quaternary ammonium compounds	11
1.4. Antimicrobial preservatives	12
1.4.1. Nisin	12
1.4.1.1. Application of nisin to food products	14
1.4.1.2. Immobilization strategy of nisin	15
1.4.1.3. Antimicrobial activity of nisin	18
1.4.1.4. Mode of action	

1.4.1.5.	Phenotypic and genotypic adaption of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> to nisin
1.4.2.	Citral
1.4.3.	Sodium nitrite
1.5. <i>L</i>	<i>isteria monocytogenes</i> and its tolerance to micro biocides
1.5.1.	Correlation of micro biocides to respective antibiotic resistance of L.
	monocytogenes field isolates
1.6. C	heese products
1.6.1.	Sour curd cheese
1.6.2.	Contamination of SCC with molds and L. monocytogenes
2. MO	TIVATION
2.1. H	lypothesis and objectives
3. MA	TERIALS AND METHODS
3.1. E	fficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides
3.1.1.	Preparation of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives 38
3.1.2.	Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth
3.1.3.	In vitro efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides to L.
	monocytogenes field isolates and Listeria spp
3.1.4.	Growth curve of four NS and two NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates 44
3.2. N	lolecular analysis on nisin tolerance
3.2.1.	Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth
3.2.2.	DNA preparation and whole genome sequencing
3.2.3.	Whole genome sequence data analysis 47
3.2.4.	Phenotypic characterization of NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates
	via colorimetric GAD assay
3.2.5.	Sequencing of 30 NS and 30 NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates

3.2.6.	Growth of NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates at sub-inhibitory free
	nisin concentration
3.3. A	pplication of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neusilin particles onto
S	urface of sour curd cheese
3.3.1.	Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth
3.3.2.	Enumeration of L. monocytogenes and sampling procedure from non
	autoclaved SCC
3.3.3.	Preparation antimicrobial preservatives UFL2-N and free nisin
3.3.4.	Time- and pH-dependent in vitro nisin susceptibility testing of UFL2-N and
	free nisin
3.3.5.	Growth of L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate in autoclaved SCC
	without time-lapsed nisin release53
3.3.6.	Production of SCC loaf, addition of UFL2-N and free nisin, and L.
	monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate on SCC surface
3.3.7.	pH measurement of SCC surface54
3.3.8.	Non-cultivation based detection of L. monocytogenes by qPCR 54
3.3.8.1.	Extraction of gDNA54
3.3.8.2.	Quantitative PCR amplification (qPCR) of the <i>hlyA</i> gene
3.1.1.	Agarose gel electrophoresis
3.1.2.	Non-cultivation based detection of L. monocytogenes by fluorescence in situ
	hybridization (FISH)58
3.1.3.	Microscopic images of FISH61
3.1.4.	Microscopic images of UFL2-N and L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field
	isolate
3.2. S	tatistical analyses
3.3. C	contribution of other workers to this dissertation

4. RESULTS	64
4.1. Study 1 – Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocide	s 64
4.1.1. Disinfectant compounds	64
4.1.2. Antimicrobial preservatives	66
4.1.3. Correlation of micro biocides to respective antibiotic res	istance of L.
monocytogenes field isolates	70
4.2. Study 2 – Molecular analyses on nisin tolerance	74
4.3. Study 3 – Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neus	silin particles
onto surface of sour curd cheese	79
4.3.1. Antilisterial activity of electrostatic adsorbed nisin and free nisin	<i>in vitro</i> 80
4.3.2. Antilisterial activity of electrostatic adsorbed nisin and free nisin	in autoclaved
SCC	84
4.3.3. Detection of L. monocytogenes field isolates from non-autoclav	ed SCC 84
4.3.4. Nisin formulations on non-autoclaved SCC surface contaminate	ed with log 5.0
CFU ml ⁻¹ L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate	87
4.3.5. Interaction of UFL2-N with L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field is	solate 88
5. DISCUSSION	91
5.1. Study 1 – Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocide	s 91
5.2. Study 2 – Molecular analyses on nisin tolerance	99
5.3. Study 3 – Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neus	silin particles
onto surface of sour curd cheese	102
6. CONCLUSION	107
7. REFERENCES	110
8. APPENDIX	157
8.1. Appendix Figures	157
8.2. Appendix Tables	159

8.3	Publications, oral presentations and posters	174
9.	ACKNOWLEDGMENT	177
10.	(EIDESSTATTLICHE) VERSICHERUNG UND ERKLÄRUNGEN	179

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3: Schematic overview of adsorption (green) and desorption (blue) of nisin (red) as a function of pH. Loading of positively charged nisin to negatively charged Neusilin UFL2 (UFL2) during pH range of >5.3 to 8.0 (see text for explanation) and release of positively charged nisin from positively charged UFL2 at pH <5.3 (see text for explanation). The raw data of UFL2's zeta potential was provided by our collaboration partner Dr. Lars Dähne (Surflay Nanotec GmbH, Germany). 18 **Figure 4**: Models illustrating free nisin's and UFL2-N's (nisin electrostatically loaded to Neusilin UFL2) interaction with the cell wall and cytoplasmic membrane. **A** Lipid II-mediated nisin pore formation at the cytoplasmic membrane. Model was adapted from Wiedemann et al. (2001). **B** Conceptual framework for the interaction of free nisin and **Figure 8**: Distribution of 282 nisin susceptible (NS) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates corresponding to their serotype and relative abundance, MIC_{50} (**A**) and MIC_{90} (**B**) respectively. Asterisk indicates significant difference between NS and NNS (p<0.05). Information of nisin susceptibility was provided by Prof. Dr. **Figure 12**: Optical density (ΔOD_{595nm}) of nisin susceptible (NS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolate without *gadD2* DNA sequence variant (DSV) (**■**) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) with *gadD2* DSV and substitution at D₄₅₃N (\square) in BHI broth with 0 mg ml⁻¹ (blue)

or sub-inhibitory concentration of free nisin (0.004 mg ml⁻¹, green) at pH 7.0 (A) and pH 5.5 (B). Each curve is the mean of six replicates. Error bars represent standard Figure 13: Experimental measurements of pH-value on SCC surface during SCC production over time (\blacksquare) and zeta potential of UFL2 as a function of pH (\circ). Filled area under line (---) indicates potential timespan at which zeta potential of UFL2 would change from positive to zero during SCC production. Dashed lines in in-lay graphic refer to 95.0 % confidence interval (n=3). Zeta potential of Neusilin UFL2 was measured and raw data was provided by our collaboration partner (Szendy et al. Figure 14: Growth of six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at pH 7.5 (■), 7.0 (●), 6.5 (▲), 6.0 (▼), 5.5 (♦), 5.0 (◄), and 4.5 (►) for seven days in BHI broth at 30.0 °C. Optical density was monitored daily at 595.0 nm (ΔOD_{595nm}). **A** L. monocytogenes BfR L32 field isolate, **B** L. monocytogenes BfR L261 field isolate, **C** L. monocytogenes BfR L308 field isolate, D L. monocytogenes BfR L451 field isolate, E L. monocytogenes Figure 15: Probes LIS.MONO and EUB338 detected on contaminated SCC surface. Overlapping colors of LIS.MONO (red) and EUB338 (green) result into yellow color as positive for L. monocytogenes (arrows). Microbial microbiota in SCC is colored in green. During image processing, colors were added to the fluorescence signals. Scale **Figure 16**: Logarithmic CFU ml⁻¹ as a function of C_T-values of the listerial *hlyA* gene amplification by qPCR. Standard curves from same standard material over four thaw and freeze cycles of DNA (n=2). First thaw and freeze cycle (∎), second thaw and freeze cycle (\bullet), third thaw and freeze cycle (\blacktriangle), fourth thaw and freeze cycle (\bullet), and mean of standard curves (
). Linear fit of means (red line) and 95.0 % confidence

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Areas that should be cleaned with disinfectants and common reservoirs of <i>L</i> .
monocytogenes. Adopted from Tompkin et al. (1999)5
Table 2: Overview of disinfectants and general biocidal products in main group 1
according to their product type (PT). Adopted from the Biocidal Products Regulation
(EU) 528/2012 and EU 2009
Table 3: Grouping of cheese according to water content calculated by weight of the
non-fatty matter. Adopted from "§ 6 Bundesgesetzblatt 2015 Käseverordnung",
Germany
Table 4: Disinfectant compounds, antimicrobial preservatives, and their applied
concentration in each well of a 96-well micro titer plate
Table 5: The origin of isolation and serotypes of 251 L. monocytogenes field isolates
and 27 Listeria spp. reference strains (enlisted separately in Table 7) for efficacy
testing of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives
Table 6: The origin of isolation and serotypes of 282 L. monocytogenes field isolates
and 39 Listeria spp. reference strains (enlisted separately in Table 7) for susceptibility
testing
Table 7: Reference strains, serotypes and sources. 41
Table 8: Selected L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=18), isolate collection, serotypes,
and MIC of free nisin in mg ml ⁻¹ 42
Table 9: Nisin susceptible (NS) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) L. monocytogenes
serotype IIa field isolates used for whole genome sequencing analyses
Table 10: Sequences of gadD2 primers and individual qPCR conditions. 49
Table 11: Sequences of primers and individual qPCR conditions. The hlyA gene
amplified specifically species L. monocytogenes. It is present with one copy per

genome (Nogva et al. 2000) while Eub341 and Eub534 target the bacterial ribosomal

 Table 12: Components of qPCR reaction mix.
 56

 Table 13: Specificity testing of LM_hlyA primers and their capability to amplify perfect
 match and mismatch targets from gDNA of phylogenetic related or unrelated bacteria. 57

 Table 14: Probes used for FISH.
 59

 Table 15: Comparison of antibiotic resistances to MICs of NaOCI and citral. Number of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (n=236) inhibited by various antibiotics are arranged in susceptible (S), intermediate (I) or resistant (R) according to Noll et al. (2018)....71 Table 16: MICs of micro biocides of L. monocytogenes field isolates with multiantibiotic resistances resistance (R) and to gentamicin (GEN) and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (SXT) (Noll et al. 2018). Highlighted columns are micro Table 17: Comparison of the gad operon in NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates (referred to BfR L41). The amino acid (aa) substitution in GadD2 (453: $D \rightarrow N$) is marked in bold. Data was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Table 18: MIC of UFL2-N, free nisin or UFL2 for six L. monocytogenes field isolates at Table 19: Median log-reduction of L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate (hlyA gene) and microbiota (16S rRNA gene) after addition of UFL2-N or free nisin on top of SCC and after two days of ripening. CFU ml⁻¹ was derived from standard curve of the qPCR run. Logarithmic reduction is referred to samples without addition of UFL2-N or free nisin (n=4). Contamination on SCC surface was performed with log 5.12 CFU ml⁻

LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

similar mode of action as well as bacterial resistance, which is based on efflux pump activity (Allen et al. 2016; Komora et al. 2017; Krawczyk-Balska and Markiewicz 2016;

Nair et al. 2016; Walsh 2003). Number of L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=238) inhibited by various antibiotics are arranged in susceptible (S), intermediate (I) or Table 8.2-3: Comparison between antibiotics resistance to MICs of disinfectant compound (H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide) and antimicrobial preservative (NaNO₂ sodium nitrite). Antibiotics and biocides were selected to have similar mode of action as well as bacterial resistance, which is based on modified bacterial cell components or other resistance mechanisms in these target regions (Kapoor et al. 2017; Nair et al. 2016; Walsh 2003). Number of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (n=238) inhibited by various antibiotics are arranged in susceptible (S), intermediate (I) or resistant (R) according Table 8.2-4: MICs of free nisin of L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=117) with multi-Table 8.2-5: Comparison of nisin susceptibility associated genes in the genomes of L. monocytogenes field isolates (referred to BfR L41). Data was provided by the Table **8.2-6**: Comparison of regulatory sequences in the genomes of L. monocytogenes field isolates (referred to BfR L41). Data was provided by the Table 8.2-7: Comparison of the three different end C-terminal protein sequences of gadD2 in 30 nisin non-susceptible (NNS) L. monocytogenes field isolates ("HDTQQ", "HDNQQ" and "HNTQQ"). Shown sequences start at amino acid position 452 and end at position 456 (total of 464 amino acids; UniProt ID Q9EYW9). Protein sequences with amino acid substitution on position 453 are highlighted in bold. Additionally, the two NNS field isolates from whole genome sequencing are italicized. Data was provided **Table 8.2-8**: Comparison of the three different end C-terminal protein sequences of *gadD2* in 30 nisin susceptible (NS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates ("HDTQQ" and "HDNQQ"). Shown sequences start at amino acid position 452 and end at position 456 (total of 464 amino acids; UniProt ID Q9EYW9). The protein sequences of field isolate BfR L600 could not be derived due to bad quality in ab1-file. Additionally, the four NS field isolates from whole genome sequencing are italicized. Data was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Hammerl 2017; personal communication).

amended with 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin (N+). Values in brackets represents standard

ABBREVIATIONS

ABC transporter	ATP-binding cassette transporter
AOAC	Association of Analytical Chemists
APHA	American Public Health Association
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAC	Benzalkonium chloride
BHI	Brain heart infusion
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
bp	Base pairs
BSI	British Standards Institute
CAC	Codex Alimentarius Commission
CEN	European Committee for Standardization
CFU	Colony-forming units
СКС	Cetalkonium chloride
Ст	Threshold cycle
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dNTP	Deoxynucleotides triphosphate
e.g.	for example
EC	European Commission
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EMCCD	Electron-multiplying charge-coupled camera
EU	European Union

EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility
	Testing
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
GABA	γ-aminobutyrate
GAD	Glutamate decarboxylase
GMP	Good manufacture practice
HACCP	Hazard analysis and critical control points
i.e.	That is
IDF	International Dairy Federation
LB	Luria and Bertani broth
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantification
MBC	Minimum bactericidal concentration
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
NNS	Nisin non-susceptible
NS	Nisin susceptible
OD	Optical density
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
QAC	Quaternary ammonium compounds
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
SC	Sour curd
SCC	Sour curd cheese

SCENIHR	Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified
	Health Risks
SNBI	Standard nutrient broth I
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA
TCS	Two-component signal transduction systems
TRIS	Tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethan
TSB	Tryptic soy broth
USA	United States of America
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
WHO	World Health Organisation
x g	Times gravitational force
η	Correlation ratio coefficient
Tb	Kendall Rank Correlation Coefficient

SUMMARY

Listeria monocytogenes is a major foodborne pathogenic bacterium causing listerioses, which leads to human health problems and economic losses globally. Transmission of the disease to humans is usually due to consumption of *L. monocytogenes* contaminated food, e.g. dairy produce. Food safety management systems provide guidance to control the foodborne pathogens by a strict cleaning and sanitizing regime. Hence, micro biocides are applied in dairy production plants to prevent outgrowth of *L. monocytogenes*.

The goal of the first study of this thesis was to evaluate the efficacy of micro biocides and to determine the tolerance of micro biocides to *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. In the second study, it tackles about the response of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates of the antimicrobial preservative free nisin since it is frequently added to soft cheese to effectively inhibit *L. monocytogenes*. These data provided the prerequisites of the last study for employing nisin formulations *in vitro* and in sour curd cheese (SCC).

Two comprehensive panels with 251 and 282 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates from German raw food products, ready-to-eat foods, patient samples and food-processing environments as well as *Listeria* spp. reference strains were analyzed in the first study. For the first and last study, broth microdilution was applied as assay for efficacy and susceptibility testing. Hence, four disinfectant compounds (H₂O₂, NaOCl, benzalkonium chloride and cetalkonium chloride), two long-established antimicrobial preservatives (free nisin and NaNO₂) as well as one flavoring substance (citral), a potential new antimicrobial preservative, were tested against *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. An experimental design was established enabling a high comparability between all micro biocides, which were dissolved in culture broth mimicking organic debris. The efficacy of micro biocides was exceptionally unaltered in the presence of

organic compounds except for disinfection compound NaOCI. Moreover, high minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of NaOCI and citral were correlated to MICs of two important therapeutic antibiotics while no correlation was found for free nisin. The majority of nisin non-susceptible *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (NNS) were serotype IIa and were found in dairy produce. This observation raised the question why NNS field isolates of serotype IIa were frequent in this environment whereas occurrence in other origin of isolation was lower.

To address this question in the second study, four nisin susceptible (NS) and two NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates of serotype IIa were subjected to whole genome sequencing. Subsequent analysis of genes putatively associated with nisin tolerance and its regulation resulted to DNA sequence variants (DSVs) in the *gadD2* gene encoding for the glutamate decarboxylase that differed NNS from NS field isolates. The same specific DSVs in *gadD2* were found in seven more NNS field isolates. Likewise, NNS field isolates had a substantial shorter lag phase compared to NS in presence of free nisin at pH 7.0. The GadD2 model showed that due to an amino acid substitution at position 453, aspartic acid to asparagine, the active site was not blocked at pH 7.0. Presumably, this resulted to a less pH-depended enzyme activity.

The SCC matrix was identified as an important factor reducing the antimicrobial activity of free nisin. Hence, a new nisin formulation called Neusilin UFL2-N (UFL2-N) was developed within the last study of this thesis tailoring the release of nisin from Neusilin UFL2 under a sour curd likely environment. In BHI broth, UFL2-N was competitive to free nisin over a wide pH range with similar MICs. When both nisin formulation were applied on contaminated SCC surface, UFL2-N and free nisin showed antilisterial activity and kept *L. monocytogenes* below quantification limit of qPCR at the highest applied concentration.

Collectively, the data indicated that the efficacy of micro biocides against *L. monocytogenes* was affected by organic debris while MICs of nisin were not increased. Results confirmed the ongoing discussion that DSVs in *gadD2* supports NNS state. Lastly, UFL2-N enabled a slow release and antilisterial activity *in vitro* as well as on SCC surface.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Listeria monocytogenes ist ein bedeutendes, durch Lebensmittel übertragenes pathogenes Bakterium, welches Listeriosen verursachen kann und daher weltweit zu gesundheitlichen Problemen und wirtschaftlichen Verlusten führt. Der Verzehr von Lebensmitteln, die kontaminiert mit L. monocytogenes sind, führt zur Übertragung der Krankheit auf den Menschen, Beispiel durch Milchprodukte. zum Lebensmittelsicherheitsmanagementsysteme geben Leitlinien zur Kontrolle von Krankheitserregern, die durch Lebensmittel übertragenen werden, vor. Dies kann durch ein strenges Reinigungs- und Desinfektionsregiment erreicht werden. Mikrobiozide werden daher in Molkereiproduktionsanlagen eingesetzt, um das Wachstum von L. monocytogenes zu inhibieren.

Das Ziel der ersten Studie war es, die Wirksamkeit von Mikrobioziden zu bewerten und die Empfindlichkeit von *L. monocytogenes* Feldisolate gegenüber Mikrobioziden zu bestimmen. In der zweiten Studie wurde ebenfalls die Zellantwort der L. monocytogenes Feldisolate auf das antimikrobiell wirkende Konservierungsmittel Nisin untersucht. Häufig wird Weichkäse mit freiem Nisin versetzt, um L. monocytogenes wirksam zu hemmen. Diese erhobenen Daten lieferten die Grundlage für die letzte Studie, um die Nisinformulierungen in vitro und in Sauermilchkäse (SMK) zu erproben. Zwei Panel mit jeweils 251 und 282 L. monocytogenes Feldisolaten aus deutschen Rohprodukten, verzehrfertigen Lebensmitteln, Patientenproben und aus lebensmittelverarbeitenden Umgebungen sowie Listeria spp. Referenzstämme wurden in der ersten Studie analysiert.

In der ersten und letzten Studie wurde die Mikrodilution in Bouillon als Test für die Wirksamkeits- und Toleranzstests verwendet. Daher wurden vier Desinfektionsmittel (H₂O₂, NaOCI, Benzalkoniumchlorid und Cetalkoniumchlorid), zwei seit langem

verwendete antimikrobielle Konservierungsmittel (freies Nisin und NaNO₂) und ein Aromastoff (Citral), welcher ein potentiell neues antimikrobielles Konservierungsmittel darstellt, gegen *L. monocytogenes* Feldisolate getestet. Vorab wurde ein experimentelles Design entwickelt, welches eine hohe Vergleichbarkeit in Bouillon, die organische Rückstände simulierte, zwischen allen Mikrobioziden ermöglichte. Die Wirksamkeit der Mikrobioziden war in Gegenwart von organischen Verbindungen außer beim Desinfektionsmittel NaOCI unverändert. Darüber hinaus korrelierten hohe minimale Hemmkonzentrationen (MHKs) von NaOCI und Citral mit MHKs von zwei therapeutisch relevanten Antibiotika, während für freies Nisin keine Korrelation gefunden wurde. Die Mehrheit der nisintoleranten *L. monocytogenes* Feldisolate (NNS) war vom Serotyp IIa und wurde in Milchprodukten gefunden. Diese Beobachtung führte zu der Frage, warum NNS-Feldisolate des Serotyps IIa in dieser Umgebung häufig vertreten waren, während ihr Vorkommen in anderen Lebensmittelumgebungen geringer war.

Um diese Frage in der zweiten Studie zu beantworten, wurden vier Nisin empfindliche (NS) und zwei NNS *L. monocytogenes* Feldisolate des Serotyps IIa einer vollständigen Genomsequenzierung unterzogen. Die nachfolgende Analyse von Genen, die mutmaßlich mit Nisintoleranz und deren Regulation assoziiert sind, fand DNA-Sequenzvarianten (DSVs) im *gadD2*-Gen, welches für die Glutamatdecarboxylase kodiert. Dort unterschieden sich die NNS von NS Feldisolate von einander. Die gleichen spezifischen DSVs in *gadD2* wurden ebenfalls in sieben weiteren NNS Feldisolaten gefunden. In Gegenwart von freiem Nisin und bei einem pH-Wert von 7,0 hatten NNS Feldisolate im Vergleich zu NS Feldisolate eine wesentlich kürzere Verzögerungsphase in der Wachstumskurve. Modellierung des GadD2 zeigte, dass durch ein Aminosäureaustausch an Position 453, Asparaginsäure zu Asparagin, das

aktive Zentrum bei pH 7,0 nicht blockiert wurde. Dies führte vermutlich zu einer weniger pH-abhängigen enzymatischen Aktivität.

Der SMK wurde als wichtige Matrix identifiziert, die die antimikrobielle Aktivität von freiem Nisin reduzierte. Daher wurde im Rahmen der letzten Studie eine neue Nisinformulierung, Neusilin UFL2-N (UFL2-N), entwickelt. Diese ermöglichte die Freisetzung von adsorbierten Nisin aus Neusilin UFL2 in einer Umgebung, die dem pH des Sauerquarks ähnelte. In BHI-Bouillon und über einen weiten pH-Bereich war UFL2-N in der Lage, mit freiem Nisin zu konkurrieren. Die resultierenden MICs beider Nisinformulierungen waren vergleichbar. Wenn die Nisinformulierungen auf kontaminierten SMK Oberflächen aufgetragen wurden, zeigten bei der höchsten getesteten Konzentration sowohl UFL2-N als auch freies Nisin antilisteriale Aktivität und *L. monocytogenes* blieb unterhalb der Quantifizierungsgrenze der qPCR.

Insgesamt zeigten die Ergebnisse, dass die Wirksamkeit der Mikrobiozide gegen *L. monocytogenes* durch organische Rückstände beeinträchtigt wurde, während die MHKs von Nisin nicht erhöht waren. Weiterhin bestätigten die Resultate die laufende Diskussion, ob DSVs in *gadD2* die Nisintoleranz unterstützen. UFL2-N ermöglichte eine langsame Freisetzung und antilisteriale Aktivität *in vitro* sowie auf der SMK Oberfläche.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Listeria monocytogenes

1.1.1. Phylogenetic characteristics

To date, the genus Listeria includes seventeen species namely Listeria aquatica, L. booriae, L. cornellensis, L. fleischmannii, L. floridensis, L. grandensis, L. gravi, L. innocua, L. ivanovii, L. marthii, L. monocytogenes, L. newyorkensis, L. riparia, L. rocourtiae, L. seeligeri, L. weihenstephanensis, and L. welshimeri (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). Beside L. monocytogenes, only L. ivanovii and a few L. innocua field isolates are considered as pathogenic mainly in animals (Johnson et al. 2004). The other five species in the group Listeria sensu strictu, L. innocua, L. welshimeri, L. seeligeri, L. grayi and L. marthii, are non-pathogenic (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). Eleven species (Listeria sensu lato) have been newly identified (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). None of Listeria senso lato species showed pathogenicity (Bertsch et al. 2013; den Bakker et al. 2013; den Bakker et al. 2014; Lang Halter et al. 2013; Leclercq et al. 2010; Weller et al. 2015). To differentiate and identify *L. monocytogenes* from most *Listeria* species, in the first instance its hemolytic capabilities are utilized in hemolytic tests and phosphoinositide phospholipase C activity tests. These principles are utilized in chromogenic media for detection of the pathogenic species during cultivation. The hemolytic test is based on the production of listeriolysin O leading to erythrolysis and degradation of hemoglobin (Ryser and Donnelly 2013). Phosphatidylinositol-specific hydrolysis phosphatidylinositol phospholipase С catalyzes the of and glycosylphosphatidylinositol. These lipids are anchored on the external surface of eukaryotic cells by a glycosylphosphatidylinositol moiety (Ferguson 1988; Mengaud et al. 1991). Thus, this enzyme might play a role during pathogenesis.

Listeria monocytogenes are further differentiated by serotypes based on somatic (O) and flagellar (H) antigens (Seeliger and Jones 1986). Serotyping provides a helpful description for epidemiological studies and investigations. Currently there are thirteen known serotypes (1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c, 3a, 3b, 3c, 4a, 4ab, 4b, 4c, 4d, 4e and 7) (Allerberger 2003). These serotypes can also be grouped into molecular serotypes IIa (1/2a and 3a), IIb (1/2b, 3b and 7), IIc (1/2c and 3c), IVa (4a, 4ab and 4c), and IVb (4b, 4d, 4e) (Doumith et al. 2004). Thereof, serotypes IIa, IIb, IIc, and IVb are most likely found in contaminated food and IIa as well as IVb are commonly associated with listeriosis (Cartwright et al. 2013; Norton et al. 2001; Vallim et al. 2015). However, it is of more interest and relevance in dairy industry to trace back the origin of outbreaks. This can be achieved by genotyping also often referred to as molecular epidemiology. Discriminated *L. monocytogenes* field isolates by genetic techniques are then linked with clinical infections.

1.1.2. Listeriosis

Listeria monocytogenes can cause listeriosis, a severe illness that is globally distributed (de Noordhout et al. 2014). The aftermath of listeriosis outbreaks have a considerable impact on society and the food industry (Ivanek et al. 2004). People from risk groups such as elderly, immunocompromised people, pregnant women, and neonates suffer from symptoms like fever, diarrhea, and nausea. On the contrary, people not belonging to risk groups barely notice the infection of *L. monocytogenes* due to less severe symptoms. Once *L. monocytogenes* contaminated food is consumed, the pathogen can invade epithelial cells and surpass blood-brain barrier (Disson and Lecuit 2012). Once in blood, it causes encephalitis or meningitis with high fatality rate (Farber and Peterkin 1991). However, the documented fatal cases are low ranging from 15–30 deaths/100 cases in USA and France outbreaks (Crim et al. 2015;

Goulet et al. 2006). The bacterium can invade intracellularly its host cells and *L. monocytogenes* can evade and remain undetected by the host's immune system (Pizarro-Cerdá et al. 2012).

1.1.3. Prevalence and prevention of proliferation in food production plants

The wide diversity of risk food products are raw food (e.g. raw milk, vegetables, and meat) and ready-to-eat foods (e.g. soft cheese from pasteurized milk, sausages, smoked salmon, and salad) (Müller and Weber 1996). Ready-to-eat foods are products that are consumed raw or are minimal processed before eating, and which could allow pathogens to proliferate. However, the Gram-positive, non-sporeforming and motile bacterium can be also found in animals, plants, soil, water as well as in human and animal feces (Ryser and Donnelly 2013). Presence of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in dairy produce like in raw milk and non-thermal treated soft cheeses continue to occur and is of paramount interest as consumption led to outbreaks (Cartwright et al. 2013; EFSA 2015).

One reason for *L. monocytogenes* to succeed in food production plants is its ability to withstand a broad temperature, salt and pH range. Moreover, the shared psychrotrophic characteristics of *Listeria* sensu strictu (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016) makes it a good competitor against other microorganisms. *Listeria monocytogenes* can survive from -0.4 °C to +50.0 °C (Farber and Peterkin 1991; Gill and Reichel 1989; Hwang et al. 2009). Although a minimum of 72.0 °C for fifteen seconds is considered effective in reducing pathogens during pasteurization (IDF 1994), some field isolates have been reported to survive this pasteurization step (Farber and Peterkin 1991). *Listeria monocytogenes* also resists high salt concentration of 10.0-20.0 % (FAO/WHO 2004), low pH (O'Driscoll et al. 1996) and nitrosative stress (Hwang et al. 2009; McClure et al. 1991). Those harsh conditions limiting bacterial growth are commonly

found as intrinsic food properties. Nevertheless, the structure within the food matrix can influence local conditions, which enable proliferation of *L. monocytogenes*. Hence, foodborne contamination with pathogens enable transmission to human and upon exposure *L. monocytogenes* is virtually always responsible for reported listeriosis (Scallan et al. 2011).

Primary contaminations of unprocessed foods or ingredients e.g. starter cultures and potable water were described as recurring contamination source (Fretz et al. 2010a; Lundén et al. 2003; McIntyre et al. 2015). Thus, Lundén et al. (2003) was able to track the bacterium to many stages within the facility. Secondary contaminations were described by processing of food products (McIntyre et al. 2015; Pak et al. 2002), by employees (Montville et al. 2001; Salvat et al. 1995; Scott and Bloomfield 1990), by environment (Parisi et al. 2013; Silva et al. 2003; Spanu et al. 2015), and by surfaces (Parisi et al. 2013). In dairy production plants common recontamination occurs on objects or at sites such as cleaning tools, containers, conveyor belts, coolers, drains, floors, insulation, pumps, racks, slicers, standing water, and walls. The level of contamination on these reservoirs, which can lead to proliferation of *L. monocytogenes*, can be controlled by pre-treatment of raw milk with different technologies like pasteurization and bactofugation combined with a strict cleaning and sanitizing regime. The counteractive measures should be applied in regular intervals with disinfectants (**Table 1**).

Table 1: Areas that should be cleaned with disinfectants and common reservoirs of *L*.

Area	Frequency	Site for contamination
Drains	Daily	e.g. cracked hose
Floors	Daily	e.g. standing water,
		cleaning tools
Waste containers and storage	Daily	e.g. equipment, collators,
		racks, containers
Walls	Weekly/monthly	e.g. cracks, overhead
		structures, catwalks,
		insulation
Condensate drip pans	Weekly/monthly	Yes
Coolers	Weekly/monthly	Yes
Spiral freezers	Semi-annually	e.g. wall, crevices

monocytogenes. Adopted from Tompkin et al. (1999).

Although the European Union (EU) has established microbiological limits for the prevalence of *L. monocytogenes* in different food categories (EU 2007a), food products that are recognized as contaminated with *L. monocytogenes* are withdrawn from the market. These are communicated through the Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF) portal (EU 2011b) or are directly withdrawn from the market by the dairy production companies without public awareness. In contrast to the EU policy of determining acceptability levels of *L. monocytogenes* in risk foods, the United States follows a rigid zero tolerance policy in ready-to-eat foods.

In conclusion, presence of ubiquitous occurring *L. monocytogenes* cannot be totally avoided in dairy production plants but growth of *L. monocytogenes* can be effectively controlled by strict sanitizing regime and trained personnel.

1.2. Micro biocides and their application in dairy production plants

Meeting the mandatory microbiological regulation by governmental bodies, dairy production plants have to design and apply food safety management systems. One management tool is Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) and Good Manufacture Practice (GMP). The HACCP concept was developed by a collaboration of the Pillsbury Company and NASA in the 1960s to ensure that meals for astronauts during space flights are safe to consume (APHA 1971). The US Food and Drugs Administration (FDA) was first to include HACCP into the food production by regulating low-acid canned foods (FDA 1973). Since then it was implemented in dairy food production (CAC 2003). Based on process management principles, HACCP nowadays follows the four pillars of the Deming cycle (Plan-Do-Check-Act) (ISO 22000:2018). After hazard analysis, the critical control points (CCP) are identified (Plan). At these points, control is critical to assure food safety, e.g. pasteurization to control foodborne pathogens. The next steps are implementing critical limits of the HACCP plan, establishing a system to monitor control of CCPs, evaluating the performance (Do and Check), followed by formulating the corrective actions for improvement of a CCP if it is not under control (Act). All actions in establishing a HACCP plan are obligatory for proper verification and documentation. The ISO 22000:2018 provides internationally harmonized requirements for food safety to all types of organizations in food production including producers of cleaning agents, which can be audited (ISO 22000:2018). Moreover, the EU (2004) provides a general guidance for food business operators to implement the HACCP concept, which takes sanitizing, handling of food products, personnel training, plant design and waste management into consideration.

Secondary contaminations after pasteurization are generally controlled by a strict cleaning and disinfection regime, which can be briefly summarized in the following steps: (I) dry clean, (II) pre-rinse, (III) foam and scrub, and (IV) rinse. The cleaning and disinfection regime typically involves usage of micro biocides to prevent fungal (fungicides) or microbial (bactericides) growth. Micro biocides are defined as all chemical or natural created compounds or mixtures thereof, which destroy, inhibit or reduce growth of any harmful organism (EU 2012b). Generally, disinfectants and biocidal products are grouped into different product types (PT) by the Biocidal Products

Regulation EU 528/2012 (EU 2012b). After 2007, the European Commission identified about 350 micro biocides as available on the market (EU 2007b). A few natural substances are included in their list. However, the presumably most important biocidal active substances in terms of number of substances are within PT2 (**Table 2**).

Table 2: Overview of disinfectants and general biocidal products in main group 1according to their product type (PT). Adopted from the Biocidal Products Regulation(EU) 528/2012 and EU 2009.

PT	No. of substances	Purpose
1	50- 99	Human hygiene biocidal products
2	150-199	Private area and public health area biocidal products
3	100-149	Veterinary and hygiene biocidal products
4	100-149	Food and feed area disinfectants
5	50- 99	Drinking water disinfectants

Across the dairy industry general disinfectant compounds such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), sodium hypochlorite (NaOCI) and quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs) are applied (van Houdt and Michiels 2010). The total annual production volume of these three disinfectant compounds was about 400,000 tons within the EU (EU 2009). Commercial disinfectants for intended use in food production are often a mixture of different biocidal compounds. Prominent compounds beside QACs in commercial disinfectants include acetic acid, glutaraldehyde, peracetic acid, sodium hydroxide, and sodium peroxide (Conficoni et al. 2016; Møretrø et al. 2017). Common areas of application include food processing, distribution and retailing of dairy produce (**Figure**

1).



Figure 1: The farm to fork process in dairy industry. Micro biocides such as disinfection compounds and antimicrobial preservatives are applied at specific points along the food supply chain, e.g. raw milk, mixing, cutting, decontaminating, storage, logistic or personal hygiene. Usage and frequency depends on plant- or retail-specific design and food products. Abbreviation: H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide; QAC quaternary ammonium compound; NaOCI sodium hypochlorite; EO essential oil; NaNO₂ sodium nitrite.

However, the choice and use of micro biocides in dairy production plant should undergo risk assessments in prerequisite programs to be primarily in compliance with the environmental conditions, e.g. non-corrosive, stability over broad ranges of pH and temperature. The mode of application such as accessibility to certain areas in a dairy production plant or machine parts, exposure time to microorganisms and concentration as well as the sensitivity of individual *L. monocytogenes* field isolates affected the bioavailability and efficacy of micro biocides (Conficoni et al. 2016). Moreover, the cleanliness of the objects and surfaces in terms of organic debris reduced the efficacy of micro biocides as shown previously (Dominguez et al. 1987; El-Kest and Marth 1988). The prerequisite programs are also advisable for the implementation chosen micro biocides as well as work instructions for the personnel in the daily routine, since
ISO 22000:2018 and EU (2004) are non-specific on appropriate usage of micro biocides. Nevertheless, findings from these programs should be defined independently from HACCP and must be documented and regularly reviewed (Sperber et al. 1998).

Organic and inorganic compounds added directly to food products as food additives or flavoring substances are also termed as micro biocides in this thesis. Food additives are any substances that are not integral part or characteristic ingredient of food products or are added for a technological purpose in the manufacture process (EU 2008a). A flavoring substance is a defined chemical substance with flavoring properties to impart or modify odor and/or taste (EU 2008b).

Antimicrobial preservatives extend the shelf life of dairy food products and on the other hand as per definition, do not interfere with the sensory food quality like off flavor or texture. Sometimes antimicrobial preservatives aid to retain a certain food characteristic. Sodium nitrite (NaNO₂), for example, is primary used to obtain the typical red color of meat and is added before fermentation (Cammack et al. 1999). Moreover, antimicrobial preservatives like nisin and NaNO2 are beneficial in preventing food spoilage (Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; Pierson et al. 1983) and are applied to milk or during dairy processing after heating and before packaging (Figure 1). Unlike disinfectants, which eliminate as many organisms as possible, antimicrobial preservatives act more specific against spoilage organisms. For example, the food additive nisin interacts electrostatically with the bacterial cell membrane of Grampositive bacteria (Bonev et al. 2004; Kordel et al. 2001). Both antimicrobial preservatives, NaNO₂ and nisin, are still used for preserving food products since early 20th century (Binkerd and Kolari 1975; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; Doran 1917) and are permitted as food additives (EU 2008a). Recently, the consumer's social acceptance for long-established chemical treated food is changing and their demand

for untreated or treated with natural and sustainable compounds food products is increasing (Burt 2004). Thus, food additives that can be labeled as "natural" are frequently applied to enhance food safety (EU 2011a; JECFA 2010). Also, highly specialized starter cultures are used to meet customer demands (Benech et al. 2002a; Benech et al. 2002b; Carminati et al. 1999; Maisnier-Patin et al. 1992; Ye et al. 2018). Moreover, essential oils (EOs) and EO components have raised attention as an alternative in inhibiting foodborne pathogens in food products to avoid spoilage. EOs are volatile and fragrant compounds that are biosynthesized by plants. They are typically complex mixtures of EO components with an oily consistency. The EU has approved a variety of EO components as flavoring substances and the FDA classified the monoterpenoid citral as Generally Recognized As Safe (GRAS) (EU 2012a; FDA 2016). EOs can also be added to cheese by food retailers and before consumption in German traditional recipes such as "Handkäse mit Musik".

1.3. Disinfectant compounds

1.3.1. Hydrogen peroxide

Hydrogen peroxide is a relatively cheap disinfectant compound and is produced in large volumes. It can be used in aseptic packaging and for surface disinfection in food production plants (PT4) (EU 2012b). The disinfectant compound H₂O₂ is also found in commercial disinfectant formulations and is effective against *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (Aarnisalo et al. 2000).

Interestingly, the FAO/WHO reviewed the application of H_2O_2 and recommended its suitability in situations, in which cooling facilities are scarce due to technical, economical or practical reasons, to counterbalance the basic food quality (WHO 2006). The addition of the substrate H_2O_2 in form of sodium percarbonate to raw milk acts as a source of H_2O_2 , which can activate the lactoperoxidase system (Haddadin et al.

1996). The lactoperoxidase system is a naturally occurring antimicrobial mechanism in secretions of mammalian species like bovine raw milk. The oxidized hypothiocyanate (OSCN⁻) has antimicrobial effects on both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria (Kamau et al. 1990; Reiter et al. 1976; Wolfson and Sumner 1994). Furthermore, H_2O_2 is permitted as direct food substance in other food products (FDA 2017a). However, major use of H_2O_2 remains as a disinfectant compound in dairy production plant. For a daily routine application, Robbins et al. (2005) recommend a 3.0 % H_2O_2 solution (30.0 mg ml⁻¹) with an appropriate contact time of 10 minutes against *L. monocytogenes* Scott A to accomplish a complete elimination.

1.3.2. Sodium hypochlorite

Chlorine-based disinfectant compound NaOCI is still the most frequently used disinfectant in food industry. The advantages of NaOCI over other disinfectant compounds is that it is cheap and deactivates microorganisms without interfering with the food quality (Luo et al. 2012). Among four commercial disinfectants, NaOCI resulted in the greatest log-reduction of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (Carruthers et al. 2012). It is very effective against this foodborne pathogen. The antimicrobial effect of NaOCI is attributed to the free chlorine content. Free chlorine refers to the chlorine, which will deactivate the microorganisms and the manufacturer usually recommends 0.2 to 0.8 mg ml⁻¹ NaOCI for at least two minutes for disinfection (Mustapha and Liewen 1989). The free chlorine content is consumed by proteinaceous debris from organic materials, which leads to inconsistent efficacy (Jo et al. 2018).

1.3.3. Quaternary ammonium compounds

Historically, QACs were introduced into the market in the mid-1930s. A QAC is a cationic, surface active compound with hydrophobic and hydrophilic regions in its

molecular structure (McDonnell and Russell 1999). They are most widely used in food industry as disinfectant compounds (Hegstad et al. 2010) and they are the preferred choice because QACs do not lose efficacy in the presence of organic debris (Svoboda et al. 2016). Their antimicrobial activity depends on the amount of carbon atoms in the alkyl chain. The maximum antimicrobial activity was found with fourteen carbon atoms (Paulus 2005). The prominent and best studied representative is benzalkonium chloride (BAC), which is a mixture of benzyldimethylalkylammonium chlorides with eight to eighteen alkyl chains, as this QAC was found with notable antimicrobial activity (D'Arcy and Taylor 1962). Applied concentrations of commercial disinfectants in terms of BAC as active compound are nontoxic, non-tainting, odor-free and typically ranges from 0.5 to 1.0 mg ml⁻¹ (Hegstad et al. 2010). Another example with longer alkyl chain and higher hydrophobicity is cetalkonium chloride (CKC), which has the chemical formula C₂₅H₄₆CIN. The positive charge and the hydrophobic region of QACs suggests interaction with the cell surface (Gilbert and Moore 2005). The antimicrobial action is thought to occur by disruption of the bacterial cell membranes and cell walls (To et al. 2002). Tested Gram-positive L. monocytogenes field isolate was found to be the most sensitive to QAC compared to tested Gram-negative bacteria (Fazlara and Ekhtelat 2012). In Gram-negative bacteria, modifications in the fatty acid composition of the cell wall was shown to decrease interaction with QACs (Guerin-Mechin et al. 2000).

1.4. Antimicrobial preservatives

1.4.1. Nisin

In 1928, *Lactococcus lactis* (formerly known as *Streptococcus lactis*) were described to inhibit growth of other lactic acid bacteria (Rogers 1928). A few years later novel antimicrobial preservatives from a group of *Lactococcus* spp. were found (Mattick and Hirsch 1944) and nisin was isolated for the first time.

The 34 amino acid long-chained peptide with a molecular weight of 3,500 Da is produced by several subspecies of *Lactococcus lactis* (Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; de Vos et al. 1993). Nisin has many variants based on amino acid sequence as well as on post-translational modifications (Cheigh and Pyun 2005; Field et al. 2015; Siegers et al. 1996). Thirteen amino acids are subjected to post-translational modifications (Sahl et al. 1995; Siegers et al. 1996). The unusual lanthionines in nisin determine the overall chemical structure of the peptide and form five thioether bridges (**Figure 2**). The two natural occurring forms are nisin A and Z (Gross and Morell 1971; Mulders et al. 2005), which only differ by one amino acid. In nisin Z, histidine is substituted at the 27th position by asparagine (**Figure 2**). Nisin Z is preferred in food products because the polar asparagine side chain provides better diffusion characteristics in agar (de Vos et al. 1993).



Figure 2: Schematic chemical structure of nisin A adopted from Slootweg et al. (2013). The amino residue at position 27 is asparagine in nisin Z (bold outline). Numbers above amino acids are counting the peptide length. Abbreviation: A alanine; Abu aminobutyric acid; Dha dehydroalanine; Dhb dehydrobutyrine; G glycine; H histidine; I isoleucine; K lysine; L leucine; M methionine; N asparagine; P proline; S serine; V valine. Capitalized letters (A to E) indicate thioether bridges (A-S-A lanthionine; Abu-S-A β methyllanthionine).

In addition, the chemical properties regarding dissociation in solvent and antimicrobial activity of nisin are unusual as the stability and antimicrobial activity of nisin is increasing with decreasing pH. Furthermore, nisin is stable when heated to 70.0 °C at pH 2.0 (Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; Liu and Hansen 1990).

1.4.1.1. Application of nisin to food products

Nisin is used for a long time by the food industries and it is one of the few natural peptides with GRAS status (FDA 1998). It is classified as nonhazardous by animal consumption (Frazer et al. 1962). Currently, application of nisin is allowed in 50 countries including the US (Delves-Broughton et al. 1996). However, the maximum nisin concentration in the final product is individually regulated in each country for different food products. In ripened or processed cheese, the commercial usage of nisin in the EU is allowed up to a limit of 12.5 mg kg⁻¹ (EU 2011a).

Commercial nisin formulations contain 2.5 % nisin, which are stabilized in a mixture of non-fat milk solids and NaCl with a minimum content of 50.0 % (EC 2012). The Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) advised that in practical food applications, nisin should not be used in pure form because of its high activity against all Gram-positive bacteria including lactic acid bacteria (JECFA 1969). The JECFA panel defined that 0.025 µg of nisin is equal to one International Unit (IU) (JECFA 2013). Thus, 1.0 µg of nisin correspond to 40.0 IU. The activity of commercial nisin formulation was standardized by the EU and should contain not less than 900.0 IU mg⁻¹ (EC 2012). Moreover, the production of nisin in *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* is considered as a natural process. This is important for food production operators as nisin can be labeled as a natural antimicrobial preservative.

The antilisterial properties of nisin has been shown in milk, camembert and cheddar cheese (da Silva Malheiros et al. 2010; Benech et al. 2002a; Benech et al. 2002b; Jung

et al. 1992; Sulzer and Busse 1991). Due to minor importance, the application of nisin in surface-ripened cheese has been studied to a lesser extent.

Nevertheless, the practical application of nisin in cheese is limited by uncontrolled interactions with fat content, lipids, proteins or other organic components (Aasen et al. 2003; Bhatti et al. 2004; Chollet et al. 2008; Jung et al. 1992), thermostability (Liu and Hansen 1990) and proteolytic degradation processes (Sun et al. 2009).

1.4.1.2. Immobilization strategy of nisin

Since centuries, humanity use antimicrobial substances, drugs or physical preservation techniques to protect food from spoilage. To avoid chemical and microbial degradation of nisin (Schneider et al. 2011; Sun et al. 2009) and to maintain nisin activity (Gruskiene et al. 2017), novel technologies are continuously developed to immobilize nisin for a targeted, prolonged and cost-effective nisin release from carrier materials to food matrices.

There are several techniques for this purpose. For instance, the encapsulation in porous materials with a prolonged release or the smart technology of Layer-by-Layer (LbL) encapsulation (Donath et al. 1998; Peyratout and Dähne 2004; Pinheiro et al. 2015). The LbL technology exploits the alternating deposition of oppositely charged polymers, resulting in nanometer thin films of defined multi-functionality (Decher 1997). Capsules based on LbL-films can be finely tuned in respect of permeability enabling a controlled or triggered release of the encapsulated molecules with molecular weight above 1.0 kD (Peyratout and Dähne 2004). Other approaches include emulsions (Bae et al. 2005), nanoparticles (Almeida and Souto 2007; Chan et al. 2011; Mu and Feng 2003; Prombutara et al. 2012), biodegradable or non-biodegradable hydrogels (Bhattarai et al. 2010; Córdoba et al. 2013; Hoare and Kohane 2008) and nanofibers (Cui et al. 2006; Kim et al. 2007). Studies on active antimicrobial packaging employ

polymers, for instance starch and poly (vinyl alcohol) (PVA) (Meira et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2015).

The drawback of those renewable and mostly biodegradable polymers is the poor mechanical or thermal stability, color, transparency, and porous and hydrophilic properties leading to rapid release of encapsulated molecules (Chan et al. 2011; Córdoba et al. 2013; Martin et al. 2013).

Alternatively, the hydrophobic peptide nisin can adsorb to surfaces (Bower et al. 1995; Daeschel et al. 1992; Joosten and Nuñez 1995; Lante et al. 1994), particles (Dawson et al. 2005; Janes et al. 1998) or clays (Ibarguren et al. 2014; Meira et al. 2015) providing a simple and cost-effective delivery system. For some proposed materials the practical food application is not conforming to current regulation. To date, the EU allows only limited materials to be applied to food products to enhance food safety.

Neusilines are highly porous materials, which are developed as excipients in pharmaceutical formulations. They are based on magnesium aluminometasilicate. Neusilin particles were successfully used as excipient in pharmaceutical formulations (Mallappa et al. 2015). Neusilin particles like Neusilin UFL2 (UFL2) hold already an approved drug master file by the FDA for excipients and display potential characteristics for food intended usage. Neusilin particles provide several advantages such as adjustable size, large surface area and negative zeta potential for a pH-dependent release in SCC. More importantly, the production of UFL2 is standardized under strict GMP conditions. Once nisin is electrostatically loaded to UFL2, the carrier material allows protection against proteolytic degradation because enzymes can hardly enter small pores of diameter below 10.0 nm (Orosco et al. 2009). Moreover, interaction of food components with immobilized nisin in UFL2 can be reduced.

In order to achieve an effective loading and sufficient release of nisin in porous particles, charge interactions were used (Figure 3). For the loading process, the

porous particles should exhibit a high negatively charged surface for ionic interactions with positively charged nisin, but for the release, the surface charge should become zero or positive. Above the isoelectric point of nisin at pH 8.5 (zeta potential equals 0.0 mV) nisin will become negatively charged (Bactibase, Hammami et al. 2010). No denaturation of nisin at high pH was observed and its activity was fully restored at low pH (Liu and Hansen 1990). These chemical properties of nisin allows a wide pH range for electrostatic interaction. UFL2 had a negative zeta potential between pH 5.0-8.0, which resulted into attraction of nisin (**Figure 3**; green). If the pH decreases below the isoelectric point of UFL2 (around pH 5.3), it becomes positively charged leading to repulsion of nisin (**Figure 3**; blue). Thus, nisin will be released into the environment.



Figure 3: Schematic overview of adsorption (green) and desorption (blue) of nisin (red) as a function of pH. Loading of positively charged nisin to negatively charged Neusilin UFL2 (UFL2) during pH range of >5.3 to 8.0 (see text for explanation) and release of positively charged nisin from positively charged UFL2 at pH <5.3 (see text for explanation). The raw data of UFL2's zeta potential was provided by our collaboration partner Dr. Lars Dähne (Surflay Nanotec GmbH, Germany).

1.4.1.3. Antimicrobial activity of nisin

The peptide nisin inhibits primarily Gram-positive bacteria and spores of those. Other organisms such as Gram-negative bacteria, yeasts or molds are generally not affected by nisin (Bauer and Dicks 2005; Rayman et al. 1981; Stevens et al. 1991). Susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to nisin has been reported frequently (Benkerroum and Sandine 1988; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; Ferreira and Lund 1996; Rasch and Knøchel 1998). The susceptibility was evaluated by the growth of *L*.

monocytogenes in liquid and solid media and depending on the method, bacterial growth was inhibited between 4.9x10⁻⁵ and 0.026 mg ml⁻¹ nisin (Benkerroum and Sandine 1988; Rasch and Knøchel 1998; Ukuku and Shelef 1997). At the same time, reduced susceptibility of individual *L. monocytogenes* field isolates has been reported (Benkerroum and Sandine 1988; Ferreira and Lund 1996; Iancu et al. 2012; Katla et al. 2003; Mota-Meira et al. 2000; Rasch and Knøchel 1998; Ukuku and Shelef 1997).

1.4.1.4. Mode of action

The positively charged nisin is affecting the negatively charged phospholipid groups on the bacterial cell membrane of Gram-positive bacteria (Bonev et al. 2004; Kordel et al. 2001). The didehydroalanine residue in position five was attributed to the inhibition of spore outgrowth (Bauer and Dicks 2005; Pol et al. 2001).

To the current knowledge, nisin will complex with Lipid II, which is a precursor molecule involved in the biosynthesis of the cell wall. Subsequently, the peptidoglycan biosynthesis is inhibited (Kramer et al. 2006). Several nisin-Lipid II-complexes will incorporate itself into the cytoplasmic membrane resulting in pore formation (**Figure 4A**). The negatively charged cell membrane will cause a conformational change in nisin. The positively charged side chains of the amino acids will then interact with the membrane to form pores (**Figure 4A**). As a result, low molecular weight substances like amino acids, ATP and protons will leak from the cell (Breukink et al. 1999; Brötz et al. 2002; Hsu et al. 2004; Wiedemann et al. 2001). Consequently, the proton motive force will deplete.

A model illustrating the interaction between Neusilin UFL2 loaded with nisin (UFL2-N) and the cell wall is presented in **Figure 4B**. Around pH 5.3, the positively charged UFL2-N will attract negatively charged bacteria. This will allow electrostatic binding to the cell wall. Additionally, nisin will be slowly released and those peptides, which do

reach the cytoplasmic membrane, will bind to Lipid II (**Figure 4**). Free nisin, however, may be hindered by phenotypic alterations to interact with the cytoplasmic membrane. Divalent cations may decrease the overall net negative charge of the cell wall and/or the cytoplasmic membrane and may as well prevent free nisin from binding to its target site (**Figure 4B**). Due to UFL2-N and its continuous release of nisin in close proximity to the cytoplasmic membrane, the bioavailability of the antimicrobial peptide will be greatly increased.



Figure 4: Models illustrating free nisin's and UFL2-N's (nisin electrostatically loaded to Neusilin UFL2) interaction with the cell wall and cytoplasmic membrane. **A** Lipid II-mediated nisin pore formation at the cytoplasmic membrane. Model was adapted from Wiedemann et al. (2001). **B** Conceptual framework for the interaction of free nisin and UFL2-N with the cell wall. Abbreviation: G *N*-Acetylglucosamine; M *N*-Acetylmuramic acid; Me⁺⁺ divalent metal cation; P_i phosphate.

1.4.1.5. Phenotypic and genotypic adaption of *L. monocytogenes* to nisin Nisin susceptibility is characterized by a complex phenotype. In laboratory experiments, the nisin non-susceptible (NNS) state was acquired spontaneously, which occurred at a frequency of 10⁻⁶-10⁻⁸ (Harris et al. 1991; Ming and Daeschel 1993). The NNS state was shown to be inducible under chilling temperature and salt stress (Bergholz et al. 2013; De Martinis et al. 1997; Mazzotta and Montville 1997). Moreover, the increased susceptibility was stable in NNS variants (De Martinis et al. 1997).

In spontaneous NNS variants of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates, alterations in phospholipid composition and membrane fatty acid composition have been observed (Crandall and Montville 1998; Davies et al. 1996; Verheul et al. 1997). This led evidentially to a difference in the fluidity of the cell membrane and resulted into decreased net negative charge of NNS field isolates (Mazzotta and Montville 1997; Verheul et al. 1997). This more positive net charge of the cell membrane could hinder the binding of nisin.

While phenotypic alterations in defense strategies are well described, the molecular mechanisms and their regulations are poorly understood. Some loci and genes have been so far associated with inherent nisin tolerance mechanisms. Regarding cell wall biogenesis and membrane composition, the *dltABCD* operon, involved in the D-alanylation of lipoteichoic acid, and *mprF*, catalyzing lysine esterification of phosphatidylglycerol, were found to lead to NNS state in *L. monocytogenes* mutants (Abi Khattar et al. 2009; Kovacs et al. 2006; Peschel et al. 1999; Thedieck et al. 2006). Homologs to a putative penicillin binding protein have been associated to nisin tolerance (Gravesen et al. 2001). To date, several two-component signal transduction systems (TCS), similar to the BceRS-BceAB TCS that can be found in *Bacillus subtilis* (Dintner et al. 2011), have raised attention in *L. monocytogenes*. These TCS were recently attributed to nisin tolerance. Generally, TCS contribute greatly to the ability of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to sense and respond to its environment (Gottschalk et al. 2008; Mandin et al. 2005). These systems consist of a membrane-bound histidine

kinase component and a cytoplasmic response regulator, which sense the external environment conditions and affect the appropriate response required to improve survival (Gao and Stock 2009). For example, genes coding for TCS and TCS regulators are *liaRS*, *lisRK* and *virRS*. These three TCS and TCS regulators have been associated to nisin tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* field isolaste (Collins et al. 2012; Cotter et al. 2002; Fritsch et al. 2011; Mandin et al. 2005). LisRK is described to be involved into responses to environmental stresses (Cotter et al. 1999; Sleator and Hill 2005), *liaRS* codes for proteins acting as transcriptional regulatory proteins (Fritsch et al. 2011) and *virRS* encodes for regulatory proteins for tolerance to cationic peptides (Mandin et al. 2005). In addition, multidrug resistance transporter such as AnrB was found as contributor to reduce nisin susceptibility (Collins et al. 2010). Other proteins involved in nisin tolerance are alternative sigma factors (Begley et al. 2006; Palmer et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2012) and glutamate decarboxylase (Begley et al. 2010).

The glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) system contributes significantly to the survival of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in acidic conditions (Cotter et al. 2001). When the pathogen is exposed to low pH conditions, the GAD system imports a molecule of extracellular glutamate and converts it to γ-aminobutyrate (GABA) before exporting the GABA in exchange for another glutamate. This reaction cycle consumes an intracellular proton and thereby counteracts the acidification of the cytoplasm. GABA is alkaline and raises subsequently the external pH when released into the environment (Small and Waterman 1998). The GAD system is comprised of three decarboxylases (encoded by *gadD1*, *gadD2*, and *gadD3*) and two antiporters (encoded by *gadT1* and *gadT2*). The *gadD1* in strain *L. monocytogenes* LO28 was reported to be associated with enhanced nisin tolerance (Begley et al. 2010; Collins et al. 2011). In mild pH conditions, *gadD1* is required for growth whereas *gadD2* becomes important under severe pH conditions (Cotter et al. 2001; Cotter et al. 2005b).

1.4.2. Citral

The use of natural products such as EO or EO components to control foodborne bacteria has been vastly investigated and constitutes a promising approach. Most of the EO or EO components have been classified with GRAS status and are approved to use as flavoring substances (EU 2012a; FDA 2016). Extraction from plants is typically performed by distillation, solvent extraction or other physical techniques (Bassolé and Juliani 2012). Both in direct oil and vapor form, EO or EO components inhibit a range of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria (Apolónio et al. 2014; Fisher and Phillips 2006; Friedman et al. 2002; Hyldgaard et al. 2012; Silva-Angulo et al. 2015). The EO components with antimicrobial activity are mainly found in terpenes and terpenoids as well as in phenolic compounds (Burt 2004). The basis of terpenes are isoprene units (2-Methylbuta-1,3-diene), while the class of terpenoids are derived from terpenes with oxygenated functional groups. Friedman et al. (2002) ranked EO components in descending order according to their antilisterial activity. Those were cinnamaldehyde, eugenol, thymol, carvacrol, citral, geraniol, perillaldehyde, carvone S, estragole, and salicylaldehyde. Cinnamaldehyde and its derivatives were incorporated in ready-to-eat frankfurters to inhibit growth of L. monocytogenes field isolates (Upadhyay et al. 2013) or eugenol was used similarly on ready-to-eat meat products (Hao et al. 1998a, 1998b). Carvacrol also had antilisterial properties on frankfurters (Upadhyay et al. 2013) and on catfish filets (Desai et al. 2012).

The monoterpenoid citral (3,7-dimethyl-2,6-octadienal) showed antimicrobial activity to *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (Apolónio et al. 2014; Kim et al. 1995; Onawunmi 1989). The EO component can be extracted from leaves and fruits of citrus plants like myrtle trees, basil, lemon, lime, lemongrass, orange and bergamot (Fisher and Phillips 2006; Hyldgaard et al. 2012). In general, it is a mixture of the stereoisomers geranial (trans-citral) and neral (cis-citral; Benvenuti et al. 2001). Potential application in dairy

industry was tested by release of citral from cellulose acetate films on coalho cheese (Oliveira et al. 2017). Important application of EO or EO components was also shown for ice cream (Ramadan et al. 2013).

At the same time, usage of these flavoring substances in dairy produce would answer the consumer's demand for fresh, organic and sustainable produce. The concerns about regulatory approval for intended food application (e.g. citral) are withdrawn for food business operators by their GRAS status (EU 2012a; FDA 2016).

1.4.3. Sodium nitrite

Since 1917, NaNO₂ is used for curing and preserving of meat and fish products (Binkerd and Kolari 1975; Doran 1917). It can be added to some types of cheese like Feta cheese, Pasta Filata cheese and semi-hard cheeses (FAO FAO/TCP/KEN/6611 Project; Korenekova et al. 2000). Today, NaNO₂ is considered as an indirect antimicrobial preservative. It means that in food industry its major function in meat products is for flavoring purposes and not to inhibit microbial growth (Nair et al. 2016). Historically, NaNO₂ was used to inhibit *Clostridium botulinum* (Nair et al. 2016). Besides possessing antimicrobial activity against *C. botulinum*, NaNO₂ was found inhibitory against *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (Duffy et al. 1994; Müller-Herbst et al. 2016). Moreover, under acidic conditions NaNO₂ leads to reactive species like nitric oxide, which show more bacterial inhibition than the undissociated form (Cammack et al. 1999).

1.5. Listeria monocytogenes and its tolerance to micro biocides

A common *in vitro* method to measure the susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* to micro biocides is testing the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC). The MIC is the lowest concentration of a micro biocide required to inhibit growth of a bacterium. Other wide

spread methods include disk diffusion, colony-forming units (CFU) or broth microdilution. Standardization in testing procedures for disinfectant compounds analogous to The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST; 2017) was formulated by national institutes, some of them are the Association of Analytical Chemists (AOAC 2002), the British Standards Institute (BSI 1991), the European Committee for Standardization (EN 1275, CEN 2002) and the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hygiene und Mikrobiologie (Gebel et al. 2001). Unfortunately, clinical breakpoints, which are established for antibiotics or epidemiological cut-off values, are literally non-existent for disinfectant compounds or antimicrobial preservatives. Clinical breakpoints set cut-off values to categorize a bacterium as susceptible, intermediate or resistant. There are several definitions of antimicrobial resistance. All definitions have in common that resistance is the ability of microorganisms to withstand treatments with a micro biocide (Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks 2009). For example, some researcher defined resistant *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to BAC if the MIC was greater than or equal to 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ (Romanova et al. 2006; To et al. 2002), 0.008 mg ml⁻¹ (Mereghetti et al. 2000), 0.016 mg ml⁻¹ (Xu et al. 2014) or the double concentration of MIC₅₀ (Meier et al. 2017). These tremendously different cut-off values do not allow the foundation of a harmonized system. A more appropriate method to measure the resistance to a micro biocide is the determination of the minimum bactericidal concentrations (MBCs). The MBC is the lowest concentration of a micro biocide needed to kill a bacterium. It allows the comparisons between the deactivated or are inhibited cells and the resistant cells.

Cerf et al. (2010) proposed to refer to "resistance" when the effect of micro biocides is killing and to "tolerance" when it is adaption to MICs characterized by a raised value. Throughout this thesis, the term "tolerance" will be used when referring to susceptibility

of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to micro biocides. For clarity, the term "resistance" will be still used in context of the susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to antibiotics based on the used terminology in peer-reviewed literature.

The reasons that have led to tolerance in complex environments like food or dairy production plants remains often unknown. However, the cell response usual turns out to change gene expression providing tolerance against the individual stressor like a micro biocide. Listeria monocytogenes has intrinsic survival strategies conferred by the bacterial genome. The cell envelope is considered as an intrinsic trait. The individual sensitivity and tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates depend on the composition of the cell envelope. Alternatively, tolerance to disinfectant compounds or antimicrobial preservatives has been acquired. This can be caused by the selection pressure on the entire bacterial population. Listeria monocytogenes have a considerable advantage over those who have not undergone mutation or harbor plasmids with genetic elements, which enhance the tolerance to micro biocides. The four generic mechanisms corresponding to intrinsic tolerance of bacterial cells to micro biocides are: (I) formation of biofilms as a phenotypic defense strategy to reduce diffusion for certain micro biocides (Gandhi and Chikindas 2007; Schulte et al. 2005), (II) alterations in the cell envelope to decrease membrane permeability (Dubois-Brissonnet et al. 2011; To et al. 2002; Verheul et al. 1997), (III) expression of efflux pumps to affect the intracellular concentration (Bae et al. 2014; Godreuil et al. 2003; Komora et al. 2017; Romanova et al. 2006), and lastly (IV) modification or overproduction of the target molecules as well as production of enzymes that are capable to reduce effectiveness of the micro biocide (Kapoor et al. 2017).

In dairy production plants, acquired tolerance is of major importance. Especially in the production plants where the rotation or concentration of micro biocides is limited due to the plant design. Hence, tolerant *L. monocytogenes* field isolates may be selected

by decreased bioavailability of the disinfectant compounds in these plants. The reasons for the selection of tolerant field isolates could be sub-inhibitory concentrations.

To date, the frequently used BAC is the best studied example among the disinfectant compounds regarding the description of MIC and tolerance mechanism to *L. monocytogenes*. The pathogen was not found to become highly tolerant to BAC in food production plants and the majority of tested field isolates were susceptible to low concentrations (Aase et al. 2000; Mereghetti et al. 2000). This is in contradiction to laboratory conditions under which *L. monocytogenes* field isolates quickly adapted to BAC (Romanova et al. 2006; To et al. 2002). Other frequently used disinfectant compounds like NaOCI did not show increased MICs (Bloomfield and Miller 1989; Mustapha and Liewen 1989). Similarly, the antimicrobial preservatives nisin and nitrites used for a long period of time in food industry did not cause high tolerances in *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (Ghabraie et al. 2016; Müller-Herbst et al. 2016).

1.5.1. Correlation of micro biocides to respective antibiotic resistance of L. monocytogenes field isolates

Once the gene expression as part of the cell response is altered, tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* against a single micro biocide can, in return, provide survival methods, which allows tolerance to different micro biocides with similar or unrelated modes of action (Bergholz et al. 2013; Cebrián et al. 2010; Lou and Yousef 1997; McMahon et al. 2007a). A co-selection process is especially concerning when micro biocides tolerance select for antibiotic resistances. This could involve efflux pumps as mechanism of target cell tolerance or resistance, respectively. Often efflux pumps are not molecule specific but rather generic to different unrelated molecules or heavy metals (Mullapudi et al. 2008; Rakic-Martinez et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2014). These

unrelated molecules can include antibiotics as well. Therefore, high importance is attributed to the presence of efflux pumps in *L. monocytogenes*. On the other hand, decreased uptake due to alteration in peptidoglycan biosynthesis could contribute to a micro biocide tolerance or antibiotic resistance. Once L. monocytogenes has altered its cell wall to micro biocides, conceptually cells should be less susceptible to antibiotic classes targeting a specific pathway of bacterial cell wall biosynthesis like β-lactams and glycopeptides (Kapoor et al. 2017). The likelihood of this situation to occur should be low under complex environmental conditions. However, co-selection cannot be excluded and several studies could show opposite results under laboratory conditions (Christensen et al. 2011; Hammer et al. 2012; McMahon et al. 2007b; McMahon et al. 2008; Nielsen et al. 2013). Data from food industry examining possible tolerance concerns associated with antimicrobial preservatives is scarce even if they have been used over years (Davidson and Harrison 2002). The usage of nisin has led so far in few individual *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to nisin tolerance (Cotter et al. 2005a; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996). A few sporadic studies have reported that nisin tolerant L. monocytogenes field isolates were less susceptible to different β-lactams and cephalosporins (Cotter et al. 2002; Gravesen et al. 2001). The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) commissioned a survey of nisin-induced co-selection to therapeutic antibiotics. The panel concluded that this association is not of concern when applying nisin in food products (Davidson and Harrison 2002). Their consensus was that the coselection to antibiotics did not occur because of the differences in the mode of action between nisin and antibiotics. While nisin mostly results into pore formation and require Lipid II as a docking molecule, antibiotics require a specific target in either the cell membrane or inside the cell (EFSA 2006).

1.6. Cheese products

Due to many listeriosis outbreaks with several deaths and diseases, food safety of different types of soft cheese is of paramount interest (Bille et al. 2006; Büla et al. 1995; Carrique-Mas et al. 2003; Goulet et al. 1995; Linnan et al. 1988; MacDonald et al. 2005; Makino et al. 2005; McIntyre et al. 2015). Compared to other food products, listeriosis outbreaks from dairy produce were reported to show no decrease in frequency in the US (Cartwright et al. 2013). In the EU, consumption of a *L. monocytogenes* contaminated sour curd type of cheese led in Austria and Germany to an outbreak and the cheese was voluntarily withdrawn from the market one year later (Fretz et al. 2010b). Therefore, raw and non-thermal treated food products require particular attention in risk assessment of food safety.

In Germany, the "Käseverordnung" defines and regulates production and quality measures of cheese. The "Käseverordnung" extends classification of different cheese produce to types of milk, renneting coagulation of milk, taste and fat content in the dry matter. Different cheese produce based on water content by weight of the non-fatty matter are shown in **Table 3**.

Table 3: Grouping of cheese according to water content calculated by weight of thenon-fatty matter. Adopted from "§ 6 Bundesgesetzblatt 2015 Käseverordnung",Germany.

Cheese produce	Water content by weight of the non-fatty
Cream	>73.0 %
Soft	>67.0 %
Sour curd	>60.0-73.0 %
Semi-soft	>61.0-69.0 %
Semi-hard	>54.0-63.0 %
Hard	<56.0 %

Although surface-ripened cheeses like sour curd cheese (SCC) are of minor importance on cheese market, the "Quargel" outbreak displays significance to prevent future major outbreaks (Fretz et al. 2010b). Thus, this thesis selected SCC for evaluation of nisin loaded Neusilin UFL2 and free nisin against *L. monocytogenes*. To the best of author's knowledge, the chemical and physical robust derived magnesium aluminometasilicate has not been applied in SCC yet. Neusilin particles were studied in the context of an adsorbent powder in animal feed administration (Ma et al. 2016) and for nutritional supplementation (Santaniello and Giannini 2016).

1.6.1. Sour curd cheese

SCC is produced from low-fat sour curd (SC) ("§1 Absatz 3 Nr. 2 Käseverordnung") and lactic acid bacteria. They have a long tradition in Hessian, Germany and their simple production is followed by a short ripening period from a couple of days to weeks. The weight of loaf determines the assorted varieties like the well-known "Harzer Roller" and "Handkäse". Furthermore, SCC is subdivided into cheeses with white molds (e.g. *Geotrichum candidum*) or with orange-red pigmented bacteria also called red smear like *Brevibacterium linens* (Bockelmann 2003). Since *B. linens* has its characteristical appearance, it is often referred to as the "typical red smear bacteria are found on the cheese surfaces (Bockelmann 2003). SCCs that have been produced with red smear bacteria are called "Gelbkäse". Spices or herbs can also be added as topping before or during ripening.

The basis of SCC is low-fat milk, which is coagulated at 40.0 °C, and thermophile starter lactic acid bacteria like *Streptococcus thermophilus*. During the fermentation of lactose, the pH decreases and the milk starts to thicken due to coagulation of casein (Tscheuschner 2004). In general, dairy production plants produce SC and the

intermediate good is transported to the cheese manufacturers, where it is processed without further heat treatments. Based on the SCC recipe of our collaboration partner, the production process is shown in **Figure 5**. Ripening salts sodium chloride (NaCl) and sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) are added to SC to adjust salinity and pH. In other recipes, calcium carbonate is also added.



Figure 5: Sour curd cheese production process similar to the work flow of our collaboration partner. Abbreviation: SC sour curd; SCC sour curd cheese; Temp Temperature.

Page | 31

Apart from the indigenous microbiota from the SC and ripening salts, a special batch of two-week ripened SCC ("culture cheese") is added to initiate ripening of the cheese (**Figure 5**). This traditional method is called "old-young" smearing (adding of the "old culture cheese"). During two days of ripening, the initial white color shifts to the typical orange-yellow color of SCC on the outer surface while its white curd core remains intact. Similarly, the pH at the surface increase from approximately 4.4 to 7.2 (Belitz et al. 2001). In addition, ripening changes the attributes from a brittle, grainy texture and salty flavor to a soft, rubbery texture and intensified cheese flavor and taste. Although SCC is and will not be produced for mass market due to its strong taste, it provides interesting properties for dietary intake such as low-fat and high milk protein content (Bockelmann 2003).

1.6.2. Contamination of SCC with molds and L. monocytogenes

The traditional "old-young" smearing makes SCC prone to contamination by, for instance, molds or foodborne pathogens. High hygiene standards have to be maintained and applied to the culture cheese. The SCC surface is exposed to unsterile conditions and provides nutrients and moist content for the growth of spoilage organisms. Additionally, the sour curd and culture cheese can be seen as raw products, which do not undergo pasteurization or other mild thermal treatment. Therefore, spoilage organisms are introduced into the SCC by secondary contamination. If the balance of the red smear microbiota is disturbed, molds and bacteria were shown to immediately grow (Bockelmann 1999). Finally, the short ripening period of SCC compared to other soft cheeses is too short to compete against spoilage organisms. Carminati et al. (1999) could show that a listerial inhibition on contaminated Taleggio cheese surface was only possible at the end of ripening (15 d). In semi-soft or hard cheeses contaminated with *L. monocytogenes*, the long ripening

period led to reduction but not elimination of the pathogen at the end of ripening (Liu et al. 2007; Ramsaran et al. 1998; Sulzer and Busse 1991).

Other SCC conditions beside the intrinsic cheese properties like the temperatures in the ripening chamber, especially above average room temperature, promote growth of *L. monocytogenes*. Since SCC ripens from outside to the inside (Belitz et al. 2008), the pH of the surface will rapidly increase to slightly acidic. Therefore, the surface conditions are in favor for the growth of *L. monocytogenes*.

In general, routes of spoilage in cheese produce were described as primary contaminations or secondary contaminations. The intrinsic food conditions like low pH and low water activity, which are found in SC, do not support growth and hamper outgrowth of *L. monocytogenes* (Codex Alimentarius Commission 2009; EU 2007a). *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates could survive for several days to months in different acidic cheese varieties (Ferreira and Lund 1996; Hystead et al. 2013; Rogga et al. 2005; Villani et al. 1996). For other ingredient such as water, primary contamination will only occur if contamination source is traced back to water supply like in one outbreak case in British Columbia, Canada (McIntyre et al. 2015). The contamination via the culture cheese is a plausible source of contamination if a batch would show prevalence of *L. monocytogenes*. Secondary contamination by surfaces and during the manufacturing process is most likely to occur. Once the surface is contaminated, *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were able to grow during ripening and under chilled conditions when packaged (Farber and Peterkin 1991; Gill and Reichel 1989; Maisnier-Patin et al. 1992).

2. MOTIVATION

The prevalence of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in dairy production plants continues to be a health threat to the public. In fact, listeriosis outbreaks from dairy products were reported to show no decrease in frequency (Cartwright et al. 2013). Therefore, the motivation of this study was to investigate micro biocides, which act as antilisterial. Secondly, this study aimed to improve the industrial application of a selected micro biocide in an innovative way and to point out various aspects of potential tolerance developments.

While prevalence of L. monocytogenes cannot be eradicated during the food production process, the level of contamination can be controlled (Tompkin et al. 1999). The appropriate efficacy of micro biocides is mandatory for the control measures of L. monocytogenes. The susceptibility of a field isolate is often stated as MIC. MICs of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives are not well resolved for large field isolate collections of L. monocytogenes, except for BAC. As a result, MICs of different studies exhibit inconsistent efficacy due to modified experimental procedures and are often not comparable. It is known that the organic debris in the environment reduce the efficacy of disinfection compounds (EI-Kest and Marth 1988; Jo et al. 2018). The efficacy of the selected micro biocide nisin is, however, not reduced in broth medium. The peptide inhibits L. monocytogenes and is permitted in ripened or processed cheese (EU 2011a). Some cells might overcome the bacteriostatic action of nisin and change their gene expression. In return, those cells are protected against the antilisterial activity leading to reports of tolerance in few L. monocytogenes field isolates (Cotter et al. 2005a; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996). Some genes have been associated with nisin tolerance. For example, genes involved in the GAD system were reported to be associated with nisin tolerance (Begley et al. 2010; Collins et al. 2011). In order to improve the industrial application of nisin and lower its limitations, the hydrophobic peptide was electrostatically adsorbed to UFL2. In this way, the carrier material allows protection against the food matrix. However, the application of nisin in SCC has been studied to a lesser extent while their surfaces provide conditions that are in favor of the growth of *L. monocytogenes*.

2.1. Hypothesis and objectives

The following hypotheses and objectives were proposed and formulated based on the observations and data mentioned above:

- Environmental factors such as organic compounds in culture broth (4.1., see below) and pH (4.3.) influence efficacy of micro biocides, while certain micro biocides are correlated to specific antibiotic resistances in *L. monocytogenes* (4.1.).
 - a. Determining of MIC of *Listeria* spp. to disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives as well as antilisterial activity of Neusilinadsorbed nisin (UFL2-N) and free nisin in dependence of factors pH and time.
 - b. Defining nisin susceptible (NS) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates.
 - c. Correlating published antibiotic resistance pattern of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to high MIC of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives.

- (II) Listeria monocytogenes harboring DNA-sequence variances in gadD2 gene thrive on a genetic shift in the GadD2 protein in culture media supplemented with nisin (4.2.).
 - a. Identification of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates with DNA-sequence variances in *gadD2*.
 - b. Characterization of the phenotypic consequences of amino acid substitution in GadD2.
- (III) The sour curd cheese (SCC) harbor stable red smear microbiota and UFL2 N as well as free nisin act antilisterial on the surface of SCC (4.3.).
 - a. Enhancing the bioavailability of nisin by a slow release.
 - b. Evaluation of inhibition of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates *in vitro*, in autoclaved SCC and on the surface of SCC.

At first, a screening of the efficacy and susceptibility in culture broth of different micro biocides, disinfectant compounds, antimicrobial preservatives and nisin was carried out to circumvent growth of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (**4.1.**). Especially nisin was on focus in **4.2.** and **4.3**. Organic compounds in culture broth did not influence efficacy of UFL2-N and free nisin nor did they correlate to specific antibiotic resistances in *L. monocytogenes*. Other causes leading to nisin tolerance was studied in **4.2.**. Hence, investigating NS and NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in a screening, which was based on molecular analyses, helped to identify DNA-sequence variances in *gadD2* gene. Thus, controlling the occurrence of a NS *L. monocytogenes* field isolate by enhancing the bioavailability of nisin was part of **4.3.**. The antilisterial activity of UFL2-N as well as free nisin was shown on the surface of SCC. Parts of the results included in this doctoral thesis have been obtained at the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Berlin, Germany) or are based on published data (Noll et al. 2018; Szendy et al. 2019a). Published data of the susceptibility of 282 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to nisin (Szendy et al. 2019b) will be included into **4.1.** for reader's convenience.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides

3.1.1. Preparation of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives The disinfection compounds used in this study were benzalkonium chloride (≥95.0 % BAC) (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Germany), cetalkonium chloride (CKC) (Sigma-Aldrich), 30.0 mg ml⁻¹ hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (VWR International GmbH, Germany) and 152.0 mg ml⁻¹ free chlorine sodium hypochlorite solution (NaOCI) (Carl Roth Carl Roth GmbH + Co. KG, Germany). These disinfection compounds were stored at room temperature. The antimicrobial preservatives sodium nitrite (≥98.0 % NaNO₂) (Carl Roth) and free nisin (2.5 %) (Sigma Aldrich) were stored at room temperature as well. The EO component citral (95.0 to 98.0 %) (Carl Roth) was stored following manufacturer's instruction. Working solutions of 50.0 ml of each disinfectant compound, NaNO₂ and citral were prepared in BHI broth and consecutively diluted two-fold (Table 4). Working solutions of citral and NaOCI were prepared daily in BHI broth and citral was dispersed at room temperature to obtain a colloidal suspension. Finally, all working solutions were filter-sterilized through a 0.22 µm polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Carl Roth). As sterile filtration lowered the antimicrobial activity of CKC, its working solution was not sterile filtrated and was routinely plated on sheep blood agar (Mast Diagnostika DM 101, Germany) instead. The agar plate was incubated for 24 h at 37.0 °C and was inspected for absent of microbial growth. If microbial growth was absent, non-filtered CKC was used. In case of citral, the colloidal suspension was rigorously dispersed before filter-sterilization and before each subsequent dilution step. In preliminary experiments, sterile filtration of citral had no effect on antimicrobial activity.

Table	4 :	Disinfectant	compounds,	antimicrobial	preservatives,	and	their	applied
concer	ntra	tion in each v	vell of a 96-we	ell micro titer p	late.			

Biocido	Range of concentrations [mg ml ⁻¹]								
Biocide									
Disinfectant compounds									
BAC	0.0001	0.0003	0.0005	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.008	0.016	
CKC	0.0003	0.0005	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.008	0.016		
H_2O_2	0.005	0.010	0.020	0.039	0.078	0.156	0.313	0.625	
NaOCl (free chlorine)	0.125	0.25	0.5	1.0	2.0	4.0	8.0	16.0	
Antimicrobial preservatives									
Citral	0.56	1.11	2.23	4.45	8.90	17.8	35.6	71.2	
NaNO ₂	0.063	0.125	0.25	0.5	1.0	2.0	4.0	8.0	

Abbreviation: BAC benzalkonium chloride; CKC cetalkonium chloride; H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide; NaOCI sodium hypochlorite solution; NaNO₂ sodium nitrite.

A stock solution of free nisin (2.5 %) (Sigma Chemical, USA) in H-medium (for fastidious microorganisms) (Merlin Diagnostika, Germany; Troxler et al., 2000) containing 3.0 mg ml⁻¹ was freshly prepared before use at the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment. Finally, free nisin was diluted to 0.0, 0.005, 0.01, 0.015, 0.02, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1, 0.15, 0.2, 0.4 and 1.5 mg ml⁻¹ in H-medium, which is equivalent to 0.0, 0.0001, 0.0003, 0.0004, 0.0005, 0.001, 0.002, 0.003, 0.004, 0.005, 0.011 and 0.039 mg ml⁻¹ pure nisin (NisinZTM P 95.0 %) (Handary SA, Belgium).

3.1.2. Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth

251 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates have been collected from raw and pasteurized milk, meat, fish, food products, and human patients in Germany (**Table 5**). The first field isolate collection was used for efficacy testing. Molecular serotype of all field isolates were previously determined and field isolates were identified by biochemical and molecular methods (NoII et al. 2018). Similarly, 282 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates have been collected and serotyped for a second field isolate collection (**Table**

6). This second collection was used for nisin susceptibility testing. The percentage of overlapping field isolates between the collection used for nisin susceptibility testing and the collection used for micro biocide efficacy testing was 89.0 %. Additionally, 39 *Listeria* reference strains were included to the nisin susceptibility testing. *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates were selected according to serotypes most frequently associated with human listeriosis, i.e. IIa, IIb and IVb (Allerberger 2003).

Table 5: The origin of isolation and serotypes of 251 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates and 27 *Listeria* spp. reference strains (enlisted separately in **Table 7**) for efficacy testing of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives.

Origin of isolation	Acronym	lla	llb	llc	IVa	IVb	-	Total
Crustacean and mollusc	CM	2	-	-	-	1	-	3
Fish and fish products	F	18	5	4	-	14	1	42
Human	Н	6	5	3	-	8	-	22
Meat and meat products	М	20	14	18	2	18	-	72
Milk/cheese and other dairy products	MC	56	9	2	1	16	2	86
Other products	0	-	-	-	-	-	15	15
Vegetarian foods	V	2	3	1	-	4	1	11
Reference strains	RS	3	5	4	4	6	5	27
Total		107	41	32	7	67	24	278

Table 6: The origin of isolation and serotypes of 282 L. monocytogenes field isolates

and 39 Listeria spp. reference strains (enlisted separately in Table 7) for susceptibility

Origin of isolation	Acronym	lla	llb	llc	IVa	IVb	-	Total
Environmental	E	7	2	-	1	2	-	12
Fish and fish products	F	12	5	3	-	14	-	34
Human	Н	1	-	1	-	5	-	7
Meat and meat products	М	18	14	19	2	16	-	69
Milk/cheese and other dairy products	MC	99	11	2	1	21	-	134
Other products	0	2	1	1	-	7	5	16
Vegetarian foods	V	2	3	1	-	4	-	10
Reference strains	RS	6	5	4	5	12	7	39
Total		147	41	31	9	81	12	321

testing.

In addition, 27 reference strains from the genus *Listeria* were included for efficacy testing (**Table 7**).

Species	Molecular Serotype	Isolate collection ^a
L. innocua	-	ATCC33090 ^{b,c}
	-	ATCC33091 ^{b,c} ; NCTC10528 ^c
L. ivanovii	-	ATCC19119 ^{b,c}
		ATCC19111 ^c ; ATCC19113 ^{b,c} ;
L. monocytogenes	lla	CLIP74902 ^c ; DSM20600 ^{Tb,c} ;
		NCTC7973 ^{b,c} ; SLCC6190 ^c
		CLIP56878 ^{b,c} ; CLIP70676 ^{b,c} ;
	llb	DSM12464 ^{b,c} ; SLCC2540 ^{b,c} ;
		SLCC2755 ^{b,c}
	lle	ATCC19112 ^{b,c} ; CLIP70851 ^{b,c} ;
	ПС	CLIP70883 ^{b,c} ; SLCC2479 ^{b,c}
		ATCC19114 ^{b,c} ; ATCC19116 ^{b,c} ;
	IVa	NCTC5214 ^c ; SLCC2521 ^{b,c} ;
		SLCC4115 ^{b,c}
		ATCC13932 ^c ; ATCC19115 ^{b,c} ;
		ATCC19117 ^{b,c} ; ATCC19118 ^{b,c} ;
	N/b	ATCC13932 ^b ; NCTC10527 ^c ;
		SLCC3458 ^{b,c} ; SLCC3753 ^{b,c} ;
		SLCC6458°; SLCC6465°;
		SLCC9549°; SLCC9579°; SLCC9678°
L. seeligeri	-	ATCC35967 ^c ; SLCC3954 ^{b,c}
L. welsħmeri	-	ATCC35897 ^{b,c}

Table 7: Reference strains, serotypes and sources.

 ^a ATCC: American Type Culture Collection; CLIP: Listeria Collection of the Pasteur Institute; DSM: German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures; NCTC: National Collection of Type Cultures; SLCC: Special Listeria Culture Collection.
 ^b Reference strains used for efficacy testing of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives.

^c Reference strains used for free nisin susceptibility testing.

From the L. monocytogenes collection (Table 5), eighteen L. monocytogenes were

selected according to relevant serotypes and nisin susceptibility for further analysis

(Table 8).

Table 8: Selected L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=18), isolate collection, serotypes,

BfR No.	Isolate collection ^a	Serotype	MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	Analysis ^b
L32	-	llb	0.011	(1); (2)
L41	-	lla	0.0001	(1); (2); (3); (4)
L192	SLCC2540	llb	0.001	(1); (5)
L212	ATCC13932	IVb	0.039	(1)
L245	-	lla	>0.039	(1); (2); (3); (4)
L261	-	lla	>0.039	(1); (2); (3); (4); (5); (6)
L286	-	IVa	0.0001	(1); (7)
L308	-	IVb	0.011	(1); (2)
L330	DSM20600 ^T	lla	0.003	(1); (2); (3); (4)
L448	-	lla	0.003	(1); (2); (3); (4)
L451	-	IVb	0.039	(1); (2)
L493	-	llb	0.004	(1); (2)
L548	-	IVb	0.0003	(1); (7)
L1031	-	IVb	0.0001	(1); (2); (6); (7); (8); (9); (10)
L1079	-	lla	0.001	(1); (2); (3); (4)
L1080	-	lla	>0.039	(1); (7)

and MIC of free nisin in mg ml⁻¹.

 ^a ATCC: American Type Culture Collection; DSM: German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures; SLCC: Special Listeria Culture Collection.
 ^b Continuous numbering indicates analysis:

(1) Efficacy and susceptibility testing; (2) Growth curve; (3) WGS; (4) GAD assay; (5) FISH; (6) Growth curve at sub-inhibitory free nisin concentration; (7) *GadD2* sequencing; (8) Growth in autoclaved and non-autoclaved SCC; (9) QPCR; (10) Interaction with UFL2-N.

Listeria monocytogenes field isolates as well as *Listeria* spp. were maintained in brain heart infusion broth (BHI; Carl Roth). Fifteen percent glycerol (Carl Roth) was added to broth and cultures were stored at -80.0 °C until further use at University of Applied Sciences and Arts, Coburg. For subsequent cultivation in Coburg, *Listeria* spp. were routinely grown on BHI agar plate or on blood agar No. 2 (Carl Roth) supplemented with 7.0 % sheep blood (Oxoid GmbH, Germany) for 24 h at 30.0 °C. Thereafter, a single colony from an agar plate was picked and suspended in BHI broth and was incubated for 24 h at 30.0 °C under oxic conditions. The optical density (OD) at 690 nm of each bacterial overnight culture was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standard (VWR

International) in 2.0 ml fresh broth. This working suspension was stored on ice before using them for subsequent studies.

3.1.3. In vitro efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides to L. monocytogenes field isolates and Listeria spp.

At the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment, each Listeria spp. (Table 5 and **Table 7**) working suspension was diluted 1:100 in fresh BHI broth prior to efficacy testing. A total of 0.1 ml of the bacterial suspension (approximately log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹) and 0.1 ml of BHI broth containing the respective disinfectant compound or antimicrobial preservative in double concentration (Table 4) were applied to each well of a sterile 96-well micro titer plate (Greiner Bio-One GmbH, Germany). Subsequently, inoculated BHI broth in each well was thoroughly mixed and the microtiter plates were incubated for 24 h at 37.0 °C. After incubation and five seconds of shaking, the OD of each well was measured at a wavelength of 595.0 nm by a microplate reader (Mithras²) 2LB 943; Berthold Technologies GmbH & Co. KG, Germany). Each bacterial suspension without any biocide was incubated as positive control, whereas the negative controls contained no bacteria. Listeria monocytogenes ATCC13932 was used as an external control for efficacy testing. Bacterial growth was scored positive and negative when ΔOD_{595} was >0.1 and ΔOD_{595} <0.1, respectively. When growth fell out of specification that is $\Delta OD_{595} < 0.1$ within a dilution series or showed no growth at the beginning of a dilution series but with increasing concentration, determination of MICs was repeated for this field isolate.

The influence of BHI broth on disinfectant efficacy was evaluated in preliminary experiments. Disinfectant compounds were dissolved and diluted in 50.0 mmol l⁻¹ Tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethan buffer solution (TRIS, pH 7.2). A set of seven *L*.

monocytogenes field isolates were randomly selected (**Table 8**) and were inoculated in the same experimental set up as mentioned above.

In 2013 at the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment, one colony of L. monocytogenes field isolates as well as *Listeria* spp. reference strains (**Table 6** and Table 7) was picked from sheep blood agar (Mast Diagnostika) and bacteria were solubilized in 0.9 % (w/v) sodium chloride to adjust OD according to McFarland standard (3.1.2). Thereafter, bacterial cells were diluted in 1:50 liquid H-medium. In each well of a 96-well microtiter plate, a total of 0.05 ml of the bacterial suspension and 0.05 ml of H-medium containing nisin in double concentration were shaken for 5 s and incubated for 22-24 h at 37.0 °C. Subsequently, the microtiter plates were shaked for 5 s (Dynatech MRX microplate reader: Dynatech Laboratories, USA), and the OD of each well was measured at a wavelength of 690 nm. Bacterial growth was proven by an OD_{690nm}>0.1 whereas nisin sensitive *Listeria* spp. showed an OD_{690nm}<0.1, provided that the controls including the same Listeria spp. without nisin and H-medium with nisin but without bacteria revealed an $OD_{690nm} > 0.1$ and < 0.1, respectively. Lactococcus lactis ssp. cremoris DSM 20069 was used as an efficacy control for the nisin susceptibility testing. NNS was defined as \geq MIC₅₀ for a *L. monocytogenes* field isolate, whereas all others were classified as NS.

3.1.4. Growth curve of four NS and two NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates From the information of nisin susceptibility of 282 L. monocytogenes field isolates six field isolates of serotype IIa (**Table 9**) were of interest due to their nisin susceptibility.
Field MIC [mg ml⁻¹] Classification Source (Country), Year isolates Sewage, food production BfR L41 0.004 environment (Germany), 1986 Rabbit, DSM20600 (England) BfR L330 0.004 NS BfR L448 0.004 Smoked salmon (Germany), 2006 BfR L1079 0.004 Cheese (Germany), 2010 BfR L245 >0.039 Raw milk (Germany), 1994 NNS Raw milk (Germany), 1994 BfR L261 >0.039

Table 9: Nisin susceptible (NS) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) L. monocytogenesserotype IIa field isolates used for whole genome sequencing analyses.

The growth of these six L. monocytogenes field isolates was monitored in presence of 0.011 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin, which was found to be the MIC₅₀ value. Each working suspension was diluted 1:100 in fresh tryptic soy broth (TSB; Carl Roth). In preliminary experiments, BHI broth was also tested. However, *L. monocytogenes* field isolates had extended lag phase in BHI broth. Thus, some field isolates with and without free nisin did not meet the criteria to reach the stationary phase within 24 h. Free nisin (NisinZ[™] P 95.0 %) was prepared in a 25.0 ml stock solution of 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin in TSB. Either 0.1 ml of the bacterial suspension (approximately log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹) and 0.1 ml of TSB containing free nisin in double concentration to achieve a final concentration of 0.011 mg ml⁻¹ or 0.2 ml of the bacterial suspension was applied to each well of a sterile 96-well micro titer plate (Greiner Bio-One). The microtiter plate was sealed with Breathe-Easy[®] membrane (Carl Roth). OD was acquired at 595.0 nm every 20 min over a period of 24 h. The FLUOstar OPTIMA microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Germany) incubated the 96-well micro titer plate at 30.0 °C. Each L. monocytogenes field isolate was tested with and without free nisin in five replicates of two independently overnight cultures.

3.2. Molecular analysis on nisin tolerance

3.2.1. Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth

Listeria monocytogenes field isolates were harvested (**3.1.2.**) and suspended in BHI broth, in Luria and Bertani broth (LB) (Carl Roth) or in TSB depending on experimental design. Incubation was carried out as described in **3.1.2**.. *Escherichia coli* K-12 ER2738 and *Lactobacillus fermentum* were maintained in LB broth or in in standard nutrient broth I (SNBI) (Carl Roth). All cultures were stored as described in **3.1.2**.. For subsequent cultivation in Coburg, *E. coli* K-12 ER2738 was grown on LB agar plates and *L. fermentum* was grown on SNBI agar plates for 24 h at 37.0 °C. Thereafter, a single colony from an agar plate was picked and suspended in respective broth, which was incubated for 24 h at optimal growth temperature of each bacterial species. The working suspensions were prepared as described in **3.1.2**..

3.2.2. DNA preparation and whole genome sequencing

Isolation of genomic DNA (gDNA) was conducted according to manufacturer's procedures using the QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen, Germany). A total of 20.0 ng of gDNA of each *L. monocytogenes* field isolate was subjected to library preparation using the Illumina Nextera[®] XT DNA sample preparation kit (Illumina, Germany). According to manufacturer's instructions, gDNA of each *L. monocytogenes* field isolate was tagged, pooled and paired-end sequenced. Paired-end 300.0 bp sequencing of the DNA was performed using an Illumina MiSeq (Illumina), which resulted in more than two million reads per *L. monocytogenes* field isolate. *De novo* genome assemblies of the reads were conducted using the SPAdes algorithm of the PATRIC database (www.patricbrc.org; Wattam et al., 2014) and resulted to sequence coverage of 40- to 60-fold per consensus base for each of the six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. Initial genome annotation was performed with the automated NCBI Prokaryotic Genome

Annotation Pipeline (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/annotation_prok; Angiuoli et al., 2008).

3.2.3. Whole genome sequence data analysis

Whole genomic DNA sequences were analyzed using the DS Gene software package (v. 2.5; Accelrys GmbH, Germany). Based on a literature search the following genes were attributed to nisin resistance and their putative regulation sequences associated with nisin resistance were identified. Genes related to cell wall modifications: dltA, dltB, dltC and dltD (D-alanyl decoration of teichoic acid) (Abi Khattar et al., 2009; Kovács et al., 2006; Peschel et al., 1999), pbp (Imo2229; penicillin-binding protein) (Gravesen et al., 2001), and rmID (Imo1084; synthesis of dTDP-L-rhamnose) (Xuanyuan et al., 2010). Genes for cell membrane modifications: mprF (Imo1695; catalyzing lysine esterification of phosphatidylglycerol) (Thedieck et al., 2006). Genes coding for twocomponent systems (TCS) and TCS regulators: *liaSR* (Imo1021 and Imo1022; transcriptional regulatory proteins) (Collins et al., 2012; Fritsch et al., 2011), lisRK (involved into responses to environmental stresses) (Cotter et al., 2002), and virRS (Imo1741 and Imo1745; regulatory proteins for resistance to cationic peptides) (Mandin et al., 2005). Genes for ABC transporters or BceAB-like transporters: anrB (Imo2115; multidrug resistance transporter) (Collins et al., 2010a), Imo1746 (ABC transporter permease) and Imo1747 (ABC transporter binding protein) (Bergholz et al., 2013; Gebhard and Mascher, 2011), and telA (Imo1967; homologue of the tellurite resistance gene) (Bergholz et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2010b). In addition, nisin susceptibility was assigned to gadD1, gadD2, gadD3, gadT1 and gadT2 (Imo0447, Imo2363, Imo2434, Imo0448 and Imo2362; glutamate decarboxylase system) (Begley et al., 2010), arcA (Imo0043; arginine deiminase) (Kramer et al., 2006) and Imo0047 (lipoprotein) (Fritsch et al., 2011). Furthermore, the genes for alternative sigma factor sigB and sigL (general

MATERIALS AND METHODS

stress response) (Begley et al., 2006; Palmer et al., 2009) were analyzed. The nucleic acid sequences of the selected genes were retrieved from whole genome sequencing (WGS) data of the six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates and were aligned by Pustel and ClustalW to elucidate DSVs. Alignments with DS Gene (Accelrys Inc.) were carried out in cases of an amino acid sequence similarity of at least 75.0 %. Bacterial promoter and transcription factor binding sites were predicted within a 300.0 bp upstream region of the target genes using BPROM (Softberry Inc., USA; Solovyev and Salamov, 2011). Putative Shine-Dalgarno (SD) sequences were identified by visual inspection of purine rich sequence stretches according to the consensus sequence provided by Shine and Dalgarno (1974).

3.2.4. Phenotypic characterization of NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates via colorimetric GAD assay

Listeria monocytogenes field isolates were grown with and without 0.003 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin in either BHI broth, LB broth or TSB for 24 h at 37.0 °C. Overnight cultures (1.0 ml) of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates, *E. coli* K-12 ER2738 (positive in GAD assay) and *L. fermentum* (negative in GAD assay) were centrifuged at 18,516 x g and 4.0 °C for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was resuspended in 2.0 ml sterile ¼ ringer solution. Each bacterial suspension of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was adjusted to 6.0 McFarland standard. In preliminary experiments the GAD assay failed when lower McFarland standards were used. Subsequently, the tube was centrifuged at 7,012 x g for 5 min (4.0 °C). The cell pellet of *E. coli* K-12 ER2738 and *L. fermentum* was washed with 1.0 ml ¼ ringer solution. All cell pellets were consecutively resuspended in 0.1 ml GAD reagent (1.0 g l⁻¹ L-Glutamic acid [Merck]; 90.0 g sodium chloride [Carl Roth]; 3.0 ml TritonX 100 [Carl Roth]; 0.05 g bromocresol green [Carl Roth]), which was adjusted to PH 3.4 with 0.1

mol I⁻¹ sodium hydroxide. Bacterial suspensions in duplicates were mixed vigorously and were incubated at 37.0 °C for up to 4 h. In intervals of 10 min, the color of the GAD assay was visually inspected. The assay was interpreted as positive if the color of GAD reagent shifts from yellow to blue indicating a pH shift from <3.8 to >5.4 (Carl Roth), respectively.

3.2.5. Sequencing of 30 NS and 30 NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates

Thirty NS and 30 NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were randomly selected to broaden the DNA sequence variant (DSV) analyses of *gadD2* gene. Genomic DNA of field isolates was obtained from the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment. Primer sequences covering the C-terminus were obtained using Primer3web (v. 4.0.0; http://primer3.ut.ee/; Koressaar and Remm 2007; Untergasser et al. 2012) and validated through BlastN. The following primers and PCR reaction conditions were used (**Table 10**).

Primer	Sequence [5' – 3']	qPCR set up	Time
		ID: 95.0 °C	5 min
gadD2_f	GAGCCACATCATCGGTCAATAC	D: 95.0 °C	30 s
		A: 53.1 °C	30 s
		E: 72.0 °C	1 min
gadD2_r	TAATGTGTGAAGCCGTGGACG	FE: 72.0 °C	10 min
		40.0 cycles of D/A/E	

Table 10: Sequences of gadD2 primers and individual qPCR conditions.

Abbreviation: ID initial denaturation; D denaturation; A annealing; E elongation; FE final elongation.

PCR was performed in 25.0 µl reaction mixtures containing 2.0 µl of gDNA template, 300.0 nmol l⁻¹ of each primer (Sigma-Aldrich), 2.5 u/µl High Fidelity PCR Enzyme Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific GmbH, Germany), 1x High Fidelity PCR Buffer with MgCl₂ (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 0.2 mmol l⁻¹ each dNTP Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and

MATERIALS AND METHODS

diethyl dicarbonate treated water (Carl Roth). Amplicons were sequenced at Seqlab GmbH (Germany). Sequences were aligned and were screened for synonymous mutations (BioNumerics v. 7.6; Applied Maths NV., Belgium). Gene sequence of *gadD2* retrieved from the 60 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was deposited in the DDBJ/EMBL/GenBank databases under the accession numbers MF565691-MF565757.

Tree calculation was performed using Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean (UPGMA) absolute method for DNA sequences and with Poison correction for protein sequence (DS Gene v. 2.5; Accelrys Inc., USA).

3.2.6. Growth of NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates at sub-inhibitory free nisin concentration

The growth of the NS *L. monocytogenes* field isolate BfR L1031 and NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolate BfR L261 was monitored in presence and absence of subinhibitory free nisin concentration (0.004 mg ml⁻¹) over time in six independent replicates. Each working suspension was prepared and added to each well of a sterile 96-well micro titer plate as described in **3.1.4.**. Free nisin (NisinZ[™] P 95.0 %) was prepared in a 25.0 ml stock solution of 0.132 mg ml⁻¹. The working suspension of free nisin was prepared in pH adjusted (0.1 mol l⁻¹ hydrogen chloride [HCI]) sterile BHI broth (pH 7.0 and 5.5). The microtiter plates were centrifuged at 4,000 rpm, 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatants were discarded to minimize pH changes in the wells. Cell pellets were resuspended in 0.2 ml BHI broth with 0 or 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin or 0.2 ml BHI broth adjusted to pH 7.0 or 5.5. The microtiter plates were sealed with Breathe-Easy[®] membrane (Carl Roth) and were incubated at 37 °C. OD at 595.0 nm was measured daily for seven days using a FLUOstar OPTIMA microplate reader (BMG Labtech).

3.3. Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neusilin particles onto surface of sour curd cheese

3.3.1. Field isolates, reference strains and bacterial growth

Listeria monocytogenes field isolates were grown as described in **3.1.2**.. Escherichia coli ATCC 25922, Pseudomonas fluorescens and L. fermentum were maintained in LB or SNBI. All cultures were stored like in **3.1.2**.. For subsequent cultivation in Coburg, E. coli ATCC 25922 and L. fermentum were grown as described in **3.2.1**.. Pseudomonas fluorescens was grown on LB agar plates for 24 h at 30.0 °C. The working suspensions were prepared as mentioned in **3.1.2**..

3.3.2. Enumeration of L. monocytogenes and sampling procedure from non autoclaved SCC

Overnight cultures, working suspensions of *L. monocytogenes* or dilutions thereof were diluted ten-fold in either sterile ¼ ringer solution or sterile 1x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Ringer solution was used during SCC production and PBS during fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) procedure. Each 0.1 ml from the dilution series was plated in triplicate on BHI agar. The agar plates were incubated at 30.0 °C for 24 h. Subsequently, CFU ml⁻¹ were enumerated to determine initial *L. monocytogenes* contamination level or to prepare *L. monocytogenes* standards for non-cultivation based methods.

From the surface of a non-autoclaved SCC loaf, thin slices were cut off with a surface area of approximately 0.45 cm². 0.5 g SCC was transferred to 5.0 ml ¼ ringer solution or 1x PBS. Subsequent homogenization was done using FastPrep®-24 with speed at 4.0 m s⁻¹ for 30 s during each run (MP Biomedicals LLC., USA). The homogenate was ten-fold diluted in ¼ ringer solution or 1x PBS and 0.1 ml were plated on sheep blood agar (7.0 %) and on chromogenic *Listeria* agar (Oxoid) in triplicates. After incubation

at 30.0 °C for 24 h to 48 h, colonies with hemolytic activity or colonies with blue color and opaque halo were enumerated.

3.3.3. Preparation antimicrobial preservatives UFL2-N and free nisin

UFL2-N (Surflay Nanotec GmbH, Germany) and free nisin (NisinZ[™] P 95.0 %) were prepared in pH adjusted (0.1 mol I⁻¹ HCl) sterile BHI broth (pH 7.5, 7.0, 6.5, 6.0, 5.5, 5.0, and 4.5) or in sterile ¼ ringer solution. 25.0 ml stock solution of 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ UFL2-N or free nisin was daily prepared to omit release of nisin from UFL2 into broth or activity loss before start of the experiments. The nisin concentration in UFL2-N was calculated based on mass of nisin per mg UFL2 particle. Before susceptibility testing, UFL2-N stock solution was dispersed in ultrasonic bath (USR 30 H; Merck KGaA, Germany) at room temperature for 15 min. Routinely, 0.1 ml of the stock solution UFL2-N and free nisin was plated on BHI agar. The agar plate was incubated for 24 h at 30.0 °C and was inspected for absent of microbial growth.

3.3.4. Time- and pH-dependent in vitro nisin susceptibility testing of UFL2-N and free nisin

Inhibition of growth by UFL2-N and free nisin was tested on four NNS and two NS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates of serotypes IIa, IIb and IVb, which are associated with human listeriosis (**Table 8**). Each *L. monocytogenes* working suspension (**3.1.2.**) was diluted and added to the 96-well microtiter plate as described in **3.2.6.** Bacterial cells were resuspended in 0.2 ml pH-adjusted BHI broth containing 0.004, 0.013, 0.026, and 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ UFL2-N or free nisin. Microtiter plates were sealed with Breathe-Easy® membrane (Carl Roth) followed by incubation for seven days. At the University of Applied Sciences and Arts, Coburg, the OD of each well was measured daily at a wavelength of 595.0 nm after five seconds of shaking by FLUOstar OPTIMA microplate

reader (BMG Labtech). Controls were provided by incubating bacterial suspensions without supplementation of UFL2-N, free nisin, or UFL2. Cutoff value for bacterial growth was set to ΔOD_{595} >0.15, given that the controls including the same *L. monocytogenes* field isolate also revealed ΔOD_{595} >0.15. MICs were determined in six replicate measurements.

3.3.5. Growth of L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate in autoclaved SCC without time-lapsed nisin release

A commercial SCC loaf was homogenized in distilled water and was autoclaved at 121 °C for 10 min. Working suspension of *L. monocytogenes* field isolate BfR L1031 (**Table 8**) was adjusted to log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹ in sterile ¼ ringer solution and was added to 1.0 ml autoclaved SCC, which was prepared with and without 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin. After one, two and three days of incubation, ten-fold dilutions of *L. monocytogenes* were enumerated on BHI agar to determine the CFU ml⁻¹.

3.3.6. Production of SCC loaf, addition of UFL2-N and free nisin, and L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate on SCC surface

Sour curd, two-week ripened SCC ("culture cheese"), sodium chloride and sodium hydrogen carbonate were manually mixed in sterile beakers at room temperature according to a traditional Hessian recipe of SCC. Loaves of SCC were formed from portions of 25.0 g by hand and were placed on racks in small boxes, which contained commercial rice. SCC loaves produced under laboratory conditions were further amended with *L. monocytogenes*. Therefore, 0.5 ml of TRIS buffer solution containing UFL2-N or free nisin were applied onto the upper surface of each loaf with 0.004, 0.013, 0.026, and 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ (n=4). 0.5 ml sterile TRIS buffer solution was used as a substitute on loaves without addition of UFL2-N or free nisin (0.000 mg ml⁻¹). The

working suspension of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate was diluted in ¹/₄ ringer solution and 0.25 ml with approximately log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹ or approximately log 3.0 CFU ml⁻¹ was added onto the SCC topside surface. After contamination, SCC was ripened for two days, 98.0 % relative humidity and 30.0 °C.

3.3.7. pH measurement of SCC surface

Since SCC matures from outside to inside (Belitz et al. 2008), the surface pH was measured over time. Loaves of SCC were formed and ripened as described in **3.3.6.**. After 2, 6, 20, 24, 43, 48 and 72 h of ripening the upper surface of a loaf was cut off in thin slices and 0.5 g SCC as well as 0.5 g SC (0 h) was homogenized in 10.0 ml distilled water. After continuous stirring, the pH-value was determined.

3.3.8. Non-cultivation based detection of L. monocytogenes by qPCR

3.3.8.1. Extraction of gDNA

For DNA extraction, several protocols like the polyethylene glycol (PEG) and phenolchloroform based nucleic acid extraction as well as commercial kits like the KingFisher[™] Cell and Tissue DNA Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), the PowerFood Microbial DNA Kit (Mo Bio Laboratories, USA) and the PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (Mo Bio) were tested. Finally, the KingFisher[™] Cell and Tissue DNA Kit was used for preparation of the DNA standard and for DNA extraction from SCC samples (**3.3.2.**).

3.3.8.2. Quantitative PCR amplification (qPCR) of the *hlyA* gene

The *hlyA* gene, which encodes the *L. monocytogenes* specific virulence factor listeriolysin O, and the 16S rRNA gene from the gDNA was amplified in the thermal cycler CFX96 (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH, Germany). Published oligonucleotide primers were ordered from Sigma-Aldrich and their concentration was optimized (50.0

to 300.0 nmol l⁻¹) to achieve specific and efficient amplification (**Table 11**). Optimal conditions for target amplification was found when the single reaction had a concentration of 300.0 nmol l⁻¹ of each forward and reverse primer. Theoretical average melting temperature of primers was at 60.6 °C (Bio-Rad CFX Manager v. 3.0; Bio-Rad Laboratories). However, optimal annealing temperature was found at 58.7 °C. Quantitative PCR reaction was performed in 25.0 µl reaction mixture as outlined in **Table 12**. Subsequently, the *hlyA* and 16S rRNA gene was amplified followed by a melting curve analysis. As negative controls, diethyl dicarbonate treated water (Carl Roth) was included and standard curve in duplicates was generated as previously described for every qPCR run (Nogva et al. 2000). Briefly, standard curves were generated by plotting threshold cycle values (C_T-values) of serial ten-fold dilutions of *L. monocytogenes* DNA as a function of CFU ml⁻¹. The same DNA standard was used for all qPCR runs of SCC experiments (**3.3.6**.).

Table 11: Sequences of primers and individual qPCR conditions. The *hlyA* gene amplified specifically species *L. monocytogenes*. It is present with one copy per genome (Nogva et al. 2000) while Eub341 and Eub534 target the bacterial ribosomal 16S rRNA genes.

Primer	Sequence [5' – 3']	qPCR set up	Time	Reference
		ID: 95.0 °C	5 min	
LM_hlyA f	TGCAAGTCCTAAGACGCCA	D: 95.0 °C	20 s	
		A: 58.7 °C	20 s	Nogva et
		E: 72.0 °C	20 s	al. (2000)
LM_hlyA r	CTAA	40.0 cycles of		
	CTAA	D/Á/E		
		ID: 95.0 °C	8 min	
Eub341 f	CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG	D: 95.0 °C	30 s	
		A: 54.3 °C	30 s	Muyzer et
		E: 72.0 °C	30 s	al. (1993)
Eub534 r	ATTACCGCGGCTGCTGG	40.0 cycles of		
		D/A/E		

Abbreviation: ID initial denaturation; D denaturation; A annealing; E elongation.

Component	Volume per reaction [µl]
2x BioRad SYBR Green Supermix ^a	12.5
5.0 μmol I ⁻¹ forward primer ^b	1.5
5.0 µmol I ⁻¹ reverse primer	1.5
Nuclease-free water	7.5
Total volume	25.0
(with 2.0 µl DNA template or water)	25.0

Table 12: Components of qPCR reaction mix.

^a containing PCR buffer, MgCl₂ solution, SYBR green and Taq polymerase (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

^b concentration of stock solution.

The DNA stability was evaluated after freeze and thaw cycles in four successions. The same DNA standard was used to dilute DNA ten-fold in diethyl dicarbonate treated water. The dilution series of each freeze and thaw cycle was amplified by qPCR under the same conditions and a standard curve was plotted. Based on its slope, the efficiency of qPCR was calculated. For example, a 100.0 % efficiency is obtained when the slope equals to -3.322 (Kralik and Ricchi 2017).

The sensitivity of the qPCR method that is the limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantification (LOQ) was evaluated by measuring DNA standard curves repeatedly (n=10). The number of positive qPCR results for each dilution, e.g. 10/10, was expressed in percent e.g. 100.0 %. Hence, the LOD and LOQ were defined as the minimum number of cells that were detected in 95.0 % of the replicates (Kralik and Ricchi 2017).

The specificity of the *hlyA* primer set was tested on species within the genus *Listeria* and on unrelated bacteria. Therefore, *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (**Table 8**), strain *L. monocytogenes* SLCC2540 as well as strains *L. innocua* ATCC 33090, *Listeria ivanovii* ATCC19119, *L. seeligeri* SLCC3954, and *L. welshimeri* ATCC35897 were used. Unrelated bacteria were tested as well. Those were strain *E. coli* ATCC 25922, *L. fermentum* and *P. fluorescens*. Moreover, SC and SCC samples (**3.3.2.**) were examined for absence or presence of the target sequence. The extracted gDNA was

added to the qPCR reaction mix and the *hlyA* gene was amplified by qPCR. The *hlyA* primer set passed specificity test if only the species *L. monocytogenes* resulted in an amplification product. In summary, all *L. monocytogenes* field isolates passed specificity testing and mismatch targets were not amplified (**Table 13**).

Table 13: Specificity testing of LM_hlyA primers and their capability to amplify perfect match and mismatch targets from gDNA of phylogenetic related or unrelated bacteria.

Field isolate (n)	Isolate collection ^a	DNA amplification	Identities [%]	Accession No.
L. monocytogenes (10)				
BfR L32		+		
	SLCC2540	+	100.0	FR733645.1
BfR L261		+		
BTR L286		+		
		+		
BfR 1 /03		+		
BfR 548		+		
BfR L1031		+		
BfR L1080		+		
Listeria spp. (4) L. innocua	ATCC 33090	-		
L. ivanovii subsp. Ivanovii	ATCC 19119	-	57.9	LT906478.1
L. seeligeri	SLCC 3954	-	0.0	FN557490.1
L. welshimeri	ATCC 35897	-	0.0	AM263198.1
Other microorganisms (5)				
E. coli	ATCC 25922	-	0.0	CP009072.1
L. fermentum		-		
P. fluorescens		-		
SC microbiota		-		
SCC microbiota		-		

^a ATCC: American Type Culture Collection; SLCC: Special Listeria Culture Collection Abbreviation: + DNA was amplified by qPCR; - DNA was not amplified by qPCR.

In preliminary experiments, the effect of organic and inorganic substances from the food matrix as well as UFL2-N on qPCR efficiency was evaluated. Therefore, extracted

gDNA of a non-autoclaved SCC sample containing 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ UFL2-N and *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate below LOD was spiked with DNA standard (log 5.30, log 4.30 and log 3.30 CFU ml⁻¹). Different dilutions of the amended SCC sample (10:1, 1:10, 1:100 and 1:1,000) were tested. Subsequent qPCR was performed with four replicates.

3.1.1. Agarose gel electrophoresis

DNA extracts (**3.3.8.1**.) and PCR products (**3.2.5**.) were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. Therefore, gel were prepared with 1.0 % agarose (Carl Roth) and 1x Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer (TAE buffer; Bio-Rad Laboratories). One µI DNA sample or 1.0 µl of PCR product was thoroughly mixed with 1.0 µl loading dye nucleic acid sample buffer (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and 4.0 µl distilled water. Afterwards, the gel was transferred into gel electrophoresis chamber (Bio-Rad Laboratories) filled with 1x TAE buffer and gel slots were loaded with sample and 2.0 µl molecular weight marker (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Finally, electrophoresis was carried out for approximately 30 min at 100.0 V. After staining with ethidium bromide and destaining with distilled water for 10 min each, gel was documented with UV light by VWR GenoPlex system (VWR).

3.1.2. Non-cultivation based detection of L. monocytogenes by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)

The FISH method is based on oligonucleotide probes with tagged fluorophores to identify and locate specific bacteria in a microbiota without cultivation (Amann et al. 1990; DeLong et al. 1989). Overnight cultures were washed twice with sterile 1x PBS and were centrifuged for 5 min at 21,475 x g at room temperature. The bacterial suspension was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland in 1x PBS and was further diluted ten-fold if necessary. Samples were fixed in 0.6 ml of a mixture (1:1) of 1x PBS and 96.0 %

ethanol overnight at room temperature or stored at -20.0 °C. Afterwards, samples were washed with 1x PBS. Ten μ I of fixed cells were transferred onto microscopic slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific), which were air dried. To make the cell envelope more permeable for probes, cell pellets were subjected to 10.0 μ I of Iysozyme (Carl Roth) for 15 min at room temperature. The reaction was stopped by rinsing the microscopic slide with sterile distilled water. After air drying, samples were dehydrated in graded ethanol series (50.0, 80.0 and 96.0 %) for 3 min each. Subsequently, samples were air dried and specific probes (ELLA Biotech, Germany) targeting *L. monocytogenes* and the majority of bacteria were used alone or in combination for hybridization (**Table 14**).

Probe	Sequence [5' – 3']	Dye	Excitation/ emission [nm]	Sequence target
LIS.MONO	CGACCCTTTGTA CTATCCATTG	5´Cy5	646.0 / 664.0	L. monocytogenes
EUB338	GCTGCCTCCCGT AGGAGT	5′Cy3	549.0 / 562.0	Majority of bacteria (Amann et al. 1990)

The hybridization was performed by adding 10.0 µl of hybridization buffer (0.9 mol l⁻¹ sodium chloride [Carl Roth]; 20.0 mmol I⁻¹ TRIS-HCl buffer solution [pH 7.5; Carl Roth]; 0.01 % sodium dodecyl sulfate; and 15.0 % formamide [VWR International] for probe LIS.MONO and EUB338) to each well of microscopic slide. The hybridization buffer included the specific probes LIS.MONO and EUB338 with a final concentration of each 25.0 ng µl⁻¹. Incubation of microscopic slides in a 50.0 ml screw cap tube (Greiner Bio-One) was carried out in the dark at 52.0 °C for 3 h. After hybridization, microscopic slides were washed in the absence of light with 50.0 ml pre-warmed washing buffer (adjusted salt concentration of 0.3 mol I⁻¹ sodium chloride to e.g. 15.0 % formamide; 20.0 mmol **|**-1 TRIS-HCI buffer solution [pH 7.5]; and 5.0 mmol **|**-1

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid [EDTA, pH 8.0, Carl Roth]) at 54.0 °C for 20 min. Finally, microscopic slides were removed from the washing buffer, rinsed with distilled water and were allowed to air dry. In addition, 10.0 µl of 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Carl Roth) was placed onto each well and incubated in the dark for 15 min. DAPI stains DNA as well as RNA and it has its excitation and emission maxima at 358.0 and 461.0 nm, respectively. After DAPI staining, the microscopic slide was washed with distilled water and was allowed to air dry. Subsequently, samples were mounted with Roti®-Mount FluorCare (Carl Roth). Strain *L. monocytogenes* SLCC2540 was used when FISH was applied to BHI broth samples. During optimization of FISH, the procedure was modified at some steps of procedure, e.g. hybridization time (1, 1.5 and 3 h) and formamide concentration (10.0, 15.0, 20.0, 25.0, 30.0, and 35.0 %) resulting to the above stated conditions.

In preliminary experiments, the sensitivity and specificity of the probe LIS.MONO was evaluated. Working suspension of strain *L. monocytogenes* SLCC2540 was diluted ten-fold in 1x PBS (log 8.0, log 7.0, log 6.0, log 5.0, log 4.0, log 3.0, log 2.0 and log 1.0 CFU ml⁻¹) and was consecutively subjected to the FISH procedure. The specificity was tested on *L. ivanovii* ATCC19119 and *L. welshimeri* ATCC35897. For higher stringency the procedure was modified with varying formamide concentration (10.0, 15.0 and 20.0 %) in the hybridization buffer. Finally, 20.0 % formamide in the hybridization buffer was combined with either 0.3 mol l⁻¹ or 0.9 mol l⁻¹ sodium chloride in the washing buffer. However, these modifications could not resolve probe specificity issues and LIS.MONO hybridized to *L. ivanovii* ATCC19119 and *L. welshimeri* ATCC35897.

The FISH method was also applied to the SCC food matrix. Therefore, the SCC samples were proceeded as described in **3.3.2.** However, one ml of homogenized SCC sample was centrifuged for 5 min at 21,475 x g at room temperature. After the

washing step and resuspending cell pellets in the 1x PBS and 96.0 % ethanol mixture (1:1), the FISH method was carried out as described above.

3.1.3. Microscopic images of FISH

Samples hybridized with probes with Cy3 and Cy5 labels (**Table 14**) were examined using the inverse fluorescence microscope AxioObserver.Z1 (Carl Zeiss AG, Germany) equipped with filter sets for Cy3, Cy5 and DAPI. Images were obtained using an electron-multiplying charge-coupled camera (EMCCD) (Carl Zeiss) and were processed using ImageJ (v. 1.50b, National Institutes of Health, USA)

3.1.4. Microscopic images of UFL2-N and L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate

Overnight culture of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate was washed twice with sterile 1x PBS and centrifuged at 2,739 x g for 10 min at 4.0 °C. The supernatant was discarded and in 1x PBS bacterial suspension was adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standard. Samples were fixed in 0.6 ml of a mixture (1:1) of 1x PBS and 96.0 % ethanol overnight at room temperature. Afterwards, samples were centrifuged at 21,475 x g and 4.0 °C for 5 min. Cell pellets were resuspended in 0.6 ml 1x PBS. A UFL2-N dispersion adjusted to pH 5.0 with sodium acetate buffer solution (VWR International) was mixed with bacterial suspension to obtain a concentration of 0.005 mg ml⁻¹. 0.01 ml was spotted on a microscopic slide and was allowed to air dry. After lysing the cell envelope with lysozyme and dehydrating cells in graded ethanol series (**3.1.2.**), microscopic slide was air dried. Subsequently, *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate was stained by DAPI (**3.1.2.**). Images were recorded with EMCCD and were processed with Adobe Photoshop CS6.

3.2. Statistical analyses

In all cases, data sets were first evaluated for parametric or non-parametric distribution. Thereafter, adequate statistical measures like mean and standard deviation or median were applied to data. Statistical calculations were either performed in Origin 2017 (v. b9.4.1.354, Origin Lab Corporation, USA), R Studio (v. 3.3.3, R Core Team, Austria) or manually in Excel (v. 2013, Microsoft Office, USA).

3.2.1. Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides

Median values of MICs of each disinfectant compound and antimicrobial preservative were calculated for the category origin of isolation and serotype of respective *L. monocytogenes* field isolate. Categories were processed with Kruskal-Wallis test at a significance level of 95.0 %. To determine significant differences, categories were subjected to a two-tailed Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-Test with and without Bonferroni correction (p<0.05 and p<0.002, respectively). In addition, the non-linear correlation ratio coefficient (η ; Pearson 1911) between nisin susceptibility and serotype or nisin susceptibility and origin of isolation was calculated. In contrast to correlation, η covers linear and non-linear associations and if it reaches one, there is no dispersion within the respective origin of isolation or serotype. If η becomes zero, there is no functional dependence. Two-sided Student's t tests (α =0.05) were carried out of OD after 24, 48, 72, 96, 120, 144 and 168 h of incubation to test statistical significance of respective growth rates with and without nisin addition.

Field isolates from crustacean and mollusc, of serotype IVa (**Table 5**) and field isolates, which could not be serotyped (n=5), were omitted from statistical analysis because of low numbers. In addition, a two-tailed Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-Test (p< 0.05) was used to evaluate the presence or absence of significant differences between MIC of each disinfectant compound and antimicrobial preservative and their respective

antibiotic resistance pattern as characterized previously (Noll et al. 2018). The Kendall Rank Correlation Coefficient (T_b) was used to estimate their relationship. However, only 236 antibiotic resistance patterns from 251 of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were present. Susceptibility of field isolates to antibiotics were classified as susceptible (S), intermediate (I), and resistant (R) according to Noll et al. (2018).

3.2.2. Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neusilin particles onto surface of sour curd cheese

The bacterial growth expressed in CFU ml⁻¹ was log-transformed in qPCR data sets to test statistical significance by a two-tailed Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-Test at 95.0 % confident interval.

3.3. Contribution of other workers to this dissertation

Prof. Dr. Matthias Noll kindly provided information of antibiotic and nisin susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. Dr. Jens A. Hammerl analyzed the WGS data of six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates and helped with calculations constructing the phylogenetic tree based on *gadD2*. Dr. habil. Lars Dähne kindly provided UFL2-N and information about UFL2 zeta potential. Florian Westhäuser contributed in SCC experiments and within the scope of bachelor theses, Katharina Neudert and Nico Rössel were supportive during microscopy.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Study 1 – Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides

4.1.1. Disinfectant compounds

Reduced efficacy of QACs and H_2O_2 in BHI broth was not observed. Similar MICs of QACs and H_2O_2 were found in BHI broth and in 50.0 mmol I⁻¹ TRIS buffer solution. The TRIS buffer solution was used in preliminary experiments (data not shown). In contrast, lower MICs of 0.5 mg ml⁻¹ and consequently higher NaOCI efficacy was observed in TRIS buffer solution compared to MICs in BHI broth. The highest efficacy against *L. monocytogenes* in BHI broth was yielded by QACs (**Figure 6A** and **B**). *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates derived from milk/cheese and other dairy products had significant lower MICs of CKC compared to those derived from fish and fish products (p<0.002; **Figure 6B**). Interestingly, reference strains were significantly more susceptible to H_2O_2 than *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at 4.0 mg ml⁻¹, which were identical for almost all origins of isolation (**Figure 6D**).



Figure 6: MICs of disinfectant compounds as a function of the origin of isolation of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates and *Listeria* spp. reference strains. **A** Benzalkonium chloride (BAC), **B** cetalkonium chloride (CKC), **C** hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), **D** sodium hypochlorite (NaOCI). For acronyms of CM, F, H, M, MC, O, RS, V and respective collected field isolates within each origin of isolation see **Table 5**. Gray horizontal bars denote individual dilution range of disinfectant compounds. CM was excluded from statistical analysis (n=3). Rank sums sharing the same superscript are not significantly

different from each other (p<0.05). ** Significance after Bonferroni correction (p<0.002).

4.1.2. Antimicrobial preservatives

The nisin susceptibility of 282 L. monocytogenes field isolates and 39 Listeria reference strains was characterized (Table 6 and Table 7). On the other hand, MICs of free nisin were obtained from Szendy et al. (2019b). The majority of L. monocytogenes field isolates were already susceptible at 0.011 mg ml⁻¹ (MIC₅₀). Listeria monocytogenes field isolates were classified to NS (MIC<MIC₅₀) and NNS (MIC≥MIC₅₀). MIC₉₀ was at 0.039 mg ml⁻¹. Nine NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates were able to grow on 0.039 mg ml⁻¹ while seven NS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were very sensitive towards free nisin (<0.0001 mg ml⁻¹). According to the correlation ratio coefficient, nisin susceptibility of L. monocytogenes field isolates was associated to their origin of isolation (n=0.761). Listeria monocytogenes field isolates retrieved from milk/cheese and other dairy products were inhibited at significantly higher free nisin concentrations than field isolates from other origins of isolation (p<0.002). The suspension containing citral turned milky after thoroughly dispersing in BHI broth. Friedman et al. (2002) described this behavior of EO compounds in culture broth previously. Nevertheless, neither the efficacy of citral nor the efficacy of NaNO2 did seem to be affected by BHI broth. MICs of citral varied among the 251 L. monocytogenes field isolates and Listeria spp. reference strains. Depending on the origin of isolation, the majority of field isolates were inhibited at 8.9 to 17.8 mg ml⁻¹, respectively (**Figure 7A**). The efficacy control *L*. monocytogenes ATCC13932 was inhibited at a MIC of 8.9 mg ml⁻¹. Throughout efficacy testing, this strain was inhibited within two two-fold dilutions, 2.23 mg ml⁻¹ and 17.8 mg ml⁻¹ respectively.



Figure 7: MICs of antimicrobial preservatives as a function of the origin of isolation of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates and *Listeria* spp. reference strains. **A** Citral and **B** sodium nitrite (NaNO₂). For acronyms of CM, F, H, M, MC, O, RS, V and respective collected field isolates within each origin of isolation see **Table 5**. Gray horizontal bars denote individual dilution range of antimicrobial preservatives. CM was excluded from statistical analysis (n=3). Rank sums sharing the same superscript are not significantly different from each other (p<0.05). ** Significance after Bonferroni correction (p<0.002).

While MICs of NaNO₂ from meat and meat products were observed at 8.0 mg ml⁻¹, MICs of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates from human were significantly lower (p<0.002; **Figure 7B**). In addition, *L. monocytogenes* field isolates from humans had the lowest median (p<0.05). Compared to citral, efficacy testing with NaNO₂ led to a reproducible MIC of *L. monocytogenes* ATCC13932. Moreover, reference strains were significantly more susceptible to NaNO₂ than the field isolates (p<0.05).

RESULTS

Overall, no association between MICs and serotype was found for disinfectant compounds, citral and NaNO₂. In contrast, nisin susceptibility was associated to serotype (η =0.769). MICs of serotype IIa were significantly higher compared to IIb, IIc, and IVb (p<0.05) and the ratio of serotypes to MIC₅₀ and MIC₉₀ is shown in **Figure 8**.



Figure 8: Distribution of 282 nisin susceptible (NS) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates corresponding to their serotype and relative abundance, MIC₅₀ (**A**) and MIC₉₀ (**B**) respectively. Asterisk indicates significant difference between NS and NNS (p<0.05). Information of nisin susceptibility was provided by Prof. Dr. Matthias Noll and the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Szendy et al. 2019b).

Interestingly, a high abundance of serotype IIa in milk/cheese and other dairy products was found according to the high frequency of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. Hence, six field isolates of serotype IIa were selected (**Table 8**). Four NS and two NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. Both NNS *L. monocytogenes* had MICs of >0.039 mg ml⁻¹ and were isolated from raw milk. To investigate the bacteriostatic nature of nisin, growth curves of field isolates were analyzed in absence and presence of free nisin

(**Figure 9**). In absence of free nisin, the lag phase of NNS *L. monocytogenes* BfR L245 field isolate was shorter than the lag phase of NNS *L. monocytogenes* BfR L261 field isolate. However, when free nisin was added, the conditions changed in favor of field isolate BfR L261 since the lag phase was shorter compared to field isolate BfR L245. With addition of free nisin, only NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were able to grow into exponential phase after delayed lag phase (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9: Growth curves of nisin susceptible (NS) (\Box) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) (\triangle) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates with (blue) and without supplementation of 0.011 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin (black) in TSB (pH 7.3). Symbols are denoted in figure legend. Abbreviation: OD optical density. n=10

4.1.3. Correlation of micro biocides to respective antibiotic resistance of L. monocytogenes field isolates

The first choice to treat human listeriosis is a combination of β -lactam antibiotics and aminoglycosides (e.g. gentamicin) (Boisivon et al. 1990; Hof 2004; Temple and Nahata 2000). The MICs of 14 antibiotics from 259 L. monocytogenes field isolates were obtained from Noll et al. (2018). Comparison of antibiotic resistances to MICs of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives from the field isolate collection used for micro biocide efficacy testing (Table 5) revealed that NaOCI was significantly associated to gentamicin, tetracycline and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (p<0.05). Citral was significantly associated to gentamicin, meropenem, rifampicin, tetracycline and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (p<0.05; Table 8.2-1, Table 8.2-2 and Table 8.2-3). In Table 15, antibiotics and micro biocides were selected to have similar mode of action as well as bacterial resistance, which is based on modified bacterial cell components or other resistance mechanisms in these target regions (Nair et al. 2016; Walsh 2003). According to the Kendall rank correlation coefficient (Tb), NaOCI was highly correlated to gentamic (τ_b =0.92) and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (τ_b =0.80), which L. monocytogenes field isolates were resistant to. Similarly, correlation coefficient Tb for citral and gentamicin was 0.81. Citral and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole had a lower Tb of 0.58. Moreover, increasing MICs of NaOCI and citral were skewed to L. monocytogenes field isolates with multi-antibiotic resistances (Figure 10).

significa	^b Comp	a ERY: I	Signf.				Citral				Signf. ^b		NaOCI		DIOCIDE	Rincida
int at p<0.05, res	gecycline. arison between S	≣rythromycin; GE		1.11	2.23	4.45	8.90	17.80	35.60	71.20		2.0	4.0	8.0		
pectively.	S and R fi	EN: Gentar	ns	-> '	9	49 -	128 -	41 -	ω '		ns	48 -	168 -	16 -	s –	ERYa
	eld is	nicin		ı	-	-	-	ı	-	ı		Ν	-	-	꼬	
	solates;	; LIZ: L		<u>ح</u>	10	50	125	37	N			50	162	13 13	S	GE
	Ē	inez		1	1	1	۱ ۲	י ג	'	т ,		1		1	-	Na
	€mpt	olid;			·	-	4	4				·	~ 	4		
	/ cells	RAM:		<u>ب</u>	10	50	129	41	4	—		50	169	17	လ	
	con	Rifa		י ו	' '		' '	•	•	'		'	•	•	– Я	Z a
,	npari	mpic		,	4	12	32	7				10	41	4	S	
	son wa:	in; SXT	*	<u>د</u>	თ	38	96	32	N		ns	39	126	9	_	RAM
	s not	: Trim			<u>د</u>		<u>د</u>	N	N	<u> </u>		<u>د</u>	N	4	ᆔᆔ	
	possibl	ethopri		<u>ح</u>	10	48	125	37	Ν	ı		50	160	13	S	S
	e, n	m/su	*	ı	ı	ı	ı	·	·	•	*	ı	ı	•	-	XTa
	s an	ılfan		1	'	Ν	4	4	Ν	_		'	9	4	꼬	
	d * ir	netho		-	7	10	29	9	ı	·		21	с С	ı	လ	
	ndicat	xazole	*	ı	N	<u>3</u>	74	18	N	•	*	24	93	10	-	TETa
	e not	9; TE		ı	<u> </u>	9	26	1 4	N	<u> </u>		വ	41	7	찌	
	signi	T: Te		ı	-	ı	N	ı	ı	•		N	<u>ح</u>	ı	S	
	ficant a	tracycli		ı	СI	31	88	21	N	·		3 3	104	10	_	TGC ^a
	but	ne;		-	4	19	39	20	N	-		15	64	7	ת	

Table 15: Comparison of antibiotic resistances to MICs of NaOCI and citral. Number of L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=236)

Page | 71



Figure 10: MICs of micro biocides were compared to 130 *L. monocytogenes* field isolates with two or more antibiotic resistances. **A** Sodium hypochlorite solution (NaOCI) and **B** citral. Numbers indicate abundance. Grayscale represents sample size of field isolates. Information of antibiotic resistance was provided by NoII et al. (2018).

Although the skewness in **Figure 10** is apparent, *L. monocytogenes* field isolates combining high MICs of micro biocides and six to ten antibiotic resistances remained sensitive to other disinfection compounds, CKC and H₂O₂ respectively (**Table 16**). On the other hand, those field isolates showed tolerance to BAC, NaNO₂ and free nisin.

RESULTS

Table 16: MICs of micro biocides of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates with multiantibiotic resistances and resistance (R) to gentamicin (GEN) and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (SXT) (Noll et al. 2018). Highlighted columns are micro biocides correlating to GEN and SXT resistance.

No.	RfD No				MIC [mg	ml ⁻¹]		
of R	DIR NO.	BAC	CKC	H ₂ O ₂	NaOCI	Free nisin	citral	NaNO ₂
10	L1528	0.004	0.002	0.156	8.0	0.011	71,2	>8.0
9	L1886	0.008	0.004	0.156	8.0	-	35,6	>8.0
8	L737	0.008	0.002	0.156	8.0	0.011	35,6	>8.0
7	L642	0.002	0.002	0.156	8.0	0.011	17,8	>8.0
6	L100006	0.002	0.002	0.156	4.0	-	17.8	4.0

Abbreviation: BAC benzalkonium chloride; CKC cetalkonium chloride; H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide; NaOCI sodium hypochlorite; NaNO₂ sodium nitrite.

However, free nisin susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates neither showed skewness to multi-antibiotic resistances (**Table 8.2-4**) nor were NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates resistant to the antibiotic classes penicillin and carbapenem of the β -lactam antibiotics, which have their mode of action against cell wall (Kapoor et al. 2017). The information of antibiotic and nisin susceptibility of four NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were available. In fact, those field isolates were sensitive to first and third generation of penicillin benzylpenicillin, ampicillin and the carbapenem meropenem, respectively. Third generation cephalosporin ceftriaxone was not very efficient in inhibiting growth of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. All NNS field isolates remained sensitive to the glycopeptide antibiotic targeting the cell membrane (Kapoor et al. 2017). Regarding the susceptibility to gentamicin, the NNS field isolates remained sensitive to the antibiotic, which has its mode of action as an inhibitor of protein synthesis. The antibiotic resistance of two NNS *L. monocytogenes*

field isolates to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, which blocks the folic acid formation, is intriguing.

4.2. Study 2 – Molecular analyses on nisin tolerance

The whole genome of six *L. monocytogens* field isolates (**Figure 9** and **Table 9**) had been sequenced. The WGS data was analyzed for DNA sequence variants (DSVs) in genes putatively associated with nisin susceptibility and its gene regulation. The bioinformatical work was collaborated with the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Szendy et al. 2019b). Genes involved in cell wall modifications, BceAB-like ABC transporter, genes encoding for TCS and TCS regulators as well as alternative sigma factors showed no association with nisin susceptibility (**Table 8.2-5** and **Table 8.2-6**). Based on DNA and its derived protein sequence, both NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates differed from NS field isolates in the *gadD2* gene encoding for the GAD system (**Table 17**). The DSV in *gadD2* resulted in an amino acid substitution from aspartic acid (D) to asparagine (N) at the end of the GadD2 C-terminus (protein position 453).

To screen more NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates for this specific finding in the *gadD2* gene, randomly selected field isolates were analyzed by sequencing of the *gadD2*. The German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment contributed to the DNA extraction of the selected field isolates, which are deposited at the institute, and helped with calculating a phylogenetic tree based on *gadD2*.

et al. 2019b).							
Protein P	redicted function	RfR 41	L. monocytog	yenes field is	olates BfR I 1079	NNS L. monocytoger	nes field isolates
GadD1 C (463 aa) of	atalyze decarboxylation clutamate	+	n.d.	n.d.	+	n.d.	n.d.
			380: N→D	380: N→D	•		•
GadD2 C	atalyze decarboxylation	·	385: K→N	385: K→N	•		
(464 aa) o	glutamate	ı	ı	ı	•	453: D→N	453: D→N
		ı	454: T→N	ı	•		ı
				·	•		145: E→K
GadD3 C	atalyze decarboxylation		187: N→D	I	ı		187: N→D
(467 aa) o	glutamate	·	207: V→I	ı	•		207: V→I
		1	ı	353: L→I	ı	353: L→I	ı
	ntiporter in						
(484 aa) g	ecarboxylation of	+	n.d.	n.d.	+	n.d.	n.d.
		•	•		278: G→D	•	•
>		ı	ı	409: V→I	ı	409: V→I	ı
GadT2		•	•	·	•	416: V→I	•
(507 aa) ⁰		ı	·	419: V→I	419: V→I	•	·
ÿ	ulaillale	·	ı	438: M→T	438: M→T	•	ı
			•	441: I→M	441: I→M		•

Table 17: Comparison of the gad operon in NS and NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates (referred to BfR L41). The amino acid (aa)

. ŝ . -

Page | 75

RESULTS

RESULTS

The C-terminal end of *gadD2* displayed minor sequence variability and clustered on DNA sequence level and protein level according to their lineage affiliation (**Figure 11**). About 12.0 % (7/60) of the screened *L. monocytogenes* field isolates showed the specific DSV in *gadD2* and were all serotype IIa from a total of 22 serotype IIa NNS field isolates (red frame, **Figure 11A**). None of the NS field isolates showed the specific DSV in *gadD2*. After translation of the C-terminus region to amino acid level, NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates clustered in the same group as the NNS field isolates subjected to WGS (**Figure 11B**). From this group of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates 91.0 % were isolated from milk/cheese and other dairy products.

Moreover, the identified group shared the same C-terminus protein sequence ("HNTQQ") of GadD2 (**Figure 11B** and **Table 8.2-7**). Two more unique protein sequences were found. The protein sequence of "HDNQQ" was indicative for serotype IIb. On the other hand, the third sequence "HDTQQ" was shared mainly among serotypes IIa and serotype IVb. Thus, the C-terminus end may not be highly conserved allowing amino acid substitutions among different serotypes.



Figure 11: Clustering the *gadD2* sequences of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates based on DNA sequence level (**A**) and protein level (**B**) using UPGMA clustering method. Italicized field isolates have been subjected to whole genome sequencing (WGS) (**Table 9**). Color scheme next to field isolate name represents individual serotype (see figure legend). Red frames highlight field isolates with specific DNA sequence variant (DSV) in *gadD2* resulting in amino acid substitution D₄₅₃N. Asterisks indicate the shared protein sequence of the C-terminus ("HNTQQ") based on GadD2 of *L. monocytogenes* ATCC BAA-679 (start at 381 aa; end at 464 aa; UniProt accession number: Q9EYW9). Calculated phylogenetic tree based on *gadD2* was adopted from the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Hammerl 2017; personal communication). Abbreviation: aa amino acid; D aspartic acid; N asparagine; NS nisin susceptible; NNS nisin non-susceptible.

To find a relationship between the D₄₅₃N substitution in GadD2 and nisin tolerance, the GAD system was studied in the presence of L-glutamic acid and the pH indicator bromocresol green. The choice of culture broth to promote growth of *L. monocytogenes*

during pre-cultivation influenced the time necessary to change the color of the GAD reagent (**Table 8.2-9**). Conclusively, only pre-cultivation in TSB resulted in reasonable results.

Secondly, the growth rate of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at sub-inhibitory free nisin concentration in combination with pH 7.0 and pH 5.5 was monitored over time (**Figure 12**). In the presence of free nisin, the NNS field isolate reached significantly faster the exponential growth phase compared to the NS field isolate after 24 hours at pH 7.0 (p<0.05). Subsequently, growth in the stationary phase did not significantly differ between NNS and NS field isolates (p<0.05). At pH 5.5, however, no significant difference was observed between NNS and NS field isolates in the initial and subsequent bacterial growth phases (p<0.05; **Figure 12B**).



Figure 12: Optical density (ΔOD_{595nm}) of nisin susceptible (NS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolate without *gadD2* DNA sequence variant (DSV) (**•**) and nisin non-susceptible (NNS) with *gadD2* DSV and substitution at D₄₅₃N (\Box) in BHI broth with 0 mg ml⁻¹ (blue) or sub-inhibitory concentration of free nisin (0.004 mg ml⁻¹, green) at pH 7.0 (**A**) and pH 5.5 (**B**). Each curve is the mean of six replicates. Error bars represent standard error of mean. Abbreviation: D aspartic acid; N asparagine

4.3. Study 3 – Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neusilin particles

onto surface of sour curd cheese

The prerequisites for employing free nisin and UFL2-N on the surface of SCC were set in studies **4.1.** and **4.2.** In summary, the food additive nisin was selected among all the micro biocides since its application in dairy industry is in compliance with legal requirements (EU 2011a). Proteinaceous compounds were not problematic for obtaining MICs. Furthermore, the subdivision of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates into NS and NNS laid down the criteria for the field isolate selection in study **4.3.**. The ideal *L. monocytogenes* field isolate should belong to NS. Additionally, the serotype of the field isolate should be clinically relevant. Study **4.2.** pointed out a potential tolerance development. The NS and serotype IVb field isolates did not show association of *gadD2* with nisin susceptibility based on WGS data. Consequently, a tolerance development of the selected field isolate and worst case scenario is unlikely to occur during the experiments in **4.3.**.

For the successful release of electrostatic adsorbed nisin from UFL2-N on the surface of non-autoclaved SCC, the surface pH was of paramount importance. The surface pH of SCC rapidly increased from pH 4.6 in SC to pH 6.3 after the addition of curing salts and thereafter steadily increased to pH 7.0 (**Figure 13**). The zeta potential of Neusilin UFL2 was measured by our collaboration partner. The positive zeta potential of UFL2 dropped with increasing pH until its value was equal to zero at the particle's isoelectric point, which was about pH 5.3 (**Figure 13**). Based on measurement of the surface pH, the isoelectric point of UFL2 would already be surpassed after one hour as illustrated in **Figure 13** and this would consequently reduce the nisin release.



Figure 13: Experimental measurements of pH-value on SCC surface during SCC production over time (**•**) and zeta potential of UFL2 as a function of pH (\circ). Filled area under line (-**•**-) indicates potential timespan at which zeta potential of UFL2 would change from positive to zero during SCC production. Dashed lines in in-lay graphic refer to 95.0 % confidence interval (n=3). Zeta potential of Neusilin UFL2 was measured by our collaboration partner (Szendy et al. 2019a). n=3

4.3.1. Antilisterial activity of electrostatic adsorbed nisin and free nisin in vitro
Nisin susceptibility was tested at various nisin concentrations of UFL2-N and free nisin
to six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at a pH range from 7.5 to 4.5 over time (**Table**18). The activity of UFL2-N and free nisin was affected by pH. Subsequently, MICs
were decreased at low pH. For instance, at pH 5.0 the MICs of UFL2-N and free nisin
decreased to 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ (**Table 18**). However, MICs of UFL2-N and free nisin were specific for each of the field isolates like *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate, which appeared to be more susceptible to both UFL2-N and free nisin compared to other field isolates. Independently from pH, antimicrobial activity of UFL2-N and free nisin decreased after seven days of incubation for some *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (**Table 18**).

Table 18: MIC of UFL2-N, free nisin or UFL2 for six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates atpH of 7.5 to 4.5 over seven days of incubation. n=6

pH-	BfR No.	MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]								
value		UFL2-N			F	UFL2				
		1d	4d	7d	1d	4d	7d	1d	4d	7d
7.5	L32	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.026	0.132	0.132	+	+	+
	L261	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.013	0.132	0.132	+	+	+
	L308	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.026	0.132	0.132	+	+	+
	L451	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.026	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L493	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L1031	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
7.0	L32	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.026	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L261	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L308	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L451	0.026	0.132	0.132	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L493	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L1031	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
6.5	L32	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L261	0.013	0.026	0.132	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L308	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L451	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L493	0.013	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L1031	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
6.0	L32	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L261	0.013	0.026	0.132	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L308	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L451	0.026	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L493	0.013	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.026	0.026	+	+	+
	L1031	0.013	0.026	0.026	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+

pH-	BfR No.	MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]								
value		UFL2-N			F	UFL2				
		1d	4d	7d	1d	4d	7d	1d	4d	7d
5.5	L32	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L261	0.013	0.013	0.026	0.004	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L308	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L451	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L493	0.013	0.013	0.013	0.004	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L1031	0.004	0.013	0.013	0.004	0.013	0.013	-	-	+
5.0	L32	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.013	0.013	-	-	-
	L261	0.000	0.013	0.013	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	+	+
	L308	0.000	0.013	0.013	0.004	0.004	0.004	-	-	-
	L451	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.004	-	-	-
	L493	0.004	0.013	0.013	0.004	0.013	0.013	+	+	+
	L1031	0.000	0.013	0.013	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	-	+
4.5	L32	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	-	-
	L261	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	-	+
	L308	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	+	-
	L451	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	-	-
	L493	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	-	-
	L1031	0.000	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.004	0.004	-	-	-

Table 18: continued.

Abbreviation: + bacterial growth; - no bacterial growth based on Δ optical density at 595 nm.

At pH \leq 5.5, the lag phase of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was extended without addition of UFL2-N or free nisin (**Figure 14**). The exponential phase was especially delayed in field isolates BfR L32 and BfR L1031. An increased lag phase at low pH was also observed when only the particle UFL2 was added to BHI broth (**Table 18**).



Figure 14: Growth of six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at pH 7.5 (**a**), 7.0 (**•**), 6.5 (**4**), 6.0 (**V**), 5.5 (**•**), 5.0 (**4**), and 4.5 (**b**) for seven days in BHI broth at 30.0 °C. Optical density was monitored daily at 595.0 nm (ΔOD_{595nm}). **A** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L32 field isolate, **B** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L261 field isolate, **C** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L308 field isolate, **D** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L451 field isolate, **E** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L493 field isolate, and **F** *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate. n=4

4.3.2. Antilisterial activity of electrostatic adsorbed nisin and free nisin in autoclaved SCC

Autoclaved SCC was incubated with log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹ *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate for three days, which is the usual ripening time of this SCC variety. When 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ of free nisin was added, the outgrowth of the field isolate was completely inhibited (**Table 8.2-10**). After the conventional ripening time, *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate was recovered with log 6.87 CFU ml⁻¹ when free nisin was absent. Autoclaving SCC was vital for this experiment as the SCC microbiota not only readily grew on BHI agar but also grew on more selective media like sheep blood agar. Growth of the SCC microbiota resulted in large, brownish colonies on sheep blood agar. Some morphological listerial-atypical colonies formed halos. On chromogenic *Listeria* agar, growth of the SCC microbiota was not inhibited as well. Conclusively, the chromogenic *Listeria* agar failed to selectively isolate *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate from non-autoclaved SCC. The ISO methodology (ISO 11290:1) is suggesting the usage of Half Fraser Broth for primary enrichment. In this situation, this was not an appropriate method to enumerate field isolate BfR L1031 from artificially contaminated SCC surface. Therefore, alternative cultivation-independent methods were of interest.

4.3.3. Detection of L. monocytogenes field isolates from non-autoclaved SCC Using the FISH method in BHI broth for detection of *L. monocytogenes*, LOD and LOQ were established at log 3.0 CFU ml⁻¹ and log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹, respectively. In nonautoclaved SCC, contamination with *L. monocytogenes* field isolates at the LOD and LOQ level could be detected when the FISH protocol was transferred to the food matrix. An example for detection of log 3.0 CFU ml⁻¹ *L. monocytogenes* field isolate on the SCC surface is shown in **Figure 15**. Similarly, the LOD and LOQ of qPCR were both at log 2.64 CFU ml⁻¹ and were comparable to the FISH method.



Figure 15: Probes LIS.MONO and EUB338 detected on contaminated SCC surface. Overlapping colors of LIS.MONO (red) and EUB338 (green) result into yellow color as positive for *L. monocytogenes* (arrows). Microbial microbiota in SCC is colored in green. During image processing, colors were added to the fluorescence signals. Scale bar indicates a length of 10.0 μ m.

Although the LOD and LOQ levels were practical in both cultivation-independent methods, one of the drawbacks of FISH was the method's specificity. The probe LIS.MONO was not specific for *L. monocytogenes*. However, the *hlyA* target region was very specific for *L. monocytogenes* (**Table 13**). Thus, no false positive results were expected. Quantitative PCR was superior to FISH when developing a stable DNA standard for ease of use. The obtained DNA standard assured steady C_T -values and

did not fall substantial below the 95.0 % confidence interval even over multiple thaw and freeze cycles (**Figure 16**).



Figure 16: Logarithmic CFU ml⁻¹ as a function of C_T-values of the listerial *hlyA* gene amplification by qPCR. Standard curves from same standard material over four thaw and freeze cycles of DNA (n=2). First thaw and freeze cycle (\bullet), second thaw and freeze cycle (\bullet), third thaw and freeze cycle (\blacktriangle), fourth thaw and freeze cycle (\bullet), and mean of standard curves (\Box). Linear fit of means (red line) and 95.0 % confidence interval (red band). Abbreviation: C_T threshold cycle; R² coefficient of determination; E qPCR efficiency.

The qPCR method provided more advantages compared to the FISH method or the cultivation-dependent method and removed shortcomings like laborious sample preparation as well as microscopy. Therefore, qPCR was used for detection of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate from non-autoclaved SCC surface.

4.3.4. Nisin formulations on non-autoclaved SCC surface contaminated with log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹ L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate

UFL2-N and free nisin at concentrations of 0.004, 0.013, 0.026 and 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ were added on top of non-autoclaved SCC as those MICs were effective *in vitro* between pH 7.5 and pH 4.5 (**4.3.1**.). The addition of increasing MICs to the surface did not result in any loss of texture, structure or color of non-autoclaved SCC compared to commercial SCC. Ripening for two days resulted in a solid, rubbery, yellow-colored surface with a white core similar to the control loaf. However, the white core was smaller in some loaves compared to commercial SCC. In addition, the presence of the microflora was not substantially reduced although *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate and UFL2-N or free nisin were present (**Table 19**). In cases of higher MICs of UFL2-N or free nisin, log-reductions of field isolate BfR L1031 also increased and medians were significantly different (p<0.05; **Table 19**). By addition of 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ UFL2-N or free nisin, field isolate BfR L1031 was below LOD.

Table 19: Median log-reduction of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate (*hlyA* gene) and microbiota (16S rRNA gene) after addition of UFL2-N or free nisin on top of SCC and after two days of ripening. CFU ml⁻¹ was derived from standard curve of the qPCR run. Logarithmic reduction is referred to samples without addition of UFL2-N or free nisin (n=4). Contamination on SCC surface was performed with log 5.12 CFU ml⁻¹.

Concentration [mg ml-1]	log-reduction in CFU ml ⁻¹						
Concentration [ing in]	hlyA	gene	16S rRNA gene				
	UFL2-N	Free nisin	UFL2-N	Free nisin			
0.004	0.28 ^a	0.71 ^a	0.04	no reduction			
0.013	1.25	1.33 ^a	0.08	no reduction			
0.026	1.39 ^a	1.07 ^a	no reduction	0.001			
0.132	n.d.	n.d.	0.17	0.040			

^a Significantly difference at p<0.05 within column.

Abbreviation: n.d. no amplification detected by qPCR or signal lay below LOD.

4.3.5. Interaction of UFL2-N with L. monocytogenes BfR L1031 field isolate The manufacturer of UFL2-N was able to show that the density of sprayed fluorescently labeled particles was homogeneous on the SCC (Szendy et al. 2019a). Within less than one hour, released nisin diffused into particle free areas. Microscopic observations of UFL2-N with *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate showed that planktonic cells formed agglomerates in approximation of UFL2-N (**Figure 17**).



Figure 17: Microscopic image of UFL2-N and *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate using different excitation and emission filters. Each image was acquired separately at the same position using phase contrast (**A**) and DAPI filter (**B**). Merged digitally colored image (**C**). DAPI (blue) stained DNA of field isolate BfR L1031. Arrows indicate the Neusilin particles. Scale bar indicates a length of 10.0 μm.

RESULTS

The ability to spray fluorescently labeled UFL2 particles and UFL2-N makes the launching of UFL2-N in the dairy production feasible. The nebulization allows development and implementation of novel control strategies in semi-solid food matrices. One strategy could be the installation of nebulization devices above the conveyor belts. A nebulizer would spray UFL2-N on the surfaces of SCC. In this study, the percentage reduction achieved on the SCC surface was 99.9%. However, the dairy producer should perform risk assessments in prerequisite programs before taking action. The producer could use the data of this study with subdivided *L. monocytogenes* field isolates into NS and NNS and their frequency in food industry as well as the association of DSV in *gadD2* to NNS to score risks for the production plant. Alternatively, UFL2-N could be intruded in foils used for foil-ripening of SCC with a positive net charge, which allows diffusion of nisin to the surface. In this case, the dairy producer could omit the labeling of the food additive.

The legal requirements for free nisin are already fullfilled (EU 2011a). The UFL2-N particles have good chances to comply with legal requirements as sodium and potassium aluminium silicates are already permitted in the food industry (EU 2011a). Nevertheless, the dairy producer should implement UFL2-N at appropriate concentrations. The usage is an optional counteractive measure and should be combined with a strict cleaning and sanitizing regime.

5.1. Study 1 – Efficacy and susceptibility testing of micro biocides

The choice and use of micro biocides in dairy production plant are not clearly specified in food safety management systems and inadequate application can lead to reduced efficacy. Hence, disinfection compounds and antimicrobial preservatives were tested with similar media compositions and incubation conditions for all micro biocides to enable a high comparability. The culture broth was employed to mimic organic compounds, which can be found in dairy produce or debris on soiled surfaces.

The results of the efficacy testing highlight the importance of thoroughly washing and physically cleaning soiled surfaces before disinfection routine to remove organic debris. The DNA damaging NaOCI (Dennis et al. 1979) was evaluated with reduced efficacy in BHI broth or more specifically its including organic compounds by own preliminary experiments and literature. The published MICs of 0.5 to 1.0 mg ml⁻¹ were reproducible in TRIS buffer solution but not in BHI broth even though NaOCI was prepared freshly before each use (Bloomfield and Miller 1989; El-Kest and Marth 1988b; Jacquet and Reynaud 1994b; Svoboda et al. 2016; Tuncan 1993). The daily preparation was important as previous results showed that protein compounds affect the availability of free chlorines (El-Kest and Marth 1988a; Jacquet and Reynaud 1994a; Jo et al. 2018). Jo et al. (2018) were able to demonstrate that beef extract and tryptone as well as peptone, which is a major component of BHI broth, depleted the free chlorine content. The formation of organohalides such as trihalomethane resulted from chemical reaction of organic compounds with chlorine (Gómez-López et al. 2017; Shen et al. 2012; Waters and Hung 2013). Thus, the chemical reaction between the free chlorine and the major components of BHI broth might have lowered the free chlorine content. Consequently, MICs of NaOCI increased to 4.0 mg ml⁻¹ (Figure 6D).

By removing organic debris in regular intervals chlorine-based disinfectants remain active against *L. monocytogenes*. In dairy industry, the deposition of milk and proteins are usually found on soiled surfaces. In presence of milk (2.0 % fat), reduced efficacy of NaOCI has been shown (Best et al. 1990). Similarly, the inhibitory concentration of H_2O_2 had to be about three folds higher in presence of sterilized raw milk than tested in this study to inhibit growth of *L. monocytogenes* after 24 hours (Dominguez et al. 1987b).

The MICs of the other micro biocides citral, free nisin, H₂O₂, NaNO₂ and QAC were not affected by the organic compounds in culture broth. Although MICs of H₂O₂ were low after 24 hours and were not affected by culture broth (Figure 6C), the efficacy of H₂O₂ strongly depended on the exposure time as found by Ali et al. (2006). In a study by Lou and Yousef (1997), the concentration of 1.0 mg ml⁻¹ was reported to be lethal after 10 hours incubation in TSB supplemented with yeast extract. For cell protection bacteria rely on its catalyzing function during H_2O_2 decomposition (Brul and Coote 1999) and all Listeria sensu strictu are positive for catalase (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). Therefore, this intrinsic tolerance mechanism reduces effectiveness of H₂O₂. Consequently, the concentration or the exposure time has to increase for similar results. Beyond the capability of catalase to decompose H₂O₂, the disinfection compound will inflict DNA damage, deactivate proteins as well as lipids (Ananthaswamy and Eisenstark 1977; Crow 1992; Imlay and Linn 1988). For a daily routine application in the food industry, Robbins et al. (2005) recommend a 3.0 % H₂O₂ solution (30.0 mg ml⁻¹) with an appropriate contact time of 10 minutes to accomplish a complete elimination of *L. monocytogenes*.

Occasionally, MICs of micro biocides deviate from the MICs reported in literature. Crucial for data comparison is the experimental procedure as well as the selected *L. monocytogenes* field isolates or reference strains. For example, the experimental

procedure of Lundén et al. (2003) differed from other studies. They used the microdilution broth method instead of plating and the MICs of NaOCI were in line with the results in this thesis. Since there was no description to remove the culture broth by washing of cell pellets before NaOCI treatment (Lundén et al. 2003), the culture broth has probably reduced effectiveness of NaOCI. In other studies, the effects of emulsifiers, which were used to prepare and dilute EO compounds, on MICs have been investigated. In absence of dimethylsulfoxide, the antimicrobial activity of cinnamon increased 50-fold (Hili et al. 1997). In contrast, the presence of Tween 80 improved the antimicrobial activity of tea tree oil (Remmal et al. 1993). Due to the lack of standardization in efficacy testing of EO compounds, MICs of citral were higher compared to reported MICs, which ranged from 0.1 to 1.0 mg ml⁻¹ depending on the citral suspension, field isolates and applied methods (Apolónio et al. 2014a; Kim et al. 1995; Onawunmi 1989). The mechanisms of tolerance to citral is still uncertain as the precise cellular targets of citral have not yet been identified. In E. coli, the cytoplasmic and the outer membrane were disrupted by citral resulting in loss of the membrane potential and ATP synthesis (Somolinos et al. 2010). So far it is known that the lipophilic character of EO compounds favors their incorporation into the cell membrane resulting to inhibition of membrane-bound enzymes (Cox et al. 2001).

However, other sensory properties like taste and after taste have to be considered. This has limited the application of antimicrobial preservatives e.g. EO and EO compounds to certain food products. In addition, information on toxicological effects have to be carefully evaluated. For example, the maximum amount of NaNO₂ that may be added during manufacturing in processed meat was set to 0.15 mg ml⁻¹ by the EU (2011). MICs of NaNO₂ exceeded this maximum amount for all origins of isolation (**Figure 7B**). Although the antimicrobial activity of NaNO₂ was found to depend on pH (Müller-Herbst et al. 2016) as acidification leads to reactive species that have more

antimicrobial activity (Cammack et al. 1999), this parameter was not adjusted in the efficacy testing to enable high comparability between all micro biocides. Moreover, the application range could even narrow down when the antimicrobial activities decrease during physical food processing methods like pasteurization. Duffy et al. (1994) demonstrated increased and variable lag times of *L. monocytogenes* in cooked food products with added NaNO₂.

To prevent undesired taste and maintain sensory properties while sustain antimicrobial activity, active food contact materials are a potential field of application for EO and EO compounds. Oliveira et al. (2017) tested cellulosic films containing α , β -citral on coalho cheese to guarantee a safer food. Despite the color enhancement of cheese after citral application, the food product's texture had no changes (Oliveira et al. 2017).

MICs of QACs and free nisin were similar compared to MICs reported in literature (Benkerroum and Sandine 1988; Ferreira and Lund 1996a; Iancu et al. 2012; Katla et al. 2003; Kovacevic et al. 2013; Mereghetti et al. 2000; Møretrø et al. 2017; Mota-Meira et al. 2000; Rasch and Knøchel 1998; Romanova et al. 2002; Svoboda et al. 2016; To et al. 2002 Ukuku and Shelef 1997). The results showed that MICs of QACs remained constant through a period of 40 years. CKC with a longer alkyl chain and higher hydrophobicity had lower MICs compared to BAC. This was not unexpected as the antimicrobial activity depends on the amount of carbon atoms in the alkyl chain (Paulus 2005). Therefore, the interaction with the cell surface is enhanced as described previously (Gilbert and Moore 2005). However, the low solubility of CKC in water diminish its potential in daily routine application. In case of free nisin, the majority of the tested *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was already susceptible to 0.011 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin. The abundance of NNS *L. monocytogenes* had significant higher abundance of NNS field isolates in this environment than in meat and meat products

(p<0.002). Therefore, the persistence of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in dairy industry cannot be excluded. In previous studies, tolerance to antimicrobial peptides were induced in defined food environments leading to the selection of a sub-population of field isolates with higher nisin tolerance (Gravesen et al. 2002; Harris et al. 1991; Ming and Daeschel 1993; Wu et al. 2017). No reports have been issued up-to-now on the frequency of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates in dairy produce nor on increased development of the NNS state (Davidson and Harrison 2002).

Higher nisin tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates need not to be in line with superior fitness compared to NS field isolates. Growth curve measurements in TSB indicated that NS and NNS field isolates had similar growth rates, but Δ OD indicated that NS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates could outgrow NNS field isolates if free nisin was not present (**Figure 9**). In contrast, NNS field isolates grew better within the first 48 hours compared to the NS field isolates if free nisin was present (**Figure 9**). In contrast, Gegley et al. 2010; Mantovani and Russell 2001). Apparently, the NNS field isolates contained some cells, which could tolerate free nisin and were able to grow in presence of the peptide. However, the growth rate might not provide a good framework for a relative index of fitness because it would not describe the complexity well enough.

Differences in the tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to micro biocides have been suggested to influence bacterial survival strategies in respective origin of isolation, which may offer organic islands to survive. The correlation ratio η between nisin susceptibility and origins of isolation was medium to high, which indicated that the origin of isolation might have influenced the degree of nisin tolerance. Regarding citral, H₂O₂, NaNO₂, NaOCI and QAC, origin of isolation of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was more important than serotype. In two studies, the BAC tolerance of *L.*

monocytogenes was encountered mainly among serotype IIa (Mereghetti et al. 2000; Mullapudi et al. 2008). Nisin susceptibility and serotype was associated by means of correlation ratio η . Previous studies have associated nisin susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates with serotype as well (Buncic et al. 2001; Katla et al. 2003). A high frequency of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates was found within serotype IIa, whose MICs were significant higher compared to other serotypes (p<0.008). Serotype IIa has probably undergone a phenotypic or genotypic alteration process as lineage II field isolates are generally described to be more prone to genetic recombination than lineage I field isolates (Orsi et al. 2011).

Since the dairy industry relies on usage of micro biocides for sanitation, there is concern that the common usage leads to tolerance in *L. monocytogenes*. Tolerance has been shown to develop when L. monocytogenes field isolates were exposed to sub-lethal concentrations (Harris et al. 1991; Ming and Daeschel 1993; Romanova et al. 2006; Rakic-Martinez et al. 2011; Kovacevic et al., 2013). Despite the fact that food business operators use micro biocides as recommended by the manufacturer, which are higher concentrations than the MIC, sub-lethal concentrations may arise for instance due to organic debris, poor accessibility or careless rinsing leaving water residues that contained micro biocides on surfaces (Møretrø et al. 2017). Tolerance of L. monocytogenes field isolates to a micro biocide and the possible co-selection process of field isolates to other micro biocides used in the dairy industry could lead to enhanced selection and growth advantage of those organisms. For example, a NNS L. monocytogenes field isolate had high MICs of BAC, citral and nisin. The three micro biocides have in common their mode of action against the cell membrane and/or cell wall (Bonev et al. 2004; Hyldgaard et al. 2012; Kordel et al. 2001; To et al. 2002). McDonnell and Russell (1999) described the co-selection process based on specific

or nonspecific cellular changes. After the alteration, the efficiency of related or unrelated micro biocides is reduced. The low MIC of NNS L. monocytogenes BfR L268 to citral was surprising as nisin tolerance is usually associated with an altered cell envelope (Somolinos et al. 2010). An altered cell envelope by citral was also described previously (Crandall and Montville 1998, Verheul et al. 1997). Thus, modifications in either the cell wall or the cell membrane resulted in reduced binding affinity for nisin. At the same time, this may have led to conditions in favor for the lipophilic citral, which could disrupt the cell membrane more readily. Moreover, the field isolate BfR L268 was resistant to daptomycin and meropenem, which have their mode of action against the cell membrane and the cell wall, respectively. A co-selection process to therapeutic antibiotics could result in a growth advantage for L. monocytogenes when specific or nonspecific cellular changes occur. Other mechanisms correspond to an intrinsic tolerance. This includes efflux pumps that affect the intracellular concentration of toxic and non-toxic compounds. The BAC tolerance was associated to efflux pump activity in several studies (Chen et al. 2010; Conficoni et al. 2016; Haubert et al. 2016; Meier et al. 2017).

In order to associate a relationship of MICs from micro biocides to certain antibiotics, the organic and inorganic compounds were divided into groups that share similar cellular targets in *L. monocytogenes* (Allen et al. 2016; Kapoor et al. 2017; Komora et al. 2017; Krawczyk-Balska and Markiewicz 2016; Nair et al. 2016; Walsh 2003). High correlation coefficients of NaOCI and citral were found with two different classes of antibiotics, gentamicin and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole respectively. The latter is part of a second choice antibiotic to treat human listeriosis. There are opinions that misusage of a micro biocide may select field isolates with tolerance to the respective compound and decreased susceptibility to therapeutic antibiotics. For example, BAC induced resistance in *L. monocytogenes* to both gentamicin and kanamycin when

exposed at sub-lethal concentrations (Romanova et al. 2006; Rakic-Martinez et al. 2011; Kovacevic et al. 2013). In worst case, traits remain stable as for the chlorinated aromatic compound triclosan (Christensen et al. 2011). The correlation of the micro biocides, NaOCI and citral, and antibiotics indicated presumably similar mode of interaction that is protein synthesis for gentamicin and nucleic acid synthesis for trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (Kapoor et al. 2017). Previously, free chlorine was shown to interact with nucleic acid due to the formation of chlorinated nucleotides (Dennis et al., 1979). Since the food industry relies on usage of NaOCI for sanitation, the correlation for NaOCI are plausible when thought of a co-selection process involving multiple mechanisms. If these correlations intensify due to overuse of NaOCI and result into higher MICs of therapeutic antibiotic, this trend is alarming for future human therapies. Allergic reactions to aminoglycosides and co-trimoxazole have been already reported with common concentrations during antibiotic treatment (Choquet-Kastylevsky et al. 2002; Sánchez-Borges et al. 2013; Spigarelli et al. 2002). Although the bacterial targets for monoterpenes were not yet further characterized, the association of MICs of citral to antibiotics may be based on the fact that citral has a multitargeted mode of action (Hyldgaard et al. 2012). However, several previous studies failed to induce tolerance to antibiotics by EO in a variety of Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens (Ali et al. 2005; Apolónio et al. 2014b; da Silva Luz et al. 2012; Hammer et al. 2012; Thomsen et al. 2013). In conclusion, correlations of citral to antibiotics have to be evaluated and these correlations are currently of minor importance since citral has not be approved as a food additive yet.

In general, resistances or multi resistances of *L. monocytogenes* to antibiotics did not increase over the last years according to Noll et al. (2018). However, resistances to β -lactam antibiotics were described to increase over in the past years (Morvan et al. 2010). Nisin tolerance of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates could not be associated to

antibiotics, which have their mode of action against the cell wall and/or membrane (e.g. β -lactams).

5.2. Study 2 – Molecular analyses on nisin tolerance

It is known that upon sequentially increase in free nisin concentration *L. monocytogenes* field isolates became more tolerant under laboratory conditions (Harris et al. 1991; Ming and Daeschel 1993).

In *L. monocytogenes*, the majority of coding genes and regulatory elements known to be related to nisin tolerance were not associated to the NNS state of L. monocytogenes field isolates except for gadD2 (Table 17, Table 8.2-5 and Table 8.2-6). A C-terminal amino acid substitution of aspartic acid to asparagine at position 453 (D₄₅₃N) restricted to NNS field isolates was identified in GadD2. The relevance of the GAD system under acidic conditions and in nisin tolerance of L. monocytogenes has previously been described. The explanation for this association was that a link between intracellular ATP level and an intact GAD system in *L. monocytogenes* was found (Begley et al. 2010; Bonnet et al. 2006). In addition, Begley et al. (2010) proposed that NNS field isolates may benefit from additional ATP formation via the y-aminobutyric acid shunt pathway, in which GadD2 is involved. The GAD system contributed also to the survival of the pathogen in acid foods while the glutamate enhanced the survival of the pathogen (Cotter et al. 2001). If NNS L. monocytogenes field isolates have an amino acid substitution, which results into higher enzyme activity of decarboxylating glutamate, and are more permeable for this substrate due to nisin, glutamate would promote survival by maintaining a constant ATP pool under acid stress. Hence, a faster neutralization of the GAD reagent by means of color change should be observed only in NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates. This hypothesis was tested in a GAD assay with a standardized inoculum for all field isolates. However, the hypothesis was disproved in three different culture broths (**Table 8.2-9**).

Sequences of DSVs in the *gadD2* gene clustered according to *L. monocytogenes* lineage affiliation on DNA and protein level (**Figure 11**). Seven NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates showed the specific DSV in *gadD2*, were serotype IIa and had reduced nisin susceptibility. Six of them were isolated from milk/cheese and other dairy products. On protein level, the NNS field isolates shared the same C-terminus sequence (**Table 8.2-7**).

The amino acid substitution potentially results in a less pH-dependent enzyme activity. According to the modeled protein structure of GadD2, the C-terminus would not close at pH 7.0 to block the active site for NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (**Figure 18**). Hence, it was proposed that by the D₄₅₃N substitution GadD2 is permanently active. The D₄₅₃N substitution is probably responsible for decreased nisin susceptibility by indirectly counteracting the nisin-induced pore formation of the cell membrane due to the γ-aminobutyric acid shunt pathway (Ruhr and Sahl 1985).



Figure 18: The modeled protein structure of GadD2 in the NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolate with substitution of amino acid D to N at position 453 in the hinge region of the C-terminus. This substitution probably prevents the pH-dependent blockage of the active site and the enzyme activity becomes less pH-dependent. The 3D structure was provided by Prof. Dr. Dirk Labudde from the University of Applied Sciences Mittweida (Szendy et al. 2019b). Abbreviation: CO₂ carbon dioxide; D aspartic acid; GABA γ -aminobutyric acid; Glu glutamate; N asparagine.

Contrary to NNS field isolates, which contain a permanent active GadD2, the enzyme's active site in NS field isolates should be blocked at pH 7.0. Therefore, NNS would have a growth advantage over NS in culture broth. This would in part explain the phenomenon observed at pH 7.0 during the pH-dependent growth curves (**Figure 12A**). The *gadD2* is usually expressed under extreme acidity (Cotter et al. 2001). At pH 5.5, the growth of the NNS field isolate did not significantly differ from the growth of the NS field isolate (p<0.05) supposing that in this scenario the GAD system is active in the NNS and the NS field isolate. Moreover, NNS would also have a growth advantage in raw milk, which is usually maintained at neutral pH, and, in fact, both NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates were isolated from raw milk (**Table 9**). Consequently, the NNS state may be a result of co-evolution with lactic acid bacteria and their anti-Gram-positive bacteriocins such as nisin. However, real food matrices

comprise many other factors resulting in unexpected phenotypic outcome. Collins et al. (2011) compared growth in inoculated cottage cheese between a $\Delta gadD1$ mutant and its wild type strain. Without addition of free nisin the mutant had hardly any growth advantage over the wild type. However, survival of the $\Delta gadD1$ mutant was enhanced upon addition of free nisin. On the contrary, the wild type strain was recovered with higher cell numbers when monosodium glutamate was added in combination with free nisin.

5.3. Study 3 – Application of electrostatic-adsorbed nisin to Neusilin particles onto surface of sour curd cheese

The occurrence of NNS *L. monocytogenes* field isolates may be controlled by a multiple hurdle strategy. However, several restrictions have limited practical application of free nisin; these are: (I) reduced biological activity and (II) low solubility at neutral pH. Free nisin shows a low bioavailability as it interacts with food components (Aasen et al. 2003; Bhatti et al. 2004; Chollet et al. 2008). Moreover, rapid proteolytic degradation processes occur (Sun et al. 2009). Although fat content was associated with binding free nisin in cheddar cheese (Benech et al. 2002; Benech et al. 2002b; Jung et al. 1992), this is in SCC unlikely to occur as the overall fat content in SCC is as low as 0.5% according to the manufacturer.

Thus, the highly porous Neusilin was employed as the carrier material for a controlled and slow release of adsorbed free nisin (**Figure 3**) to minimize nisin's interaction with food components and exposition to degradation. The electrostatic interaction between oppositely charged nisin and UFL2 led to a nisin release behavior tailored to a SC likely environment rather than to rely on diffusion rates (Hosseini et al., 2014). Different Neusilin types were previously applied as excipient and improved solubility of less water soluble drugs (Mallappa et al. 2015). Similarly, the poor solubility of free nisin at neutral pH was circumvented by UFL2.

In accordance with previous studies, decreasing antimicrobial activity of free nisin and UFL2-N were observed when pH was increased (Ferreira and Lund 1996; De Martinis et al. 1997). According to the manufacture, a pH \leq 5.0 enabled initial high release rates of nisin from UFL2-N as pH was below the isoelectric point and the neutral surface charge of UFL2. At a pH of 5.0 and 4.5, UFL2-N showed enhanced antilisterial activity (Table 18). The following antilisterial action of UFL2-N in BHI broth was hypothesized. If the pH was below the isoelectric point of UFL2 (pH <5.3), the positive zeta potential would result in attraction of bacteria, which were available in high numbers with negatively charged bacterial cell walls (Figure 17). The electrostatic interaction between UFL2-N and the bacterial cell wall would aid the bioavailability of nisin since the diffusion path is then considerably reduced for the attached cells. In addition, the antimicrobial activity of nisin is higher at low pH as discussed earlier. As a result, the bacterial growth would be impaired. If the pH was higher than the isoelectric point, the negative zeta potential would cause electrostatic repulsion between the negatively charged cell walls and UFL2-N while at the same time the release rate of nisin from UFL2-N would be reduced. In consequence, the electrostatic repulsion prevented contact between bacterial cells and nisin as discussed previously (da Silva Malheiros et al. 2010; Were et al. 2004). On the contrary, UFL2 did not show any antilisterial activity in tested pH range where the six *L. monocytogenes* field isolates readily grew. Moreover, antilisterial activity of free nisin and UFL2-N decreased isolate specific over time indicating that either the ratio of nisin to cells changed or the bacterial cells had the capability to become NNS. Growth of *L. monocytogenes* at pH 5.0 and 4.5 was also isolate specific (Figure 14), which is in line with previous findings of extended lag phase at pH 5.6 to 3.8 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Cheroutre-Vialette et al. 1998; Rogga et al. 2005).

After evaluating the adequacy of free nisin and UFL2-N in BHI broth as well as conducting a risk assessment of genes involved in potential nisin tolerance, both nisin formulations were tested on the surface of SCC. However, isolation of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates from non-autoclaved SCC by cell counting on agar plates remained difficult without pre-enrichment. Although the ISO 11290:2017 is the gold standard for detection and/or enumeration of *L. monocytogenes*, the enrichment step was omitted to avoid re-growth of injured cells. Loessner (1991) was also challenged with growth of other microorganisms on chromogenic *Listeria* agar. He solved this issue by phage typing of *L. monocytogenes* (Loessner 1991). On sheep blood agar, SCC microbiota were hemolytic active like for instance the red smear microbiota (Boucabeille et al. 1997). Therefore, cultivation independent methods were selected for detection of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates from non-autoclaved SCC.

A popular method for detection of bacteria is FISH and allows identification on species level (Amann et al. 1990). Another advantage is that bacteria are immediately visualized *in situ*. However, the lack of specificity, the substantial amount of auto fluorescence in SCC and the laborious sample preparation made the FISH method not an ideal method to be applied to SCC.

Therefore, the less laborious and more time efficient qPCR approach was chosen. The *hlyA* gene was selected for PCR-based detection of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate from non-autoclaved SCC. The *hlyA* gene is common in hemolytic *Listeria* species (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). *Listeria monocytogenes*, *L. ivanovii* and *L. seeligeri* show hemolytic capabilities (Orsi and Wiedmann 2016). On chromogenic *Listeria* agar, *L. monocytogenes* and *L. ivanovii* are not further differentiated according

to the manufacture (Oxoid). Although these two *Listeria* species share identities by their *hlyA* gene (**Table 13**), the PCR only amplified DNA of *L. monocytogenes* in preliminary experiments. Thus, specificity of the *hlyA* primers were confirmed. The SCC matrix was not inhibitory during PCR amplification and the LOD was log 2.64 CFU ml⁻¹. This is about one log CFU ml⁻¹ higher compared to earlier studies (Bassler et al. 1995; Nogva et al. 2000).

The addition of free nisin or UFL2-N up to 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ to non-autoclaved SCC did not alter quality criteria when compared to commercial SCC. In addition, the presence of the microflora (e.g. starter cultures) was not significantly reduced although L. monocytogenes and free nisin or UFL2-N were present (p>0.05; Table 19). Results obtained from non-autoclaved SCC with log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹ showed in practice significant log-reduction (p<0.05; **Table 19**) to virtually complete inhibition of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate at 0.132 mg ml⁻¹. More importantly, MICs did not exceed the limit of 12.5 mg kg⁻¹ set by the EU (EU 2011). In a study by Benech et al. (2002), 0.008 mg ml⁻¹ encapsulated nisin in liposomes inhibited outgrowth of L. innocua in contaminated cheddar cheese (log 5.0 to log 6.0 CFU ml⁻¹) when added before milk coagulation. The acid necessary to coagulate the milk will increase the antimicrobial activity of free nisin in cheddar cheese (Benech et al. 2002). Since SCC ripens from outside to the inside (Belitz et al. 2001), it was crucial to determine the surface pH. The data showed that the nisin release kinetics of UFL2-N were reduced after roughly one hour (Figure 13) and, therefore, lesser log reduction was expected. Increased salt contents did not alter nisin efficacy as shown earlier (Chollet et al. 2008; Harris et al. 1991; Pawar et al. 2000). However, De Martinis et al. (1997) and Yen et al. (1991) described a protective effect to L. monocytogenes after addition of similar salt concentrations, which is supported by own preliminary experiments (Figure 8.1-1).

The outcome of no complete inhibition of the field isolate BfR L1031 below 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ might have been a combination of increased pH and slower nisin release rate from UFL2-N due to pH and salt content as well as presence of proteolytic or nisin-degrading members of the SCC microbiota (Ramsaran et al. 1998; Sulzer and Busse 1991). Moreover, the SCC surface with a pH of greater than 6.5 (**Figure 13**) and the water availability during 30°C at 98.0% humidity provided ideal conditions for the outgrowth of the *L. monocytogenes* field isolate (Liu et al. 2007; Ramsaran et al. 1998; Sulzer and Busse 1991). More importantly, UFL2-N was superior at a concentration of 0.026 mg ml⁻¹ compared to free nisin. Growth of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate was still present at lower UFL2-N concentrations, but at 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ growth of the field isolate was inhibited (**Table 19**). In summary, an approximately three log reduction of field isolate BfR L1031 was achieved on the SCC surface.

6. CONCLUSION

Organic compounds in culture broth affected the efficacy of certain micro biocides. The reduced efficacy of NaOCI was likely caused by protein compounds. Thus, confirming the postulated Hypothesis I (2.1.). Further exclusive factors in the dairy supply chain that may affect the susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to micro biocides include environmental conditions and unique niches (**Figure 19**). Other factors and pathways not mentioned in **Figure 19** should be looked at in the future to resolve the complex interaction with each other in the dairy food chain.



Figure 19: Summary of exclusive factors that may affect susceptibility of *L. monocytogenes* field isolates to micro biocides studied in this thesis. The dairy food chain along the farm to fork process is synopsized on level 1 (blue). This highlights how environmental conditions, factors unique in niches and/or affected micro biocides (level 2, green) may lead to growth and/or survival by specific response in *L. monocytogenes* field isolates (level 3, red). For the purpose of clarity, factors influencing each other within each level were not shown.

Correlation between MICs of micro biocides and therapeutic antibiotics was assessed to address concerns about therapeutic failures. Correlation coefficients revealed that high MICs of NaOCI and citral were correlated to therapeutic antibiotics, which are frequently used to treat listeriosis. This supports the postulated Hypothesis I (2.1.). These correlations might have been caused by the experimental design (i.e., selection of L. monocytogenes field isolates, origin of isolation, cultivation conditions). The impact of the correlations, however, have yet to be evaluated. The single factor pH at level 2 (Figure 19) was already of major importance. The pH influenced the efficacy of UFL2-N as well as free nisin and the growth of L. monocytogenes field isolates (Table 18, Figure 14), which is in agreement with Hypothesis I (2.1.). The accumulative release of nisin from UFL2-N into the environment depended on pH and was investigated in detail by Szendy et al. (2019a). Moreover, the pH controls the protein structure of GadD2, which showed association with nisin susceptibility based on WGS data of NS and NNS. However, homology modeling of GadD2 in NNS predicted a protein structure that promoted a less pH-dependent GAD activity (Figure 18). In culture broth supplemented with free nisin, both NNS field isolates with amino acid substitution in their GadD2 had significant faster growth rates compared to NS (Figure **12**). This also indicated that the amino acid substitution maximize protection at neutral pH in combination with other nisin resistance mechanisms. Thus, confirming the postulated Hypothesis II (2.1.). Nevertheless, GAD assays based on a pH-sensitive colorimetric assay showed inconsistent results to further reinforce the Hypothesis II. Thus, one of the future tasks will be to conduct knockout mutant studies, proteome or transcriptome analyses that will hopefully help to understand nisin susceptibility in L. monocytogenes. Finally, the pH initiated the ripening of the SCC while the pH-shift on the SCC surface (Figure 13) could slow down the nisin release from UFL2-N. The total red smear microbiota was largely unaffected by the presence of UFL2-N or free nisin (**Table 19**), which is in agreement with Hypothesis III (**2.1**). Neither the addition of UFL2-N nor the addition of free nisin to the SCC surface did alter its texture and appearance like size, color in curd core or rind when compared to commercial SCC underscoring the Hypothesis III. Antilisterial property of UFL2-N and free nisin was investigated on the SCC surface. By addition of 0.132 mg ml⁻¹ UFL2-N or free nisin, *L. monocytogenes* was below limit of quantification (**Table 19**) indicating that UFL2-N enabled a slow release and antilisterial activity in SCC manufacturing. Thus, the results support Hypothesis III.

Future research should be directed towards the identification of induced co-selection processes as mentioned in **Figure 19** and the implementation of UFL2-N nebulization in dairy production.

7. REFERENCES

- Aarnisalo, K.; Salo, S.; Miettinen, H.; Suihko, M.-L.; Wirtanen, G.; Autio, T. et al. (2000):
 Bactericidal efficiencies of commercial disinfectants against *Listeria monocytogenes* on surfaces. Journal of Food Safety 20, p. 237–250.
- Aase, B.; Sundheim, G.; Langsrud, S.; Rørvik, L. M. (2000): Occurrence of and a possible mechanism for resistance to a quaternary ammonium compound in *Listeria monocytogenes*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 62 (1), p. 57–63.
- Aasen, I. M.; Markussen, S.; Møretrø, T.; Katla, T.; Axelsson, L.; Naterstad, K. (2003):
 Interactions of the bacteriocins sakacin P and nisin with food constituents.
 International Journal of Food Microbiology 87 (1), p. 35–43.
- Abi Khattar, Z.; Rejasse, A.; Destoumieux-Garzón, D.; Escoubas, J. M.; Sanchis, V.;
 Lereclus, D. et al. (2009): The *dlt* operon of *Bacillus cereus* is required for resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and for virulence in insects. Journal of Bacteriology 191 (22), p. 7063–7073.
- Ali, L.; Khambaty, F.; Diachenko, G. (2006): Investigating the suitability of the Calgary
 Biofilm Device for assessing the antimicrobial efficacy of new agents. Bioresource
 Technology 97 (15), p. 1887–1893.
- Ali, S. M.; Khan, A. A.; Ahmed, I.; Musaddiq, M.; Ahmed, K. S.; Polasa, H. et al. (2005): Antimicrobial activities of eugenol and cinnamaldehyde against the human gastric pathogen *Helicobacter pylori*. Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials 4, p. 20.
- Allen, K. J.; Wałecka-Zacharska, E.; Chen, J. C.; Katarzyna, K.-P.; Devlieghere, F.; van Meervenne, E.; Osek, J.; Wieczorek, K.; Bania, J. (2016): *Listeria*

monocytogenes - an examination of food chain factors potentially contributing to antimicrobial resistance. Food Microbiology 54, p. 178–189.

- Allerberger, F. (2003): *Listeria*: growth, phenotypic differentiation and molecular microbiology. FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology 3 (35), p. 183–189.
- Almeida, A. J.; Souto, E. (2007): Solid lipid nanoparticles as a drug delivery system for peptides and proteins. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 59 (6), p. 478–490.
- Amann, R. I.; Binder, B. J.; Olson, R. J.; Chisholm, S. W.; Devereux, R.; Stahl, D. A. (1990): Combination of 16S rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes with flow cytometry for analyzing mixed microbial populations. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 56 (6), p. 1919–1925.
- Ananthaswamy, H. N.; Eisenstark, A. (1977): Repair of hydrogen peroxide-induced single strand breaks in *Escherichia coli* deoxyribonucleic acid. Journal of Bacteriology 130, p. 187–191.
- AOAC, (2002): Official methods of analysis of AOAC International.
- APHA, (1971): Proceedings of the 1971 national conference on food protection. Government Printing Office APHA.
- Apolónio, J.; Faleiro, M. L.; Miguel, M. G.; Neto, L. (2014): No induction of antimicrobial resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Listeria monocytogenes* during continuous exposure to eugenol and citral. FEMS Microbiology Letters 354 (2), p. 92–101.
- Bae, D.; Mezal, E. H.; Smiley, R. D.; Cheng, C.-M.; Khan, A. A. (2014): The subspecies characterization and antimicrobial resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from domestic and imported food products from 2004 to 2011. Food Research International 64, p. 656–663.

- Bae, Y.; Nishiyama, N.; Fukushima, S.; Koyama, H.; Yasuhiro, M. (2005): Preparation and biological characterization of polymeric micelle drug carriers with intracellular pH-triggered drug release property: tumor permeability, controlled subcellular drug distribution, and enhanced in vivo antitumor efficacy. Bioconjugate Chemistry 16 (1), p. 122–130.
- Bassler, H. A.; Flood, S. J.; Livak, K. J.; Marmaro, J.; Knorr, R.; Batt, C. A. (1995): Use of a fluorogenic probe in a PCR-based assay for the detection of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61 (10), p. 3724–3728.
- Bassolé, I. H. N.; Juliani, H. R. (2012): Essential oils in combination and their antimicrobial properties. Molecules 17 (4), p. 1420–3049.
- Bauer, R.; Dicks, L.M.T. (2005): Mode of action of lipid II-targeting lantibiotics. International Journal of Food Microbiology 101 (2), p. 201–216.
- Begley, M.; Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2010): Glutamate decarboxylasemediated nisin resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76 (19), p. 6541–6546.
- Begley, M.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2006): Tolerance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to cell envelope-acting antimicrobial agents is dependent on *sigB*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72 (3), p. 2231–2234.
- Belitz, Hans-Dieter; Grosch, Werner; Schieberle, Peter (2008): Milch und Milchprodukte. In H.-D. Belitz (Ed.). Lehrbuch der Lebensmittelchemie. In: Belitz Hans-Dieter, Grosch Werner and Schieberle, Peter Lehrbuch der Lebensmittelchemie. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- Benech, R.-O.; Kheadr, E. E.; Lacroix, C.; Fliss, I. (2002a): Antibacterial activities of nisin Z encapsulated in liposomes or produced in situ by mixed culture during

cheddar cheese ripening. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (11), p. 5607– 5619.

- Benech, R.-O.; Kheadr, E. E.; Laridi, R.; Lacroix, C.; Fliss, I. (2002b): Inhibition of *Listeria innocua* in cheddar cheese by addition of nisin Z in liposomes or by *in situ* production in mixed culture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (8), p. 3683–3690.
- Benkerroum, N.; Sandine, W. E. (1988): Inhibitory action of nisin against *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Dairy Science 71 (12), p. 3237–3245.
- Benvenuti, F.; Gironi, F.; Lamberti, L. (2001): Supercritical deterpenation of lemon essential oil, experimental data and simulation of the semicontinuous extraction process. The Journal of Supercritical Fluids 20 (1), p. 29–44.
- Bergholz, T. M.; Tang, S.; Wiedmann, M.; Boor, K. J. (2013): Nisin resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* is increased by exposure to salt stress and is mediated via *liaR*.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79 (18), p. 5682–5688.
- Bertsch, D.; Rau, J.; Eugster, M. R.; Haug, M. C.; Lawson, P. A.; LaCroix, C.; Meile, L.
 (2013): *Listeria fleischmannii* sp. nov., isolated from cheese. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 63 (2), p. 526–532.
- Best, M.; Kennedy, M. E.; Coates, F. (1990): Efficacy of a variety of disinfectants against *Listeria* spp. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 56 (2), p. 377–380.
- Bhattarai, N.; Gunn, J.; Zhang, M. (2010): Chitosan-based hydrogels for controlled, localized drug delivery. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 62 (1), p. 83–99.
- Bhatti, M.; Veeramachaneni, A.; Shelef, L. A. (2004): Factors affecting the antilisterial effects of nisin in milk. International Journal of Food Microbiology 97 (2), p. 215–219.

- Bille, J.; Blanc, D. S.; Schmid, H.; Boubaker, K.; Baumgartner, A.; Siegrist, H. H. et al. (2006): Outbreak of human listeriosis associated with tomme cheese in northwest Switzerland, 2005. Eurosurveillance 11 (6), p. 11–12.
- Binkerd, E. F.; Kolari, O. E. (1975): History and use of nitrate and nitrite in curing of meat. Food and Cosmetics Toxicology 13, p. 655–661.
- Bloomfield, S. F.; Miller, E. A. (1989): A comparison of hypochlorite and phenolic disinfectants for disinfection of clean and soiled surfaces and blood spillages. Journal of Hospital Infection (13), p. 231–239.
- Bockelmann, W. (1999): Secondary cheese cultures. In: B. A. Law (Hg.): Technology of Cheesemaking. Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, p. 132–162.
- Bockelmann, W. (2003): The production of smear cheese. In: G. Smit (Hg.): Dairy processing: improving quality: Elsevier Science, p. 470–491.
- Bockelmann, W.; Hoppe-Seyler, T.; Krusch, U.; Hoffmann, W.; Heller, K. J. (1997): The microflora of tilsit cheese. Part 2. Development of a surface smear starter culture. Food / Nahrung 41 (4), p. 213–218.
- Boisivon, A.; Guiomar, C.; Carbon, C. (1990): *In vitro* bactericidal activity of amoxicillin, gentamicin, rifampicin, ciprofloxacin and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole alone or in combination against *Listeria monocytogenes*. In: European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases 9 (3), S. 206–209. DOI: 10.1007/BF01963839.
- Bonev, B. B.; Breukink, E.; Swiezewska, E.; Kruijff, B. de; Watts, A. (2004): Targeting extracellular pyrophosphates underpins the high selectivity of nisin. The FASEB Journal 18 (15), p. 1862–1869.

- Boucabeille, C.; Mengin-Lecreulx, D.; Henckes, G.; Simonet, J.-M.; van Heijenoort, J. (1997): Antibacterial and hemolytic activities of linenscin OC2, a hydrophobic substance produced by Brevibacterium linens OC2. FEMS Microbiology Letters 153 (2), p. 295–301.
- Bower, C. K.; McGuire, J.; Daeschel, M. A. (1995): Suppression of *Listeria monocytogenes* colonization following adsorption of nisin onto silica surfaces.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61 (3), p. 992–997.
- Breukink, E.; Wiedemann, I.; van Kraaij, C.; Kuipers, O. P.; Sahl, H.-G.; Kruijff, B. de (1999): Use of the cell wall precursor Lipid II by a pore-forming peptide antibiotic. Science 286 (5448), p. 2361–2364.
- Brötz, H.; Josten, M.; Wiedemann, I.; Schneider, U.; Götz, F.; Bierbaum, G.; Sahl, H.-G. (2002): Role of lipid-bound peptidoglycan precursors in the formation of pores by nisin, epidermin and other lantibiotics. Molecular Microbiology 30 (2), p. 317–327.
- Brul, S.; Coote, P. (1999): Preservative agents in foods. Mode of action and microbial resistance mechanisms. International Journal of Food Microbiology 50, p. 1–17.

BSI, (1991): Guide to choice of chemical disinfectants.

- Büla, C. J.; Bille, J.; Glauser, M. P. (1995): An Epidemic of Food-Borne Listeriosis in
 Western Switzerland. Description of 57 Cases Involving Adults. Clinical Infectious
 Diseases 20 (1), p. 66–72.
- Buncic, S.; Avery, S. M.; Rocourt, J.; Dimitrijevic, M. (2001): Can food-related environmental factors induce different behaviour in two key serovars, 4b and 1/2a, of *Listeria monocytogenes*? International Journal of Food Microbiology 65 (3), p. 201–212.

- Bundesgesetzblatt (2015): Käseverordnung in der Fassung der Bekanntmachung vom 14. April 1986 (BGBI. I S. 412), KäseV, vom Art. 18 V v. 7/5/2017 I 2272. In: Käseverordnung.
- Burt, S. (2004): Essential oils: their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods a review. International Journal of Food Microbiology 94 (3), p. 223–253.
- CAC, (2003): Recommended international code of practice general principles of food hygiene. Codex Alimentarius Commission. Rome: Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Programme 1, p. 1969.
- Cammack, R.; Joannou, C. L.; Cui, X.-Y.; Torres Martinez, C.; Maraj, S. R.; Hughes,
 M. N. (1999): Nitrite and nitrosyl compounds in food preservation. Biochimica et
 Biophysica Acta (BBA) Bioenergetics 1411 (2-3), p. 475–488.
- Carminati, D.; Neviani, E.; Ottogalli, G.; Giraffa, G. (1999): Use of surface-smear bacteria for inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* on the rind of smear cheese. Food Microbiology 16 (1), p. 29–36.
- Carrique-Mas, J. J.; Hökeberg, I.; Andersson, Y.; Arneborn, M.; Tham, W.; Danielsson-Tham, M.-L. et al. (2003): Febrile gastroenteritis after eating on-farm manufactured fresh cheese: an outbreak of listeriosis? Epidemiology and Infection 130 (1), p. 79– 86.
- Carruthers, B.-A. A.; Cross, C.-L.; Cutts, T.; Theriault, S. (2012): Comparative inactivation studies of *Listeria monocytogenes* at room and refrigeration temperatures. Applied Biosafety 17 (2), p. 64–69.
- Cartwright, E. J.; Jackson, K. A.; Johnson, S. D.; Graves, L. M.; Silk, B. J.; Mahon, B. E. (2013): Listeriosis outbreaks and associated food vehicles, United States, 1998-2008. Emerging Infectious Diseases 19 (1), p. 1–9.
- Cebrián, G.; Sagarzazu, N.; Pagán, R.; Condon, S.; Mañas, P. (2010): Development of stress resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* after exposure to sublethal environmental conditions. International Journal of Food Microbiology 140 (1), p. 26– 33.
- CEN, (2002): CEN/TC 216 Work programme CEN.
- Cerf, O.; Carpentier, B.; Sanders, P. (2010): Tests for determining in-use concentrations of antibiotics and disinfectants are based on entirely different concepts: "Resistance" has different meanings. International Journal of Food Microbiology 136 (3), p. 247–254.
- Chan, E.-S.; Wong, S.-L.; Lee, P.-P.; Lee, J.-S.; Ti, T. B.; Zhang, Z. et al. (2011): Effects of starch filler on the physical properties of lyophilized calcium–alginate beads and the viability of encapsulated cells. Carbohydrate Polymers 83 (1), p. 225– 232.
- Cheigh, C.-I.; Pyun, Y.-R. (2005): Nisin biosynthesis and its properties. Biotechnology Letters 27 (21), p. 1641–1648.
- Chen, B.-Y.; Pyla, R.; Kim, T.-J.; Silva, J. L.; Jung, Y.-S. (2010): Antibiotic resistance in *Listeria* species isolated from catfish fillets and processing environment. Letters in Applied Microbiology 50 (6), p. 626–632.
- Cheroutre-Vialette, M.; Lebert, I.; Hebraud, M.; Labadie, J.C.; Lebert, A. (1998): Effects of pH or aw stress on growth of *Listeria monocytogenes*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 42 (1-2), p. 71–77.
- Chollet, E.; Sebti, I.; Martial-Gros, A.; Degraeve, P. (2008): Nisin preliminary study as a potential preservative for sliced ripened cheese: NaCl, fat and enzymes influence

on nisin concentration and its antimicrobial activity. Food Control 19 (10), p. 982– 989.

- Choquet-Kastylevsky, G.; Vial, T.; Descotes, J. (2002): Allergic adverse reactions to sulfonamides. Current Allergy and Asthma Reports 2 (1), p. 16–25.
- Christensen, E. G.; Gram, L.; Kastbjerg, V. G. (2011): Sublethal triclosan exposure decreases susceptibility to gentamicin and other aminoglycosides in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 55 (9), p. 4064–4071.
- Codex Alimentarius Commission (2009): Guidelines on the application of general principles of food hygiene to the control of *Listeria monocytogenes* in foods.
- Collins, B.; Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2011): The impact of nisin on sensitive and resistant mutants of *Listeria monocytogenes* in cottage cheese. Journal of Applied Microbiology 110 (6), p. 1509–1514.
- Collins, B.; Curtis, N.; Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2010a): The ABC transporter *anrAB* contributes to the innate resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin, bacitracin, and various beta-lactam antibiotics. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 54 (10), p. 4416–4423.
- Collins, B.; Guinane, C. M.; Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2012): Assessing the contributions of the *liaS* histidine kinase to the innate resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin, cephalosporins, and disinfectants. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (8), p. 2923–2929.
- Collins, B.; Joyce, S.; Hill, C.; Cotter, P. D.; Ross, R. P. (2010b): *TelA* contributes to the innate resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin and other cell wall-acting antibiotics. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 54 (11), p. 4658–4663.

- Commission Regulation (No 1129/2011): Regulation (EC) No 1129/2011 amending Annex II to Regulation (EC) No 1333/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council by establishing a Union list of food additives Text with EEA relevance, vom 11/11/2011.
- Conficoni, D.; Losasso, C.; Cortini, E.; Di Cesare, A.; Cibin, V.; Giaccone, V. et al. (2016): Resistance to biocides in *Listeria monocytogenes* collected in meat-processing environments. Frontiers In Microbiology 7, 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01627.
- Córdoba, A. L.; Deladino, L.; Martino, M. (2013): Effect of starch filler on calciumalginate hydrogels loaded with yerba mate antioxidants. Carbohydrate Polymers 95 (1), p. 315–323.
- Cotter, P. D.; Emerson, N.; Gahan, C. G. M.; Hill, C. (1999): Identification and disruption of *lisRK*, a genetic locus encoding a two-component signal transduction system involved in stress tolerance and virulence in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Bacteriology 181 (21), p. 6840–6843.
- Cotter, P. D.; Gahan, C. G.; Hill, C. (2001): A glutamate decarboxylase system protects *Listeria monocytogenes* in gastric fluid. Molecular Microbiology 40 (2), p. 465–475.
- Cotter, P. D.; Guinane, C. M.; Hill, C. (2002): The LisRK signal transduction system determines the sensitivity of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin and cephalosporins. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 46 (9), p. 2784–2790.
- Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2005a): Bacteriocins: developing innate immunity for food. Nature Reviews Microbiology 3, 777-788.
- Cotter, P. D.; Ryan, S.; Gahan, C. G.M.; Hill, C. (2005b): Presence of *gadD1* glutamate decarboxylase in selected *Listeria monocytogenes* strains is associated with an

ability to grow at low pH. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71 (6), p. 2832– 2839.

- Cox, S. D.; Mann, C. M.; Markham, J. L.; Bell, H. C.; Gustafson, J. E.; Warmington, J. R.; Wyllie, S. G. (2001): The mode of antimicrobial action of the essential oil of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree oil). Journal of Applied Microbiology 88 (1), 170–75.
- Crandall, A. D.; Montville, T. J. (1998): Nisin resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes* ATCC 700302 is a complex phenotype. Applied and Environmental Microbiology (64), p. 231–237.
- Crim, S. M.; Griffin, P. M.; Tauxe, R.; Marder, E. P.; Gilliss, D.; Cronquist, A. B. et al. (2015): Preliminary incidence and trends of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food - foodborne diseases active surveillance network, 10 U.S. sites, 2006 - 2014. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 64 (18), p. 495–499.
- Crow, S. (1992): Peracetic acid sterilization: a timely development for a busy healthcare industry. Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology 13 (2), p. 111–113.
- Cui, W.; Li, X.; Zhu, X.; Yu, G.; Zhou, S.; Weng, J. (2006): Investigation of Drug Release and Matrix Degradation of Electrospun Poly(dl-lactide) Fibers with Paracetanol Inoculation. Biomacromolecules 7 (5), p. 1623–1629.
- D'Arcy, P. F.; Taylor, E. P. (1962): Quaternary ammonium compounds in medicinal chemistry. I. Journal of Pharmaceutics and Pharmacology 14, p. 129–146.
- da Silva Luz, I.; Gomes Neto, N. J.; Tavares, A. G.; Nunes, P. C.; Magnani, M.; de Souza, L. E. (2012): Evidence for lack of acquisition of tolerance in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium ATCC 14028 after exposure to subinhibitory amounts of *Origanum vulgare* L. essential oil and carvacrol. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (14), p. 5021–5024.

- da Silva Malheiros, P.; Daroit, D. J.; da Silveira, N. P.; Brandelli, A. (2010): Effect of nanovesicle-encapsulated nisin on growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in milk. Food Microbiology 27 (1), p. 175–178.
- Daeschel, M. A.; McGuire, J.; Al-Makhlafi, H. (1992): Antimicrobial activity of nisin adsorbed to hydrophilic and hydrophobic silicon surfaces. Journal of Food Protection 55 (9), p. 731–735.
- Davidson, P. M.; Harrison, M. A. (2002): Resistance and adaptation to food antimicrobials, sanitizers, and other process controls. Food Technology 56 (11), p. 69–78.
- Davies, E. A.; Falahee, M. B.; Adams, M. R. (1996): Involvement of the cell envelope of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the acquisition of nisin resistance. Journal of Applied Bacteriology (81), p. 139–146.
- Dawson, P. L.; Harmon, L.; Sotthibandhu, A.; Han, I. Y. (2005): Antimicrobial activity of nisin-adsorbed silica and corn starch powders. Food Microbiology 22 (1), p. 93– 99.
- De Martinis, E. C. P.; Crandall, A. D.; Mazzotta, A. S.; Montville, T. J. (1997): Influence of pH, salt, and temperature on nisin resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Food Protection 60 (4), p. 420–423.
- de Noordhout, C. M.; Devleesschauwer, B.; Angulo, F. J.; Verbeke, G.; Haagsma, J.; Kirk, M. et al. (2014): The global burden of listeriosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 14 (11), p. 1073–1082.
- de Vos, W. M.; Mulders, J. W.; Siezen, R. J.; Hugenholtz, J.; Kuipers, O. P. (1993): Properties of nisin Z and distribution of its gene, *nisZ*, in *Lactococcus lactis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59 (1), p. 213–218.

- Decher, G. (1997): Fuzzy nanoassemblies: toward layered polymeric multicomposites. Science 277 (5330), p. 1232–1237.
- DeLong, E.F.; Wickham, G.S.; Pace, N.R. (1989): Phylogenetic stains: ribosomal RNA
 based probes for the identification of single cells. Science 243 (4896), p. 1360–1363.
- Delves-Broughton, J.; Blackburn, P.; Evans, R. J.; Hugenholtz, J. (1996): Applications of the bacteriocin, nisin. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 69 (2), p. 193–202.
- den Bakker, H. C.; Manuel, C. S.; Fortes, E. D.; Wiedmann, M.; Nightingale, K. K. (2013): Genome sequencing identifies *Listeria fleischmannii* subsp. *coloradonensis* subsp. nov., isolated from a ranch. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 63 (9), p. 3257–3268.
- den Bakker, H. C.; Warchocki, S.; Wright, E. M.; Allred, A. F.; Ahlstrom, C.; Manuel, C.
 S. et al. (2014): *Listeria floridensis* sp. nov., *Listeria aquatica* sp. nov., *Listeria cornellensis* sp. nov., *Listeria riparia* sp. nov. and *Listeria grandensis* sp. nov., from agricultural and natural environments. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 64 (6), p. 1882–1889.
- Dennis, J.; Olivieri, V. P.; Krusé, C. W. (1979): The reaction of nucleotides with aqueous hypochlorous acid. Water Research 13, p. 357–362.
- Desai, A. M.; Soni, A. K.; Nannapaneni, R.; Schilling, W. M.; Silva, L. J. (2012): Reduction of *Listeria monocytogenes* in raw catfish fillets by essential oils and phenolic constituent carvacrol. Journal of Food Science 77 (9), p. 516-522.
- Dintner, S.; Staron, A.; Berchtold, E.; Petri, T.; Mascher, T.; Gebhard, S. (2011): Coevolution of ABC transporters and two-component regulatory systems as

resistance modules against antimicrobial peptides in Firmicutes Bacteria. Journal of Bacteriology 193 (15), p. 3851–3862.

- Disson, O.; Lecuit, M. (2012): Targeting of the central nervous system by *Listeria monocytogenes*. Virulence 3 (2), p. 213–221.
- Dominguez, L.; Garayazabal, J. F. F.; Ferri, E. R.; Vazquez, J. A.; Gomez-Lucia, E.; Ambrosio, C.; Suarez, G. (1987): Viability of *Listeria monocytogenes* in milk treated with hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Food Protection 50 (8), p. 636–639.
- Dominguez, L.; Garayazabal, J. F. F.; Ferri, E. R.; Vazquez, J. A.; Gomez-Lucia, E.; Ambrosio, C.; Suarez, G. (1987): Viability of *Listeria monocytogenes* in milk treated with hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Food Protection 50 (8), p. 636–639.
- Donath, E.; Sukhorukov, G. B.; Caruso, F.; Davis, S. A.; Möhwald, H. (1998): Novel hollow polymer shells by colloid-templated assembly of polyelectrolytes. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 37 (16), p. 2201–2205.

Doran, G. F. (1917): Art of curing meat. U.S. Patent. 1,212,614.

- Doumith, M.; Buchrieser, C.; Glaser, P.; Jacquet, C.; Martin, P. (2004): Differentiation of the major *Listeria monocytogenes* serovars by multiplex PCR. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 42 (8), p. 3819–3822.
- Dubois-Brissonnet, F.; Naïtali, M.; Mafu, A. A.; Briandet, R. (2011): Induction of fatty acid composition modifications and tolerance to biocides in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium by plant-derived terpenes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77 (3), p. 906–910.
- Duffy, L. L.; Vanderlinde, P. B.; Grau, F. H. (1994): Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* on vacuum-packed cooked meats: effects of pH, a_w, nitrite and ascorbate. International Journal of Food Microbiology 23, p. 377–390.

- EC, (2012): Commission Regulation (EU) No 231/2012 laying down specifications for food additives listed in Annexes II and III to Regulation (EC) No 1333/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council. Official Journal of the European Union 83, p. 1.
- EFSA, (2006): Opinion of the Scientific Panel on food Additives, flavourings, processing aids and materials in contact with food on a request from the Commission related to the use of nisin (E 234) as a food additive. The EFSA Journal 314, p. 1–16.
- EFSA, (2015): The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2013. The EFSA Journal 13 (1), p. 3991.
- Eliskases-Lechner, F.; Ginzinger, W. (1995): The bacterial flora of surface ripened cheese with special regard to coryneforms. Lait 75, p. 571–584.
- El-Kest, S. E.; Marth, E. H. (1988): Temperature, pH, and strain of pathogen as factors affecting inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* by chlorine. Journal of Food Protection 51 (8), p. 622–625.
- El-Kest, S. E.; Marth, E. H. (1988b): Inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* by chlorine. Journal of Food Protection 51 (7), p. 520–524.
- EU, (2004): Commission Regulation (EC) No 852/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the hygiene of foodstuffs.
- EU, (2007a): Commission Regulation (EC) No 1441/2007 of 5 December 2007 amending Regulation (EC) No 2073/2005 on microbiological criteria for foodstuffs.
- EU, (2007b): Commission Regulation (EC) No 1451/2007of 4 December 2007 on the second phase of the 10-year work programme referred to in Article 16(2) of Directive

98/8/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the placing of biocidal products on the market.

- EU, (2008a): Regulation (EC) No 1333/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on food additives.
- EU, (2008b): Regulation (EC) No 1334/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on flavourings and certain food ingredients with flavouring properties for use in and on foods and amending Council Regulation (EEC) No 1601/91, Regulations (EC) No 2232/96 and (EC) No 110/2008 and Directive 2000/13/EC.
- EU, (2009): European Commission. Assessment of different options to address risks from the use phase of biocides. COWI A/S (4).
- EU, (2011a): Commission Regulation (EU) No 1129/2011 of 11 November 2011 amending Annex II to Regulation (EC) No 1333/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council by establishing a union list of food additives.
- EU, (2011b): Commission Regulation No 16/2011 of 10 January 2011 laying down implementing measures for the rapid alert system for food and feed.
- EU, (2012a): Commission Implementing Regulation (EC) No 872/2012 adopting the list of flavouring substances provided for by Regulation (EC) No 2232/96 of the European Parliament and of the Council, introducing it in Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 1334/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 1565/2000 and Commission Decision 1999/217/EC.

- EU, (2012b): Regulation (EU) No 528/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 May 2012 concerning the making available on the market and use of biocidal products.
- FAO, (FAO/TCP/KEN/6611 Project): Training programme for small scale sairy sector and Dairy Training Institute - Naivasha. Cheese Making Milk - Processing Guide Series 5.
- FAO/WHO (2004): Risk assessment of *Listeria monocytogenes* in ready-to-eat foods: technical report: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Microbiological risk assessment series, 5.
- Farber, J. M.; Peterkin, P. I. (1991): *Listeria monocytogenes*, a food-borne pathogen.Microbiological Reviews 55 (3), p. 476–511.
- Fazlara, A.; Ekhtelat, M. (2012): The disinfectant effects of benzalkonium chloride on some important foodborne pathogens. American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences 12 (1), p. 23–29.
- FDA, (1973): Part 128b thermally processed low acid foods packaged in hermetically sealed containers. Title 21, Code of Federal Regulation.
- FDA, (1996): Secondary direct food additives permitted in food for human consumption. 21 CFR part 173. Federal Register, p. 117.
- FDA, (1998): Nisin preparation: affirmation of GRAS status as a direct human food ingredient. 21 CFR Part 184. Federal Register 53, p. 11247–11251.
- FDA, (2016): Code of Federal Regulations. Title 21 CFR Part 182. Federal Register 60.
- FDA, (2017a): Code of Federal Regulations. Title 21 CFR Part 184. Federal Register 3.

FDA, (2017b): HACCP principles and application guidelines.

- Ferguson, M. A.J. (1988): Cell-surface anchoring of proteins via glycosylphosphatidylinositol structures. Annual Review of Biochemistry 57, p. 285–320.
- Ferreira, M. A.S.S.; Lund, B. M. (1996): The effect of nisin on *Listeria monocytogenes* in culture medium and long-life cottage cheese. Letters in Applied Microbiology 22 (6), p. 433–438.
- Field, D.; Cotter, P. D.; Ross, R. P.; Hill, C. (2015): Bioengineering of the model lantibiotic nisin. Bioengineered 6 (4), p. 187–192.
- Fisher, K.; Phillips, A. C. (2006): The effect of lemon, orange and bergamot essential oils and their components on the survival of *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Escherichia coli* O157, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Bacillus cereus* and *Staphylococcus aureus in vitro* and in food systems. Journal of Applied Microbiology 101 (6), p. 1232–1240.
- Frazer, C. A.; Sharratt, M.; Hickman, R. J. (1962): The biological effects of food additives. I.-Nisin. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 13 (1), p. 32–42.
- Fretz, R.; Pichler, J.; Sagel, U.; Much, P.; Ruppitsch, W.; Pietzka, A. T. et al. (2010a):
 Update: Multinational listeriosis outbreak due to 'Quargel', a sour milk curd cheese,
 caused by two different *L. monocytogenes* serotype 1/2a strains, 2009-2010.
 Eurosurveillance 15 (16).
- Fretz, R.; Sagel, U.; Ruppitsch, W.; Pietzka, A. T.; Stöger, A.; Huhulescu, S. et al.
 (2010b): Listeriosis outbreak caused by acid curd cheese 'Quargel', Austria and Germany 2009. Eurosurveillance 15 (5), doi:10.2807/ese.15.05.19477-en.
- Friedman, M.; Henika, P. R.; Mandrell, R. E. (2002): Bactericidal activities of plant essential oils and some of their isolated constituents against *Campylobacter jejuni*,

Escherichia coli, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella enterica*. Journal of Food Protection 65 (10), p. 1545–1560.

- Fritsch, F.; Mauder, N.; Williams, T.; Weiser, J.; Oberle, M.; Beier, D. (2011): The cell envelope stress response mediated by the *lia*FSRLm three-component system of *Listeria monocytogenes* is controlled via the phosphatase activity of the bifunctional histidine kinase *lia*SLm. Microbiology 157 (2), p. 373–386.
- Gandhi, M.; Chikindas, M. L. (2007): Listeria: A foodborne pathogen that knows how to survive. International Journal of Food Microbiology 113 (1), p. 1–15.
- Gao, R.; Stock, A. M. (2009): Biological insights from structures of two-component proteins. Annual Review of Microbiology 63 (1), p. 133–154.
- Gebel, J.; Werner, H.-P.; Kirsch-Altena, A.; Bansemir, K.-P. (2001):
 Standardmethoden der DGHM zur Prüfung und Bewertung chemischer
 Desinfektionsverfahren. Wiesbaden: mhp Verlag.
- Gebhard, S.; Mascher, T. (2011): Antimicrobial peptide sensing and detoxification modules: unravelling the regulatory circuitry of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Molecular Microbiology 81, p. 581–587.
- Ghabraie, M.; Vu, K. D.; Huq, T.; Khan, A.; Lacroix, M. (2016): Antilisterial effects of antibacterial formulations containing essential oils, nisin, nitrite and organic acid salts in a sausage model. Journal of Food Science and Technology 53 (6), p. 2625– 2633.
- Gilbert, P.; Moore, L. E. (2005): Cationic antiseptics: diversity of action under a common epithet. Journal of Applied Microbiology 99 (4), p. 703–715.

- Gill, C. O.; Reichel, M. P. (1989): Growth of the cold-tolerant pathogens *Yersinia enterocolitica*, *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Listeria monocytogenes* on high-pH beef packaged under vacuum or carbon dioxide. Food Microbiology 6 (4), p. 223–230.
- Godreuil, S.; Galimand, M.; Gerbaud, G.; Jacquet, C.; Courvalin, P. (2003): Efflux pump *Lde* is associated with fluoroquinolone resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 47 (2), p. 704–708.
- Gómez-López, V. M.; Gil, M. I.; Allende, A. (2017): A novel electrochemical device as a disinfection system to maintain water quality during washing of ready to eat fresh produce. Food Control 71, p. 242–247.
- Gottschalk, S.; Bygebjerg-Hove, I.; Bonde, M.; Nielsen, P. K.; Nguyen, T. H.; Gravesen, A.; Kallipolitis, B. H. (2008): The two-component system *Ces*RK controls the transcriptional induction of cell envelope-related genes in *Listeria monocytogenes* in response to cell wall-acting antibiotics. Journal of Bacteriology 190, p. 4772–4776.
- Goulet, V.; Dacquet, C.; Martin, P.; Vaillant, V.; Laurent, E.; de Valk, H. (2006): Surveillance of human listeriosis in France, 2001-2003. Euro Surveillance 11 (6), p. 79–81.
- Goulet, V.; Jacquet, C.; Vaillant, V.; Rebière, I.; Mouret, E.; Lorente, C. et al. (1995): Listeriosis from consumption of raw-milk cheese. The Lancet 345 (8964), p. 1581– 1582.
- Gravesen, A.; Jydegaard Axelsen, A.-M.; Mendes da Silva, J.; Hansen, T. B.; Knøchel,
 S. (2002): Frequency of bacteriocin resistance development and associated fitness costs in *Listeria monocytogenes*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (2), p. 756–764.

- Gravesen, A.; Sørensen, K.; Aarestrup, F. M.; Knøchel, S. (2001): Spontaneous nisinresistant *Listeria monocytogenes* mutants with increased expression of a putative penicillin-binding protein and their sensitivity to various antibiotics. Microbial Drug Resistance 7 (2), p. 127–135.
- Gross, E.; Morell, J. L. (1971): Structure of nisin. Journal of the American Chemical Society 93 (18), p. 4634–4635.
- Gruskiene, R.; Krivorotova, T.; Sereikaite, J. (2017): Nisin-loaded pectin and nisin-loaded pectin-inulin particles: Comparison of their proteolytic stability with free nisin.
 LWT Food Science and Technology 82, p. 283–286.
- Guerin-Mechin, L.; Dubois-Brissonnet, F.; Heyd, B.; Leveau, J.Y. (2000): Quaternary ammonium compound stresses induce specific variations in fatty acid composition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 55 (1), p. 157–159.
- Haddadin, M. S.; Ibrahim, S. A.; Robinson, R. K. (1996): Preservation of raw milk by activation of the natural lactoperoxidase systems. Food Control 7 (3), p. 149–152.
- Hammami, R.; Zouhir, A.; Le Lay, C.; Ben Hamida, J.; Fliss, I. (2010): BACTIBASE second release: a database and tool platform for bacteriocin characterization. BMC Microbiology 10 (1), p. 22.
- Hammer, K. A.; Carson, C. F.; Riley, T. V. (2012): Effects of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree) essential oil and the major monoterpene component terpinen-4-ol on the development of single- and multistep antibiotic resistance and antimicrobial susceptibility. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 56 (2), p. 909–915.

- Hao, Y. Y.; Brackett, R. E.; Doyle, M. P. (1998a): Efficacy of plant extracts in inhibiting Aeromonas hydrophila and Listeria monocytogenes in refrigerated, cooked poultry.
 Food Microbiology 15 (4), p. 367–378.
- Hao, Y. Y.; Brackett, R. E.; Doyle, M. P. (1998b): Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Aeromonas hydrophila* by plant extracts in refrigerated cooked beef. Journal of Food Protection 61 (3), p. 307–312.
- Harris, L. J.; Fleming, H. P.; Klaenhammer, T. R. (1991): Sensitivity and resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* ATCC 19115, Scott A, and UAL500 to nisin. Journal of Food Protection 54 (11), p. 836–840.
- Haubert, L.; Mendonça, M.; Volz Lopes, G.; Cardoso, M.; da Silva, W. P. (2016): *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates from food and food environment harboring *tet*M and *erm*B resistance genes. Letters in Applied Microbiology 62 (1), p. 23–29.
- Hegstad, K.; Langsrud, S.; Lunestad, B. T.; Scheie, A. A.; Sunde, M.; Yazdankhah, S.
 P. (2010): Does the wide use of quaternary ammonium compounds enhance the selection and spread of antimicrobial resistance and thus threaten our health? Microbial Drug Resistance 16 (2), p. 91–104.
- Hili, P.; Evans, C. S.; Veness, R. G. (1997): Antimicrobial action of essential oils: the effect of dimethylsulphoxide on the activity of cinnamon oil. Letters in Applied Microbiology 24 (4), p. 269–275.
- Hoare, T. R.; Kohane, D. S. (2008): Hydrogels in drug delivery: progress and challenges. Polymer 49 (8), p. 1993–2007.
- Hof, Herbert (2004): An update on the medical management of listeriosis. In: Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy 5 (8), S. 1727–1735. DOI: 10.1517/14656566.5.8.1727.

- Hsu, S.-T. D.; Breukink, E.; Tischenko, E.; Lutters, M. A. G.; Kruijff, B. de; Kaptein, R. et al. (2004): The nisin–lipid II complex reveals a pyrophosphate cage that provides a blueprint for novel antibiotics. Nature Structural and Molecular Biology 11 (10), 963-967.
- Hwang, C.-A.; Sheen, S.; Juneja, V. K. (2009): Effect of salt, smoke compound, and temperature on the survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in salmon during simulated smoking processes. Journal of Food Science 74 (9), p. 522–529.
- Hyldgaard, M.; Mygind, T.; Meyer, R. L. (2012): Essential oils in food preservation: mode of action, synergies, and interactions with food matrix components. Frontiers in Microbiology 3 (12), p. 1–24.
- Hystead, E.; Diez-Gonzalez, F.; Schoenfuss, T. C. (2013): The effect of sodium reduction with and without potassium chloride on the survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in cheddar cheese. Journal of Dairy Science 96 (10), p. 6172–6185.
- Iancu, C.; Grainger, A.; Field, D.; Cotter, P. D.; Hill, C.; Ross, R. P. (2012): Comparison of the potency of the lipid II targeting antimicrobials nisin, lacticin 3147 and vancomycin against Gram-positive bacteria. Probiotics and Antimicrobial Proteins 4 (2), p. 108–115.
- Ibarguren, C.; Naranjo, P. M.; Stötzel, C.; Audisio, M. C.; Sham, E. L.; Farfán Torres,E. M.; Müller, F. A. (2014): Adsorption of nisin on raw montmorillonite. Applied ClayScience 90, p. 88–95.
- IDF, (1994): Recommendations for the hygienic manufacture of milk and milk based products. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 292 (41).
- Imlay, J. A.; Linn, S. (1988): DNA damage and oxygen radical toxicity. Science 240, p. 1302–1309.

- ISO 11290 (Part 1: Detection method and Part 2: Enumeration method), 2017: Microbiology of the food chain-horizontal method for the detection and enumeration of *Listeria monocytogenes* and of *Listeria* spp.
- ISO 22000:2018, 2018: Food safety management systems-requirements for any organization in the food chain.
- Ivanek, R.; Gröhn, Y. T.; Tauer, L. W.; Wiedmann, M. (2004): The cost and benefit of *Listeria monocytogenes* food safety measures. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 44 (7-8), p. 513–523.
- Jacquet, C.; Reynaud, A. (1994): Differences in the sensitivity to eight disinfectants of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains as related to their origin (short note). International Journal of Food Microbiology 22, p. 79–83.
- Janes, M. E.; Nannapaneni, R.; Proctor, A.; Johnson, M. G. (1998): Rice hull ash and silicic acid as adsorbents for concentration of bacteriocins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64 (11), p. 4403–4409.
- JECFA (2010): Evaluation of certain food additives: seventy-first report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on food additives: World Health Organization.
- JECFA, (1969): Specifications for the identity and purity of foods additives and their toxicological evaluation: Some antibiotics. Twelfth report of the joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series 430.
- JECFA, (1974): Toxicological evaluation of some food additives including anticaking agents, antimicrobials, antioxidants, emulsifiers and thickening agents. Seventeenth Report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series 539, p. 1.

- JECFA, (2013): Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. Seventyseventh report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series 983.
- Jo, H.-Y.; Tango, C. N.; Oh, D.-H. (2018): Influence of different organic materials on chlorine concentration and sanitization of slightly acidic electrolyzed water. LWT -Food Science and Technology 92, p. 187–194.
- Johnson, J.; Jinneman, K.; Stelma, G.; Smith, B. G.; Lye, D.; Messer, J. et al. (2004): Natural atypical *Listeria innocua* strains with *Listeria monocytogenes* pathogenicity island 1 genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70 (7), p. 4256–4266.
- Joosten, H. M.L.J.; Nuñez, M. (1995): Adsorption of nisin and enterocin 4 to polypropylene and glass surfaces and its prevention by Tween 80. Letters in Applied Microbiology 21 (6), p. 389–392.
- Jung, D.-S.; Bodyfelt, F. W.; Daeschel, M. A. (1992): Influence of fat and emulsifiers on the efficacy of nisin in inhibiting *Listeria monocytogenes* in fluid milk. Journal of Dairy Science 75 (2), p. 387–393.
- Kamau, D. N.; Doores, S.; Pruitt, K. M. (1990): Enhanced thermal destruction of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Staphylococcus aureus* by the lactoperoxidase system.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology 56 (9), p. 2711–2716.
- Kapoor, G.; Saigal, S.; Elongavan, A. (2017): Action and resistance mechanisms of antibiotics: a guide for clinicians. Journal of Anaesthesiology, Clinical Pharmacology 33 (3), p. 300–305.
- Katla, T.; Naterstad, K.; Vancanneyt, M.; Swings, J.; Axelsson, L. (2003): Differences in susceptibility of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains to sakacin P, sakacin A, pediocin PA-1, and nisin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (8), p. 4431–4437.

- Khandke, S. S.; Mayes, T. (1998): HACCP implementation: a practical guide to the implementation of the HACCP plan. Food Control 9 (2), p. 103–109.
- Kim, J.; Marshall, R.; Wei, C.-i. (1995): Antibacterial activity of some essential oil components against five foodborne pathogens. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 43 (11), p. 2839–2845.
- Kim, T. G.; Lee, D. S.; Park, T. G. (2007): Controlled protein release from electrospun biodegradable fiber mesh composed of poly(ε-caprolactone) and poly(ethylene oxide). International Journal of Pharmaceutics 338 (1), p. 276–283.
- Komora, N.; Bruschi, C.; Magalhães, R.; Ferreira, V.; Teixeira, P. (2017): Survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* with different antibiotic resistance patterns to foodassociated stresses. International Journal of Food Microbiology 245, p. 79–87.
- Kordel, M.; Schüller, F.; Sahl, H.-G. (2001): Interaction of the pore forming-peptide antibiotics Pep 5, nisin and subtilin with non-energized liposomes. FEBS Letters 244 (1), p. 99–102.
- Korenekova, B.; Kottferova, J.; Korenek, M. (2000): The fate of added nitrate used in the manufacture of emmental cheese. Food Additives and Contaminants 17 (5), p. 373–377.
- Koressaar, T.; Remm, M. (2007): Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3. Bioinformatics 23 (10), p. 1289–1291.
- Kovacevic, J.; Sagert, J.; Wozniak, A.; Gilmour, M. W.; Allen, K. J. (2013): Antimicrobial resistance and co-selection phenomenon in *Listeria* spp. recovered from food and food production environments. Food Microbiology 34 (2), p. 319–327.
- Kovács, M.; Halfmann, A.; Fedtke, I.; Heintz, M.; Peschel, A.; Vollmer, W. et al. (2006): A functional *dlt* operon, encoding proteins required for incorporation of D-alanine in

teichoic acids in gram-positive bacteria, confers resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. Journal of Bacteriology 188 (16), p. 5797–5805.

- Kralik, P.; Ricchi, M. (2017): A basic guide to real time PCR in microbial diagnostics:
 definitions, parameters, and everything. Frontiers in Microbiology, doi:
 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00108.
- Kramer, E. N.; Smid, J. E.; Kok, J.; Kruijff, B.; Kuipers, P. O.; Breukink, E. (2006a):Resistance of Gram-positive bacteria to nisin is not determined by Lipid II levels.FEMS Microbiology Letters 239 (1), p. 157–161.
- Kramer, N. E.; van Hijum, S. A.F.T.; Knol, J.; Kok, J.; Kuipers, O. P. (2006b): Transcriptome analysis reveals mechanisms by which *Lactococcus lactis* acquires nisin resistance. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 50 (5), p. 1753–1761.
- Krawczyk-Balska, A.; Markiewicz, Z. (2016): The intrinsic cephalosporin resistome of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the context of stress response, gene regulation, pathogenesis and therapeutics. Journal of Applied Microbiology 120, p. 251–265.
- Lang Halter, E.; Neuhaus, K.; Scherer, S. (2013): *Listeria weihenstephanensis* sp. nov., isolated from the water plant *Lemna trisulca* taken from a freshwater pond. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 63 (2), p. 641–647.
- Lante, A.; Crapisi, A.; Pasini, G.; Scalabrini, P. (1994): Nisin released from immobilization matrices as antimicrobial agent. Biotechnology Letters 16 (3), p. 293–298.

- Leclercq, A.; Clermont, D.; Bizet, C.; Grimont, P. A. D.; Le Flèche-Matéos, A.; Roche,
 S. M. et al. (2010): *Listeria rocourtiae* sp. nov. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 60 (9), p. 2210–2214.
- Linnan, M. J.; Mascola, L.; Lou, X. D.; Goulet, V.; May, S.; Salminen, C. et al. (1988): Epidemic listeriosis associated with mexican-style cheese. New England Journal of Medicine 319 (13), p. 823–828.
- Liu, S.; Puri, V. M.; Demirci, A. (2007): Spatial distribution of population of *Listeria monocytogenes* during manufacturing and ripening of camembert cheese. Journal of Food Safety 27 (1), p. 43–55.
- Liu, W.; Hansen, J. N. (1990): Some chemical and physical properties of nisin, a smallprotein antibiotic produced by *Lactococcus lactis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 56 (8), p. 2551–2558.
- Loessner, M. (1991): Improved procedure for bacteriophage typing of *Listeria* strains and rvaluation of new phages. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57 (1), p. 882–884.
- Lou, Y.; Yousef, A. E. (1997): Adaptation to sublethal environmental stresses protects *Listeria monocytogenes* against lethal preservation factors. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63 (4), p. 1252–1255.
- Lundén, J. M.; Autio, T. J.; Sjöberg, A. M.; Korkeala, H. J. (2003): Persistent and nonpersistent *Listeria monocytogenes* contamination in meat and poultry processing plants. Journal of Food Protection 66 (11), p. 2062–2069.
- Lundén, J.; Autio, T.; Markkula, A.; Hellström, S.; Korkeala, H. (2003): Adaptive and cross-adaptive responses of persistent and non-persistent *Listeria monocytogenes*

strains to disinfectants. International Journal of Food Microbiology 82 (3), p. 265–272.

- Luo, Y.; Nou, X.; Millner, P.; Zhou, B.; Shen, C.; Yang, Y. et al. (2012): A pilot plant scale evaluation of a new process aid for enhancing chlorine efficacy against pathogen survival and cross-contamination during produce wash. International Journal of Food Microbiology 158 (2), p. 133–139.
- Ma, Y.-H.; Wang, Q.; Gong, J.; Wu, X. Y. (2016): Formulation of granules for sitespecific delivery of an antimicrobial essential oil to the animal intestinal tract. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 105 (3), p. 1124–1133.
- MacDonald, P. D. M.; Whitwam, R. E.; Boggs, J. D.; MacCormack, J. N.; Anderson, K.
 L.; Reardon, J. W. et al. (2005): Outbreak of Listeriosis among Mexican Immigrants as a Result of Consumption of Illicitly Produced Mexican-Style Cheese. Clinical Infectious Diseases 40 (5), p. 677–682.
- Maisnier-Patin, S.; Deschamps, N.; Tatini, S. R.; Richard, J. (1992): Inhibition of *Listeria monocytogenes* in camembert cheese made with a nisin-producing starter.
 Lait 72 (3), p. 249–263.
- Makino, S.-I.; Kawamoto, K.; Takeshi, K.; Okada, Y.; Yamasaki, M.; Yamamoto, S.; Igimi, S. (2005): An outbreak of food-borne listeriosis due to cheese in Japan, during 2001. International Journal of Food Microbiology 104 (2), p. 189–196.
- Mallappa, M. K.; Kesarla, R.; Banakar, S. (2015): Calcium alginate-Neusilin US2 nanocomposite microbeads for oral sustained drug delivery of poor water soluble drug aceclofenac sodium. Journal of Drug Delivery doi:10.1155/2015/826981, p. 1– 14.

- Mandin, P.; Fsihi, H.; Dussurget, O.; Vergassola, M.; Milohanic, E.; Toledo-Arana, A. et al. (2005): *VirR*, a response regulator critical for *Listeria monocytogenes* virulence. Molecular Microbiology 57 (5), p. 1367–1380.
- Mantovani, H. C.; Russell, J. B. (2001): Nisin resistance of *Streptococcus bovis*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67 (2), p. 808–813.
- Martin, M. J.; Lara-Villoslada, F.; Ruiz, M. A.; Morales, M. E. (2013): Effect of unmodified starch on viability of alginate-encapsulated *Lactobacillus fermentum* CECT5716. LWT - Food Science and Technology 53 (2), p. 480–486.
- Mattick, A. T. R.; Hirsch, A. (1944): A powerful inhibitory substance produced by group N *Streptococci*. Nature 154, 551.
- Mazzotta, A. S.; Montville, T. J. (1997): Nisin induces changes in membrane fatty acid composition of *Listeria monocytogenes* nisin-resistant strains at 10°C and 30°C. Journal of Applied Microbiology 82 (1), p. 32–38.
- McClure, P. J.; Kelly, T. M.; Roberts, T. A. (1991): The effects of temperature, pH, sodium chloride and sodium nitrite on the growth of *Listeria monocytogenes*. International Journal of Food Microbiology 14, p. 77–92.
- McDonnell, G.; Russell, A. D. (1999): Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 12 (1), p. 147.
- McIntyre, L.; Wilcott, L.; Naus, M. (2015): Listeriosis outbreaks in British Columbia, Canada, caused by soft ripened cheese contaminated from environmental sources. BioMed Research International, p. 1–12.
- McMahon, M. A. S.; Xu, J.; Moore, J. E.; Blair, I. S.; McDowell, D. A. (2007a): Environmental stress and antibiotic resistance in food-related pathogens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73 (1), p. 211–217.

- McMahon, M. A.S.; Blair, I. S.; Moore, J. E.; McDowell, D. A. (2007b): Habituation to sub-lethal concentrations of tea tree oil (*Melaleuca alternifolia*) is associated with reduced susceptibility to antibiotics in human pathogens. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 59 (1), p. 125–127.
- McMahon, M. A.S.; Tunney, M. M.; Moore, J. E.; Blair, I. S.; Gilpin, D. F.; McDowell,
 D. A. (2008): Changes in antibiotic susceptibility in staphylococci habituated to sublethal concentrations of tea tree oil (*Melaleuca alternifolia*). Letters in Applied Microbiology 47 (4), p. 263–268.
- Meier, A. B.; Guldimann, C.; Markkula, A.; Poentinen, A.; Korkeala, H.; Tasara, T. (2017): Comparative phenotypic and genotypic analysis of Swiss and Finnish *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates with respect to benzalkonium chloride resistance. Frontiers in Microbiology 8 (397).
- Meira, S. M. M.; Jardim, A. I.; Brandelli, A. (2015): Adsorption of nisin and pediocin on nanoclays. Food Chemistry 188, p. 161–169.
- Meira, S. M. M.; Zehetmeyer, G.; Werner, J. O.; Brandelli, A. (2017): A novel active packaging material based on starch-halloysite nanocomposites incorporating antimicrobial peptides. Food Hydrocolloids 63, p. 561–570.
- Mengaud, J.; Braun-Breton, C.; Cossart, P. (1991): Identification of phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C activity in *Listeria monocytogenes*: A novel type of virulence factor? Molecular Microbiology 5 (2), p. 367–372.
- Mengaud, J.; Chenevert, J.; Geoffroy, C.; Gaillard, J. L.; Cossart, P. (1987):
 Identification of the structural gene encoding the SH-activated hemolysin of *Listeria monocytogenes*: listeriolysin O is homologous to streptolysin O and pneumolysin.
 Infection and Immunity 55 (12), p. 3225–3227.

- Mereghetti, L.; Quentin, R.; Marquet-Van Der Mee, N.; Audurier, A. (2000): Low sensitivity of *Listeria monocytogenes* to quaternary ammonium compounds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66 (11), p. 5083–5086.
- Ming, X.; Daeschel, M. A. (1993): Nisin resistance of foodborne bacteria and the specific resistance responses of *Listeria monocytogenes* Scott A. Journal of Food Protection 56 (11), p. 944–948.
- Montville, R.; Chen, Y.; Schaffner, D. W. (2001): Glove Barriers to Bacterial Cross-Contamination between Hands to Food. Journal of Food Protection 64 (6), p. 845– 849.
- Møretrø, T.; Schirmer, B. C.T.; Heir, E.; Fagerlund, A.; Hjemli, P.; Langsrud, S. (2017): Tolerance to quaternary ammonium compound disinfectants may enhance growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the food industry. International Journal of Food Microbiology 241, p. 215–224.
- Morvan, A.; Moubareck, C.; Leclercq, A.; Hervé-Bazin, M.; Bremont, S.; Lecuit, M. et al. (2010): Antimicrobial resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains isolated from humans in France. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 54 (6), p. 2728–2731.
- Mota-Meira, M.; LaPointe, G.; LaCroix, C.; Lavoie, M. C. (2000): MICs of mutacin B-Ny266, nisin A, vancomycin, and oxacillin against bacterial pathogens. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 44 (1), p. 24–29.
- Mu, L.; Feng, S. (2003): A novel controlled release formulation for the anticancer drug paclitaxel (Taxol): PLGA nanoparticles containing vitamin E TPGS. Journal of Controlled Release 88 (1), p. 33–48.

- Mulders, M. J. W.; Boerrigter, J. I.; Rollema, S. H.; Siezen, J. R.; de Vos, W. M. (2005): Identification and characterization of the lantibiotic nisin Z, a natural nisin variant. European Journal of Biochemistry 201 (3), p. 581–584.
- Mullapudi, S.; Siletzky, R. M.; Kathariou, S. (2008): Heavy-metal and benzalkonium chloride resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates from the environment of turkey-processing plants. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74 (5), p. 1464–1468.
- Müller, Günther; Weber, Herbert (1996): Mikrobiologie der Lebensmittel, Grundlagen. Hamburg: Behr's Verlag.
- Müller-Herbst, S.; Wüstner, S.; Kabisch, J.; Pichner, R.; Scherer, S. (2016): Acidified nitrite inhibits proliferation of *Listeria monocytogenes* transcriptional analysis of a preservation method. International Journal of Food Microbiology 226, p. 33–41.
- Mustapha, A.; Liewen, M. B. (1989): Destruction of *Listeria monocytogenes* by sodium hypochlorite and quaternary ammonium sanitizers. Journal of Food Protection 52 (5), p. 306–311.
- Muyzer, G.; De Waal, E.C.; Uitterlinden, A.G. (1993): Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, p. 695–700.
- Nair, M. S.; Upadhyaya, I.; Amalaradjou, M. A. R.; Venkitanarayanan, K. (2016):
 Antimicrobial food additives and disinfectants. In: Om V. Singh (Hg.): Foodborne
 Pathogens and Antibiotic Resistance. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, p. 275–301.

- Nielsen, L. N.; Larsen, M. H.; Skovgaard, S.; Kastbjerg, V.; Westh, H.; Gram, L.; Ingmer, H. (2013): *Staphylococcus aureus* but not *Listeria monocytogenes* adapt to triclosan and adaptation correlates with increased *fab*l expression and *agr* deficiency. BMC Microbiology 13 (1), p. 177.
- Nogva, H. K.; Rudi, K.; Naterstad, K.; Holck, A.; Lillehaug, D. (2000): Application of 5'nuclease PCR for quantitative detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in pure cultures, water, skim milk, and unpasteurized whole milk. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66 (10), p. 4266–4271.
- Noll, M.; Kleta, S.; Al Dahouk, S. (2018): Antibiotic susceptibility of 259 *Listeria monocytogenes* strains isolated from food, food-processing plants and human samples in Germany. Journal of Infection and Public Health, doi:10.1016/j.jiph.2017.12.007.
- Norton, D. M.; Scarlett, J. M.; Horton, K.; Sue, D.; Thimothe, J.; Boor, K. J.; Wiedmann,
 M. (2001): Characterization and pathogenic potential of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates from the smoked fish industry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67 (2), p. 646–653.
- O'Driscoll, B.; Gahan, C.; Hill, C. (1996): Adaptive acid tolerance response in *Listeria monocytogenes*: isolation of an acid-tolerant mutant which demonstrates increased virulence. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62 (5), p. 1693–1698.
- Oliveira, M. A.; Bastos, M. S.R.; Magalhães, H. C.R.; Garruti, D. S.; Benevides, S. D.; Furtado, R. F.; Egito, A. S. (2017): α, β-citral from *Cymbopogon citratus* on cellulosic film: Release potential and quality of coalho cheese. LWT - Food Science and Technology 85, p. 246–251.
- Onawunmi, G. O. (1989): Evaluation of the antimicrobial activity of citral. Letters in Applied Microbiology 9 (3), p. 105–108.

- Orosco, M. M.; Pacholski, C.; Sailor, M. J. (2009): Real-time monitoring of enzyme activity in a mesoporous silicon double layer. Nature Nanotechnology 4 (4), p. 255–258.
- Orsi, R. H.; den Bakker, H. C.; Wiedmann, M. (2011): *Listeria monocytogenes* lineages: Genomics, evolution, ecology, and phenotypic characteristics.
 International Journal of Medical Microbiology 301 (2), p. 79–96.
- Orsi, R. H.; Wiedmann, M. (2016): Characteristics and distribution of *Listeria* spp., including *Listeria* species newly described since 2009. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 100 (12), p. 5273–5287.
- Pak, S.-I.; Spahr, U.; Jemmi, T.; Salman, M.D. (2002): Risk factors for *L. monocytogenes* contamination of dairy products in Switzerland, 1990–1999.
 Preventive Veterinary Medicine 53 (1), p. 55–65.
- Palmer, M. E.; Wiedmann, M.; Boor, K. J. (2009): σB and σL contribute to *Listeria monocytogenes* 10403S response to the antimicrobial peptides sdpC and nisin.
 Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 6 (9), p. 1057–1065.
- Parisi, A.; Latorre, L.; Fraccalvieri, R.; Miccolupo, A.; Normanno, G.; Caruso, M.;
 Santa*gad*a, G. (2013): Occurrence of *Listeria* spp. in dairy plants in Southern Italy and molecular subtyping of isolates using AFLP. Food Control 29 (1), p. 91–97.
- Paulus, W. (2005): Relationship between chemical structure and activity or mode of action of microbicides. In: W. Paulus (Hg.): Directory of microbicides for the protection of materials: A handbook. Netherlands: Springer-Verlag, p. 9–23.
- Pawar, D. D.; Malik, S.V.S.; Bhilegaonkar, K. N.; Barbuddhe, S. B. (2000): Effect of nisin and its combination with sodium chloride on the survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* added to raw buffalo meat mince. Meat Science 56 (3), p. 215–219.

- Pearson, K. (1911): On a correction needful in the case of the correlation ratio. Biometrika 8, p. 254–256.
- Peschel, A.; Otto, M.; Jack, R. W.; Kalbacher, H.; Jung, G.; Gotz, F. (1999): Inactivation of the *dlt* operon in *Staphylococcus aureus* confers sensitivity to defensins, protegrins, and other antimicrobial peptides. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 274 (13), p. 8405–8410.
- Peyratout, C. S.; Dähne, L. (2004): Tailor-made polyelectrolyte microcapsules: From multilayers to smart containers. Angewandte Chemie (International ed. in English)
 43 (29), p. 3762–3783.
- Pierson, M. D.; Smoot, L. A.; Robach, M. C. (1983): Nitrite, nitrite alternatives, and the control of *Clostridium botulinum* in cured meats. CRC Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition 17 (2), p. 141–187.
- Pinheiro, A. C.; Bourbon, A. I.; Cerqueira, M. A.; Maricato, É.; Nunes, C.; Coimbra, M.
 A.; Vicente, A. A. (2015): Chitosan/fucoidan multilayer nanocapsules as a vehicle for controlled release of bioactive compounds. Carbohydrate Polymers 115, p. 1–9.
- Pizarro-Cerdá, J.; Kühbacher, A.; Cossart, P. (2012): Entry of *Listeria monocytogenes* in mammalian epithelial cells: an updated view. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine 2 (11).
- Pol, I. E.; van Arendonk, W. G. C.; Mastwijk, H. C.; Krommer, J.; Smid, E. J.; Moezelaar, R. (2001): Sensitivities of germinating spores and carvacrol-adapted vegetative cells and spores of *Bacillus cereus* to nisin and pulsed-electric-field treatment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67 (4), p. 1693–1699.

- Prombutara, P.; Kulwatthanasal, Y.; Supaka, N.; Sramala, I.; Chareonpornwattana, S.
 (2012): Production of nisin-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for sustained antimicrobial activity. Food Control 24 (1), p. 184–190.
- Rakic-Martinez, M.; Drevets, D. A.; Dutta, V.; Katic, V.; Kathariou, S. (2011): *Listeria monocytogenes* strains selected on ciprofloxacin or the disinfectant benzalkonium chloride exhibit reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin, gentamicin, benzalkonium chloride, and other toxic compounds. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 77 (24), p. 8714–8721.
- Ramadan, K.; Ashoush, I.; El Batawy, O. (2013): Comparative evaluation of three essential oils as functional antioxidants and natural flavoring Aaents in ice cream.
 World Applied Sciences Journal 23 (2), p. 159–166.
- Ramsaran, H.; Chen, J.; Brunke, B.; Hill, A.; Griffiths, M. W. (1998): Survivial of bioluminescent *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in soft cheeses. Journal of Dairy Science 81 (7), p. 1810–1817.
- Rasch, M.; Knøchel, S. (1998): Variations in tolerance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin, pediocin PA-1 and bavaricin A. Letters in Applied Microbiology 27 (5), p. 275– 278.
- Rayman, M. K.; Aris, B.; Hurst, A. (1981): Nisin: a possible alternative or adjunct to nitrite in the preservation of meats. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 41 (2), p. 375–380.
- Reiter, B.; Marshall, V. M.; Björck, L.; Rosén, C. G. (1976): Nonspecific bactericidal activity of the lactoperoxidases-thiocyanate-hydrogen peroxide system of milk against *Escherichia coli* and some gram-negative pathogens. Infection and Immunity 13 (3), p. 800–807.

- Remmal, A.; Bouchikhi, T.; Tantaoui-Elaraki, A.; Ettayebi, M. (1993): Inhibition of antibacterial activity of essential oils by tween 80 and ethanol in liquid medium. Journal de Pharmacie de Belgique 48, p. 352–356.
- Robbins, J. B.; Fisher, C. W.; Moltz, A. G.; Martin, S. E. (2005): Elimination of *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilms by ozone, chlorine, and hydrogen peroxide. Journal of Food Protection 68 (3), p. 494–498.
- Rogers, L. A. (1928): The inhibiting effect of *Streptococcus lactis* on *Lactobacillus bulgaricus*. Journal of Bacteriology 16 (5), p. 321–325.
- Rogga, K. J.; Samelis, J.; Kakouri, A.; Katsiari, M. C.; Savvaidis, I. N.; Kontominas, M.
 G. (2005): Survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in Galotyri, a traditional Greek soft acid-curd cheese, stored aerobically at 4°C and 12°C. International Dairy Journal 15 (1), p. 59–67.
- Romanova, N. A.; Wolffs, P. F.G.; Brovko, L. Y.; Griffiths, M. W. (2006): Role of efflux pumps in adaptation and resistance of *Listeria monocytogenes* to benzalkonium chloride. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72 (5), p. 3498–3503.
- Romanova, N.; Favrin, S.; Griffiths, M. W. (2002): Sensitivity of *Listeria monocytogenes* to sanitizers used in the meat processing industry. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (12), p. 6405–6409.
- Ruhr, E.; Sahl, H. G. (1985): Mode of action of the peptide antibiotic nisin and influence on the membrane potential of whole cells and on cytoplasmic and artificial membrane vesicles. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 27 (5), p. 841–845.
- Ryser, E. T.; Donnelly, C. W. (2013): *Listeria*. In: Compendium of Methods for the Microbiological Examination of Foods. Washington, D.C.: American Public Health Association, p. 425–438.

- Sahl, H.-G.; Jack, R. W.; Bierbaum, G. (1995): Biosynthesis and biological activities of lantibiotics with unique post-translational modifications. European Journal of Biochemistry 230, p. 827–853.
- Salvat, G.; Toquin, M. T.; Michel, Y.; Colin, P. (1995): Control of *Listeria monocytogenes* in the delicatessen industries: The lessons of a listeriosis outbreak in France. International Journal of Food Microbiology 25 (1), p. 75–81.
- Sánchez-Borges, M.; Thong, B.; Blanca, M.; Ensina, L. F. C.; González-Díaz, S.;
 Greenberger, P. A. et al. (2013): Hypersensitivity reactions to non beta-lactam antimicrobial agents, a statement of the WAO special committee on drug allergy.
 The World Allergy Organization Journal 6 (1), doi: 10.1186/1939-4551-6-18.
- Santaniello, M.; Giannini, G. (2016): A versatile and stable mixture of fish oil and resveratrol in a powder formulation. Nutrition and Food Technology 2 (3), 10.16966/2470-6086.125.
- Scallan, E.; Hoekstra, R. M.; Angulo, F. J.; Tauxe, R. V.; Widdowson, M.-A.; Roy, S. L. et al. (2011): Foodborne illness acquired in the United States major pathogens.
 Emerging Infectious Diseases 17 (1), p. 7–15.
- SCENIHR, (2009): Assessment of the antibiotic resistance effects of biocides.
- Schneider, N.; Werkmeister, K.; Pischetsrieder, M. (2011): Analysis of nisin A, nisin Z and their degradation products by LCMS/MS. Food Chemistry 127 (2), p. 847–854.
- Schulte, S.; Wingender, J.; Flemming, H.-C. (2005): Efficacy of biocides against biofilms. In: W. Paulus (Hg.): Directory of microbicides for the protection of materials: A handbook. Netherlands: Springer-Verlag, p. 93–120.
- Scott, E.; Bloomfield, S. F. (1990): The survival and transfer of microbial contamination via cloths, hands and utensils. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 68 (3), p. 271–278.

- Seeliger, H. P.R.; Jones, D. (1986): Genus *Listeria*. In: P. H.A. Sneath, N. S. Mair, M.
 E. Sharpe and J. G. Holt (Hg.): Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology.
 Baltimore: The Williams and Wilkins Co. (2), p. 1235–1245.
- Shen, C.; Luo, Y.; Nou, X.; Bauchan, G.; Zhou, B.; Wang, Q.; Millner, P. (2012): Enhanced inactivation of *Salmonella* and *Pseudomonas* biofilms on stainless steel by use of T-128, a fresh-produce washing aid, in chlorinated wash solutions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (19), p. 6789–6798.
- Shine, J.; Dalgarno, L. (1974): The 3'-terminal sequence of *Escherichia coli* 16S ribosomal RNA: Complementarity to nonsense triplets and ribosome binding sites.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 71 (4), p. 1342–1346.
- Siegers, K.; Heinzmann, S.; Entian, K.-D. (1996): Biosynthesis of lantibiotic nisin: Posttranslational modification of its prepeptide occurs at a multimeric membraneassociated lanthionine synthetase complex. Journal of Biological Chemistry 271 (21), p. 12294–12301.
- Silva, I. M.; Almeida, R. C.; Alves, M. A.; Almeida, P. F. (2003): Occurrence of *Listeria* spp. in critical control points and the environment of minas frescal cheese processing. International Journal of Food Microbiology 81 (3), p. 241–248.
- Silva-Angulo, A. B.; Zanini, S. F.; Rosenthal, A.; Rodrigo, D.; Klein, G.; Martínez, A. (2015): Comparative study of the effects of citral on the growth and injury of *Listeria* innocua and *Listeria monocytogenes* cells. PloS one 10 (2), e0114026.
- Sleator, R. D.; Hill, C. (2005): A novel role for the LisRK two-component regulatory system in listerial osmotolerance. Clinical Microbiology and Infection 11 (8), p. 599–601.

- Slootweg, J. C.; Liskamp, R. M. J.; Rijkers, D. T. S. (2013): Scalable purification of the lantibiotic nisin and isolation of chemical/enzymatic cleavage fragments suitable for semi-synthesis. Journal of Peptide Science 19 (11), p. 692–699.
- Small, P. L.C.; Waterman, S. R. (1998): Acid stress, anaerobiosis and gadCB: Lessons from Lactococcus lactis and Escherichia coli. Trends in Microbiology 6 (6), p. 214– 216.
- Solovyev, V.; Salamov, A. (2011): Automatic annotation of microbial genomes and metagenomic sequences. In Metagenomics and its Applications in Agriculture, Biomedicine and Environmental Studies (ed. Li, R.W.) 61-78. In: Ed. Li R. W.: Nova Science Publishers, Metagenomics and its Applications in Agriculture, Biomedicine and Environmental Studies, p. 61-78.
- Somolinos, M.; García, D.; Condón, S.; Mackey, B.; Pagán, R. (2010): Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* by citral. Journal of Applied Microbiology 108 (6), p. 1928–1939.
- Spanu, C.; Scarano, C.; Ibba, M.; Spanu, V.; Santis, E. P. L. de (2015): Occurrence and traceability of *Listeria monocytogenes* strains isolated from sheep's milk cheese-making plants environment. Food Control 47 (Supplement C), p. 318–325.
- Sperber, W. H.; Stevenson, K. E.; Bernard, D. T.; Deibel, K. E.; Moberg, L. J.; Hontz,
 L. R.; Scott, V. N. (1998): The role of prerequisite programs in managing a HACCP system. In: UN/FAO, Dairy, food and environmental sanitation: A publication of the International Association of Milk, Food and Environmental Sanitarians (USA).
- Spigarelli, M. G.; Hurwitz, M. E.; Nasr, S. Z. (2002): Hypersensitivity to inhaled TOBI® following reaction to gentamicin. Pediatric Pulmonology 33 (4), p. 311–314.

- Stevens, K. A.; Sheldon, B. W.; Klapes, N. A.; Klaenhammer, T. R. (1991): Nisin treatment for inactivation of *Salmonella* species and other Gram-negative bacteria.
 Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57 (12), p. 3613–3615.
- Sulzer, G.; Busse, M. (1991): Growth inhibition of *Listeria* spp. on camembert cheese by bacteria producing inhibitory substances. International Journal of Food Microbiology 14 (3), p. 287–296.
- Sun, Z.; Zhong, J.; Liang, X.; Liu, J.; Chen, X.; Huan, L. (2009): Novel mechanism for nisin resistance via proteolytic degradation of nisin by the nisin resistance protein NSR. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 53 (5), p. 1964–1973.
- Svoboda, A.; Shaw, A.; Dzubak, J.; Mendonca, A.; Wilson, L.; Nair, A. (2016): Effectiveness of broad-spectrum chemical produce sanitizers against foodborne pathogens as *in vitro* planktonic cells and on the surface of whole cantaloupes and watermelons. Journal of Food Protection 79 (4), p. 524–530.
- Szendy, M.; Westhäuser, W.; Baude, B.; Reims, J.; Dähne, L.; Noll, M. (2019a): Time lapsed and pH-controlled release of nisin from Neusilin particles to enhance food safety of sour curd cheese. Journal of Food Science and Technology 56 (3), p. 1613–1621.
- Szendy, M.; Kalkhof, S.; Bittrich, S.; Kaiser, F.; Leberecht, C.; Labudde, D.; Noll, M. (2019b): Structural change in GadD2 of *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates supports nisin resistance. International Journal of Food Microbiology 305, 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2019.108240.
- Taher, M. M.; Lakshmaiah, N. (1992): Folic acid stability in hydrogen peroxidepotassium thiocyanate-treated milk. Food Chemistry 44 (5), p. 343–347.

- Temple, Mary E.; Nahata, Milap C. (2000): Treatment of listeriosis. Annals of Pharmacotherapy 34 (5), p. 656–661.
- The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, (EUCAST) (2017): Disk diffusion method for antimicrobial susceptibility testing 6.
- Thedieck, K.; Hain, T.; Mohamed, W.; Tindall, B. J.; Nimtz, M.; Chakraborty, T. et al. (2006): The MprF protein is required for lysinylation of phospholipids in listerial membranes and confers resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) on *Listeria monocytogenes*. Molecular Microbiology 62 (5), p. 1325–1339.
- Thomsen, N. A.; Hammer, K. A.; Riley, T. V.; van Belkum, A.; Carson, C. F. (2013): Effect of habituation to tea tree (*Melaleuca alternifolia*) oil on the subsequent susceptibility of *Staphylococcus* spp. to antimicrobials, triclosan, tea tree oil, terpinen-4-ol and carvacrol. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 41 (4), p. 343–351.
- To, M. S.; Favrin, S.; Romanova, N.; Griffiths, M. W. (2002): Postadaptational resistance to benzalkonium chloride and subsequent physicochemical modifications of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (11), p. 5258–5264.
- Tompkin, R. B.; Scott, V. N.; Bernard, D. T.; Sveum, W. H.; Gombas, K. S. (1999):Guidelines to prevent post-processing contamination from *L. monocytogenes*.Dairy, Food and Environmental Sanitation 19 (8), p. 551–562.
- Troxler, R.; von Graevenitz, A.; Funke, G.; Wiedemann, B.; Stock, I. (2000): Natural antibiotic susceptibility of *Listeria* species: *L. grayi*, *L. innocua*, *L. ivanovii*, *L. monocytogenes*, *L. seeligeri* and *L. welshimeri* strains. European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 6 (10), p. 525–535.
- Tscheuschner, H.-D. (2004): Grundzüge der Lebensmitteltechnik. 3. neubearb. Aufl. Hamburg: Behr's Verlag.
- Tuncan, E. U. (1993): Effect of cold temperature on germicidal efficacy of quaternary ammonium compound, iodophor, and chlorine on *Listeria*. Journal of Food Protection 56 (12), p. 1029–1033.
- Ukuku, D. O.; Shelef, L. A. (1997): Sensitivity of six strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* to nisin. Journal of Food Protection 60 (7), p. 867–869.
- Untergasser, A.; Cutcutache, I.; Koressaar, T.; Ye, J.; Faircloth, B. C.; Remm, M.; Rozen, S. G. (2012): Primer3 - new capabilities and interfaces. Nucleic Acids Research 40 (15), e115.
- Upadhyay, A.; Upadhyaya, I.; Kollanoor-Johny, A.; Ananda Baskaran, S.; Mooyottu, S.; Karumathil, D.; Venkitanarayanan, K. (2013): Inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* on frankfurters by plant-derived antimicrobials alone or in combination with hydrogen peroxide. International Journal of Food Microbiology 163 (2), p. 114–118.
- Vallim, D. C.; Barroso Hofer, C.; Lisbôa, R. d. C.; Victor Barbosa, A.; Alves Rusak, L.;
 Reis, C. M. F. d.; Hofer, E. (2015): Twenty Years of *Listeria* in Brazil: Occurrence of *Listeria* species and *Listeria monocytogenes* serovars in food samples in Brazil between 1990 and 2012. BioMed Research International 2015, p. 1–8.
- van Houdt, R.; Michiels, C. W. (2010): Biofilm formation and the food industry, a focus on the bacterial outer surface. Journal of Applied Microbiology 109 (4), p. 1117– 1131.
- Verheul, A.; Russell, N. J.; van't Hof, R.; Rombouts, F. M.; Abee, T. (1997): Modifications of membrane phospholipid omposition in nisin-resistant *Listeria*

monocytogenes Scott A. Applied and Environmental Microbiology (63), p. 3451–3457.

- Villani, F.; Pepe, O.; Mauriello, G.; Moschetti, G.; Sannino, L.; Coppola, S. (1996):
 Behaviour of *Listeria monocytogenes* during the traditional manufacture of waterbuffalo mozzarella cheese. Letters in Applied Microbiology 22 (5), p. 357–360.
- Walsh, C. (2003): Antibiotics: actions, origins, resistance. Washington: American Society for Microbiology (ASM).
- Wang, H.; She, Y.; Chu, C.; Liu, H.; Jiang, S.; Sun, M.; Jiang, S. (2015): Preparation, antimicrobial and release behaviors of nisin-poly (vinyl alcohol)/wheat gluten/ZrO₂ nanofibrous membranes. Journal of Materials Science 50 (14), p. 5068–5078.
- Waters, B. W.; Hung, Y.-C. (2013): Evaluation of different methods for determination of properties of chlorine-based sanitizers. Food Control 30 (1), p. 41–47.
- Weller, D.; Andrus, A.; Wiedmann, M.; den Bakker, H. C. (2015): *Listeria booriae* sp. nov. and *Listeria newyorkensis* sp. nov., from food processing environments in the USA. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 65 (1), p. 286–292.
- Were, L. M.; Bruce, B.; Davidson, P. M.; Weiss, J. (2004): Encapsulation of nisin and lysozyme in liposomes enhances efficacy against *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Food Protection 67 (5), p. 922–927.
- WHO, (2006): Benefits and potential risks of the lactoperoxidase system of raw milk preservation. FAO Headquarters, Rome, Italy, 28 November - 2 December 2005.World Health Organization.
- Wiedemann, I.; Breukink, E.; van Kraaij, C.; Kuipers, O. P.; Bierbaum, G.; Kruijff, B. de; Sahl, H.-G. (2001): Specific binding of nisin to the peptidoglycan precursor lipid

Il combines pore formation and inhibition of cell wall biosynthesis for potent antibiotic activity. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 276 (3), p. 1772–1779.

- Wolfson, L. M.; Sumner, S. S. (1994): Antibacterial activity of the lactoperoxidase system against *Salmonella typhimurium* in trypticase soy broth in the presence and absence of a heat treatment. Journal of Food Protection 57 (5), p. 365–368.
- Wu, S.; Yu, P.-L.; Flint, S. (2017): Persister cell formation of *Listeria monocytogenes* in response to natural antimicrobial agent nisin. Food Control 77, p. 243–250.
- Xu, D.; Li, Y.; Zahid, M. S. H.; Yamasaki, S.; Shi, L.; Li, J.-r.; Yan, H. (2014):
 Benzalkonium chloride and heavy-metal tolerance in *Listeria monocytogenes* from retail foods. International Journal of Food Microbiology 190, p. 24–30.
- Xuanyuan, Z.; Wu, Z.; Li, R.; Jiang, D.; Su, J.; Xu, H. et al. (2010): Loss of *irpT* function in *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* N8 results in increased nisin resistance. Current Microbiology 61 (4), p. 329–334.
- Ye, K.; Liu, J.; Liu, M.; Huang, Y.; Wang, K.; Zhou, G. (2018): Effects of two Weissella viridescens strains on Listeria monocytogenes growth at different initial inoculum proportions. CyTA - Journal of Food 16 (1), p. 299–305.
- Yen, L. C.; Sofos, J. N.; Schmidt, G. R. (1991): Effect of meat curing ingredients on thermal destruction of *Listeria monocytogenes* in ground pork. Journal of Food Protection 54 (6), p. 408–412.
- Yun, Hyun Sun; Kim, Younghoon; Oh, Sejong; Jeon, Woo Min; Frank, Joseph F.; Kim, Sae Hun (2012): Susceptibility of *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilms and ceptibility of *Listeria monocytogenes* biofilms and planktonic cultures to hydrogen peroxide in food processing environments. Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry 76 (11), p. 2008–2013.

Zhou, Q.; Wang, L.; Yin, X.; Feng, X.; Shang, J.; Luo, Q. (2012): *SigB*-dependent tolerance to protein synthesis-inhibiting antibiotics in *Listeria monocytogenes* EGDe. Current Microbiology 64 (3), p. 234–241.

8. APPENDIX

8.1. Appendix Figures



Figure 8.1-1: Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization images of *L. monocytogenes* BfR L261 field isolate (5.18 log CFU ml⁻¹) after incubation for four days in BHI broth at 30 °C. Addition of 0.74 mol l⁻¹ NaCl and/or 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin to BHI broth followed the traditional Hessian recipe of sour curd cheese. **A** Field isolate BfR L261. **B** Field isolate BfR L261 incubated with 0.74 mol l⁻¹ NaCl, **C** with 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin, and **D** with 0.74 mol l⁻¹ NaCl as well as 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin. **E** BHI broth without any additions.

Arrows indicate cells of field isolate while arrow widths represent density of cell conglomeration. Scale bar indicates a length of $10.0 \ \mu m$.

ı	ı	_	ı	ı	_	ı	ı	_	-	·		ı	ı	<u> </u>	ı	ı	_	1.11	
ı	ı	10	ı	ı	10	ı	ı	10	10	ı	ı	<u>د</u>	ω	<u>ـ</u>	ı	ı	10	2.23	
•	•	50	•	•	50	<u>د</u>		49	50		•	4	40	ი		ı	50	4.45	
•	·	130	•	·	130	Ν		128	130			œ	101	21	·		130	Citral 8.90	<u>Ω</u>
•	·	42	<u> </u>	ı	41	N		40	42			S	31	ი	·		42	17.80	
•	•	4	<u> </u>	•	ω	N	ı	Ν	4		•	Ν	Ν			ı	4	35.60	
	·	ــ	<u> </u>	·	ı	<u>د</u>		ı	د		•	<u>د</u>			·		<u>ــ</u>	71.20	
							ns						ns					ignf.	Sig
•	·	4	•	·	4	<u>د</u>		ω	4			N	Ν		·		4	0.0005	
ı	ı	95		ı	95	ı		95	95			ഗ	77	13	ı	ı	95	0.001	C
·	·	118	N	ı	116	ი	·	112	118	·	ı	13	87	18	ı	ı	118	CKC 0.002	כ
•	ı	21		·	20	-		20	21			<u>د</u>	16	4	ı		21	0.004	
							ns						ns					ignf. ^b	Sig
·	ı	9	·	ı	9	ı	·	9	9	ı	ı	Ν	വ	N	ı	ı	9	0.001	
·	ı	149	-	ı	148	ω	·	146	149	ı	ı	œ	120	21	ı	ı	149	0.002	
•	·	56	<u> </u>	·	55	ω		53	56			œ	42	ი	·		56	BAC 0.004	B
	·	22	<u> </u>	·	21	N		20	22			ω	14	σı	·		22	0.008	
ı	ı	Ν	ı	ı	Ν	ı	ı	N	Ν	ı	ı	ı	-	<u>ح</u>	ı	ı	Ν	0.016	
찌	—	S	꼬	_	S	R	_	S	R	_	S	R	-	S	R	_	S		
	VANa	-		PEN a			MER		<u>ت</u> م	DPT		ھ	CRO			AMPa		iocide MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	Bio
	(2018	et al. (Noll	sling to	accorc	וt (R) ז)sistar) or re	diate (I	ermec	S), int	ible (S	rscept	d in st	angec	are arr	otics a	nhibited by various antibi	inh
8)	(n=23	plates	∍ld isc	าes fie	ytogei	nonoc	of L. r.	mber (3). Nu	י 200;	Walsł	2016;	et al. 2	Nair	2017;	et al.	apoor	n these target regions (Ka	i. T
SI	anism	mech	tance	resist	. other	ane or	embra	d∕or m	all and	cell w	dified	n mou	ased o	ז is ba	whick	ance,	l resist	action as well as bacterial	act
	de of	lar mou	simil	have	cted to) selec	s were	ocides	and bi	iotics	Antibi	itral).	tive (c	serva	al pre	iicrobi	lantim	etalkonium chloride) and	cet
KC	ide; C	ı chlori	onium	nzalk	AC bei	ds (B,	npoun	nt con	nfecta.	of disi	/ICs (s to N	stance	c resi	tibiotic	en an	betwe	Table 8.2-1: Comparison	Та

APPENDIX

8.2. Appendix Tables

Page | 159

_
B
σ
<u> </u>
Ð
∞
N
· •
~
 0
 0
: Co
1: Con
I: Conti
1: Contir
1: Continu
: Continu
I: Continue
1: Continuec

^b Comparison between S a	^a AMP Ampicillin; CRO Cer	Signf.		Biocide MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]
and R	ftriax		S	
field	one; [_	AMP
isolate	D T D		R	
}s; in €	aptom		S	
empty	ıycin;	ns	_	CRO
cells	MER		R	B
compa	Merop		S	
arison	benem		_	DPTa
was r	ı; PEN		┚	
not po	Benz		S	
ssible	zylpen	*	_	MERa
, ns a	iicillin;		R	
nd * ir	VAN		S	
ndicat	Vanc		_	PENa
e not	omyci		꼬	
signifi	'n.		S	
cant a			-	VANa
Ind			ת	

significant at P < 0.05, respectively.

at P <	ificant	ot sign	tes no	ndica	cycline. le, ns ir	Tetra	n; TET as not	nicillir on wa	zylpe	v Ben s com	in; PEN ty cell	loxaci	;iprofl tes; ir	; CIP C Id isola	npicillin; CRO Ceftriaxone ison between S and R fiel	^a AMP Arr ^b Compari
	ns						ns			ns					ignf.	S
•	—	·	•	•	<u>ب</u>	ı	-	ı	·	•	-	ı	·	<u>د</u>	0.039	
15	40 、	24	•	•	79	СЛ	61	13 3	7	•	72	ı	ı	79	2 O 2 0.078	Ĥ
39	87	32	ω	•	155	16	120	22	16	•	142	·	•	158	0.156	
	ns						ns			ns					ignf.	Si
-	N	-	•	•	4	N	Ν	ı		•	4	·	•	4	0.0005	
15	、 58	22	•	•	95	ഗ	77	1 3	œ	•	87	·	•	95	0.001	
31	58	29	N	•	116	13	87	18	13	•	105	·	•	118	0.002	
7	10	4	<u> </u>	•	20	<u>د</u>	16	4	N	•	19	·	•	21	0.004	
	ns						ns			ns					ignf. ^b	S
2	6	-	ı	ı	9	Ν	G	Ν	-	·	ω	ı	ı	9	0.001	
30	87	32	-	ı	148	œ	120	21	14	•	135	ı	ı	149	0.002	
16	26 、	14	<u>ح</u>	•	55	œ	42	ი	ი	•	50	ı	ı	56	BAC 0.004	
6	9	7	<u> </u>	•	21	ω	14	ഗ	N	•	20	ı	ı	22	0.008	
•	Ν	•	•	•	N	ı	<u>د</u>	-		•	N	·	•	N	0.016	
R	-	S	ת	—	S	R	_	S	찌	_	S	R	_	S		
	ETa	-		ENa	P		CROa			CIPa			MPa	Þ	iocide MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	В
	ļ															(2010).
																(2018)
loll et al.	g to N	cordin	R) ac	tant (or resis	ate (I)	rmedia), inte	ole (S	ceptik	in sus	nged	e arra	tics are	hibited by various antibio	(n=238) ir
leo	ז וטטומ	בא וופור	ogen	lucy			9). INUI		Valo	, v	51 al. 20	Valle	, I , I		שכבאת-שמוטהמ מווח ועומו הופ	2017, NIa
5		00 f:00	5		+ - mo			2000	2010	1.0.1	2 2		- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Work Dolako oba Markia	0017. Kro
a et al.	(omo)	2016; H	et al.	llen e	tivity (A	mp ac	lux pu	on eff	ased	h is b	e, whic	tance	resis	acterial	ode of action as well as ba	similar mo
d to have	ecte	vere se	ides v	bioci	tics and	ntibiot	ide). A	perox	ogen	hydro	$(H_2O_2$	ative	eserv	obial pr	im chloride) and antimicro	cetalkoniu

Table 8.2-2: Comparison between antibiotic resistances to MICs of disinfectant compounds (BAC benzalkonium chloride; CKC

APPENDIX

G.C.	dine;	acyc	letr	,. П	azole	thox	ame	n/sulta	oprin	rimeth	×	ָר גי	npici	1 Kitar	RAN	ezolid;	IZ LIN6	n; L	tamic	4 Gen	r Erythromycin; GEN Sycline.	^a ERY Tigec
	:		i	su	-	-	su			ns						su		-	ns.			Signf.
	<u> </u>			<u>د</u>	ı	ı	·	-	ı	-		ı		<u> </u>	ı	ı	_	,	·	<u>د</u>	0.5	
N	<u>د</u>		N	ı	<u>ــ</u>	-	·	Ν	<u> </u>	-	<u>د</u>	ı		ω	ı		ω	<u> </u>		Ν	1.0	
7	10	<u> </u>	6	7	Сл	-	·	17	·	14	4	ı		18	ı	ı	18	·		18	2.0	
37	63		N	51	21	4	·	96	N	81	17	ı		100	S	ı	26	N	·	86	4.0	
35	66	N	14	62	27	4	·	66	Ν	73	28	ı		103	Ν	ı	101	<u> </u>	·	102	8.0	
7	ი	1	4	7	Ν	4	ī	9	4	4	U	ı	ı	13	4	ı	9	-	ı	12	>8.0	
				ns			ns			ns						su			su		σ	Signf. ^b
ı	<u>د</u>	1	ı	-	ı	ı	ı	-	ı	<u>ح</u>	ı	ı	ī	<u> </u>	ı		<u>د</u>	ı	ı	-	0.039	
22	56	<u> </u>	15	40	24	<u>د</u>	ı	78	-	56	22	·		79	<u>د</u>		78	<u>د</u>		78	2 0.078	H_2O_2
66	00	- N	39	87	32	13		145	ω	117	33	ı		158	10		148	4		154	0.156	
R	_	S	R	_	S	꼬	_	S	R	_	S	찌	_	S	R	_	S	R	_	S		
à	TG		່	E			SXT ²	6		RAM ^a			_IZa			GEN ^a			ERYa		de MIC [mg ml-1]	Biocid
								(2018)	<u>al.</u> (Noll et	ng to	ordii	acc	ınt (R)	esista	l) or re	diate (mec.), inte	ole (S	rranged in susceptik	are ar
otics	antibic	sno	/ vari	ted by	nhibit	38) ii	(n=2	lates	d iso	<i>tes</i> fielo	togei	осу	mon	r of <i>L</i> .	umbe)3). Nu	sh 200	Wal	2016;	et al.	oor et al. 2017; Nair e	(Карс
ons	et reg	targ	nese	s in tł	nism:	echai	e m(stanc	resi	r other	nts c	one	omp	cell c	cterial	ed bac	nodifie	on r	ased	ch is b	erial resistance, whic	bacte
las	as we	tion :	of act	ode (lar m	simi	lave	d to h	lecte	vere se	des w	locic	nd bi	tics a	ntibio	ite). A	m nitri	odiu	NO₂ s	e (Nal	nicrobial preservative	antim
and	xide)	oero	jen (ydroį	O₂ h	(H ₂	und	ompo	int c	infecta	of dis	ы С	MIC	ce to	istan	s res	tibiotic	an	tween	n be	e 8.2-3: Compariso	Table

Page | 162

No. of R	No. of field isolates	MIC of free nisin [mg ml ⁻¹]
10	1	0.011
8	1	0.011
7	1	0.011
6	2	0.032
5	2	0.032
4	6	0.011
3	26	0.011
2	78	0.011

 Table 8.2-4: MICs of free nisin of L. monocytogenes field isolates (n=117) with multiantibiotic resistances (R) (Noll et al. 2018).

Table 8.2-5 : Cc	omparison of nisin susceptibilit	y associat	ed genes in	the genome	es of L. mon	ocytogenes field isol:	ates (referred to
BfR L41). Data	was provided by the German F	ederal Ins	titute for Ris	sk Assessme	ent (Szendy e	et al. 2019b).	
Protein (Size)	Predicted function	NS L BfR L41	. monocytog BfR L330	genes field is BfR L448	solates BfR L1079	NNS L. monocytog BfR L245	enes field isolates BfR L261
			36: L→F		•		
AnrB	ARC transporter permease	·		·	I	355: E→D	
(646 aa)		·		407: N→S	ı		
			•	439: D→N	ı	•	•
	Demonstration of the preining		144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D
(410 aa)	deiminase (<i>arc</i>) operon	ı	205: V→L	ı	I		ı
	-	1	215: I→L	215: I→L	ı	215: I→L	215: I→L
DitA (510 aa)	D-Alanylation of teichoic acids	·		·	ı		
					80: R→Q		80: R→Q
					98: V→I		98: V→I
(304 aa)	D-Alanylation of teichoic acids	·			109: H→N		109: H→N
(00 T 00)					126: T→A		126: T→A
					188: F→I		
DitC (79 aa)	D-Alanylation of teichoic acids	•			•		
DIFD		ı	398: I→M	·	I		
(425 aa)	D-Alanylation of teichoic acids	•	419: P→Q	•	ı	·	•
LiaSR (353 aa)	Gene regulator	•	·	261: V→I	I	I	·
LisK (483 aa)	Signal transduction system	•	·	·	I	I	·
LisR (226 aa)	Signal transduction system			ı	1	1	

APPENDIX

Page | 164

Table 8.2-5: Co	ntinued.						
	Drodiotod function	7 SN	. monocytog	<i>jenes</i> field is	olates	NNS L. monocytoge	enes field isolates
ri otein (oize)		BfR L41	BfR L330	BfR L448	BfR L1079	BfR L245	BfR L261
lmo0047		ı	144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D	144: A→D
(410 aa)			205: V→L	ı	ı		
lmo1746		ı	ı	571: A→G	ı		
(658 aa)	ABC II alispoitei perillease	ı	ı	618: V→I	ı	•	ı
lmo1747	ABC transporter binding	ı		ı	134: I→L		
(255 aa)	protein	ı	179: A→S	179: A→S	•	179: A→S	•
	Lysinylation of membrane						
MprF	phosphatidylglycerol	ı	664·S→P	664·S→P	664·S→P	664·S→P	664·S→P
(865 aa)	(multiple peptide resistance factor)						
Pbp	Formation of a rod-shaped						
(714 aa)	peptidoglycan cell wall	ı	ı	I	ı		1
RmID	Precursor involved in cell wall						
(277 aa)	polysaccharide backbone	ı	/3: D→N	/3: D→N	ı		
	production						
SinR (259 aa)	Regulation of stress response		•	ı	•	•	•
	and virulence						
Sinl (AAT aa)	Regulation of stress response	ı	ı	90: M→L	I		ı
	and virulence	I	ı	393: K→M	I	•	T
TeIA (399 aa)	Tellurite resistance	ı		50: D→E			
VirR (225 aa)	Gene regulator	·					
VirS	Copo rogulator			7: L→I	7: L→I	7: L→I	
(364 aa)		ı	261: L→S	261: L→S	261: L→S	261: L→S	261: L→S
Abbreviations: a lysine; L leucine	aa amino acid; A alanine; D a: ; M methionine; N asparagine;	spartic acions NS nisin :	d; E glutamii susceptible;	c acid; F ph NNS nisin n	enylalanine; on-susceptib	G glycine; H histidin le; P proline; Q gluta	e; I isoleucine; K mine; R arginine;

S serine; I threonine; V valine.

	Leontified TE	NS L	monocytoo	renes field	isolates	NNS L. monocytoc	renes field isolates	
Target gene	Identified TF binding sites	NS L. BfR L41	monocytog BfR L330	BfR L448	BfR L1079	NNS L. monocytog BfR L245	BfR L261	DNA sequence variance
anrB	cytR, deoR, ihf, irp							
arcA	rpoH2, lexA, argR, argR2, ihf, rpoD17	ı	ı	·	ı	·	·	·
dltA	ihf (2), gcvA, tyrR	•		•	I	•	•	•
dltB	rpoD16	•	I	•	-	•	-	•
dltC	fnr, nagC, cpxR, rpoD18		ı			I	I	
dltD	nagC, cpxR, rpoD18, rpoD17	•	I		•	•	•	•
gadD2	dnaA		·	+	+		·	dnaA T(T→G)GTTATC
gadD3	Irp, argR2				1	•	•	•
gadT2	rpoH3, ompR crp, arcA	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
liaSR	glpR	•	I		•	•	•	•
lisK	hipB, rpoN, arcA, rpoD17, fnr	•	·		•		•	
lisR	rpoD17, rpoD16	•	I	·	•	•	•	•
lmo0047	rpoH2, lexA, argR, argR2, ihf, rpoD17	•			-			•
lmo1746	rpoS17, phoB	•	I		ı	•	•	•
lmo1747	Lrp, lexA, rpoD17, rpoD18, cpxR, cynR	•	·	•	•	•	·	•
mprF	rpoD16, fur, rpoD15	·	I	•		•	•	•

יושסש ה ; ; ; ק П Ś ol Inetit , 5 Ņ į. -1 2010h

Table 8.2-6: Comparison of regulatory sequences in the genomes of L. monocytogenes field isolates (referred to BfR L41). Data

Target	Identified TF	NS L	. monocytog	<i>yenes</i> field i	solates	NNS L. monocytog	enes field i
gene	binding sites	BfR L41	BfR L330	BfR L448	BfR L1079	BfR L245	
pbpA	hipB, rpoN, arcA, rpoD17. fnr	•					
rmlD	rpoD18, rpoN	ı	ı		ı	ı	
sigB	argR2, crp	•				•	
sigL	Ihf, fnr, tyrR, rpoD17	·	ı		ı	ı	
telA	ihf, rpoH3, rpoD18, ilvY	ı				ı	
		ı	ı	+	ı	ı	
		ı	·	+			
virR	arcA, purR, meJ	•	•		-	•	
virS	rpoD16 (2), fis, gcvA		ı	ı	ı		

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

Table 8.2-7: Comparison of the three different end C-terminal protein sequences of *gadD2* in 30 nisin non-susceptible (NNS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates ("HDTQQ", "HDNQQ" and "HNTQQ"). Shown sequences start at amino acid position 452 and end at position 456 (total of 464 amino acids; UniProt ID Q9EYW9). Protein sequences with amino acid substitution on position 453 are highlighted in bold. Additionally, the two NNS field isolates from whole genome sequencing are italicized. Data was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Hammerl 2017; personal communication).

BfR No.	Protein sequence	Free nisin MIC [ma ml ⁻¹]	Serptype	Source
BfR L1322	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Environmental sample
BfR L1068	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Cheese
BfR L517	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Cheese from raw milk
BfR L672	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Cheese from raw milk
BfR L271	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L268	HDTQQ	>0.039	lla	Raw milk
BfR L262	HDTQQ	>0.039	lla	Raw milk
BfR L266	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L1409	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L233	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L243	HDTQQ	>0.039	lla	Raw milk
BfR L982	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L714	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Ricotta salad with
BfR L660	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Smoked salmon
BfR L513	HDTQQ	0.011	lla	Soft cheese from raw milk
BfR L55	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Cheese
BfR L380	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Raw milk
BfR L459	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Smoked salmon
BfR L1528	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Smoked salmon
BfR L554	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Tuna salad
BfR L479	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Unknown
BfR L166	HDTQQ	0.011	IVb	Unknown
BfR L386	HDNQQ	0.011	llb	Obatzer
BfR L1009	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Beef
BfR L269	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L267	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L653	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk
BfR L1330	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Raw milk

Table	8.2-7 :	continued.
-------	----------------	------------

BfR No.	Protein sequence	Free nisin MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	Serptype	Source
BfR L1080	HNTQQ	>0.039	lla	Soft cheese
BfR L1083	HNTQQ	0.011	lla	Soft cheese
BfR L245	HNTQQ	>0.039	lla	Raw milk
BfR L261	HNTQQ	>0.039	lla	Raw milk

Abbreviation: D aspartic acid; H histidine; N asparagine; Q glutamine; T threonine.

APPENDIX

Table 8.2-8: Comparison of the three different end C-terminal protein sequences of *gadD2* in 30 nisin susceptible (NS) *L. monocytogenes* field isolates ("HDTQQ" and "HDNQQ"). Shown sequences start at amino acid position 452 and end at position 456 (total of 464 amino acids; UniProt ID Q9EYW9). The protein sequences of field isolate BfR L600 could not be derived due to bad quality in ab1-file. Additionally, the four NS field isolates from whole genome sequencing are italicized. Data was provided by the German Federal Institute for Risk Assessment (Hammerl 2017; personal communication).

BfP No	Protein	Free nisin	Sorntypo	Source
BIX NO.	sequence	MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	Serptype	Source
BfR L1038	HDTQQ	0.004	lla	Soft cheese
BfR L336	HDTQQ	0.0005	llc	Clinic isolate
BfR L610	HDTQQ	0.0005	llc	Mixed ground meat
BfR L528	HDTQQ	0.003	llc	Onion Mettwurst
BfR L286	HDTQQ	0.000	IVab	Mettwurst
BfR L548	HDTQQ	0.0001	IVb	Atlantic salmon
BfR L335	HDTQQ	0.002	IVb	Clinic isolate
BfR L725	HDTQQ	0.0001	IVb	Fish
BfR L883	HDTQQ	0.0001	IVb	Fish
BfR L1165	HDTQQ	0.0005	IVb	Fleischkäse
BfR L1229	HDTQQ	0.0005	IVb	Meat ball
BfR L914	HDTQQ	0.0001	IVb	Ground beef
BfR L850	HDTQQ	0.003	IVb	Ground pork
BfR L934	HDTQQ	0.0005	IVb	Meat
BfR L292	HDTQQ	0.003	IVb	Onion Mettwurst
BfR L530	HDTQQ	0.004	IVb	Onion Mettwurst
BfR L887	HDTQQ	0.003	IVb	Salami
BfR L964	HDTQQ	0.0005	IVb	Sausauge
BfR L101	HDTQQ	0.0005	IVb	Spot sample
BfR L994	HDTQQ	0.001	IVb	Spot sample
BfR L1031	HDTQQ	0.000	IVb	Tilapia
BfR L1385	HDTQQ	0.000	IVb	Tofu
BfR L41	HDTQQ	0.0001	lla	Sewage
BfR L448	HDTQQ	0.003	lla	Smoked salmon
BfR L1079	HDTQQ	0.001	lla	Soft cheese
BfR L846	HDNQQ	0.0005	llb	Cured pork
BfR L1303	HDNQQ	0.003	llb	Egg salad
BfR L1339	HDNQQ	0.003	llb	Ham
BfR L1245	HDNQQ	0.0001	llb	Raw sausage
BfR L1060	HDNQQ	0.003	llb	Crumble

Table 8.2-8: continued.

BfR No.	Protein sequence	Free nisin MIC [mg ml ⁻¹]	Serptype	Source
BfR L1138	HDNQQ	0.002	llb	Sushi
BfR L625	HDNQQ	0.0005	llb	Tuna
BfR L600	-	0.000	-	Frozen gyros
BfR L330	HDNQQ	0.003	lla	Unknown

Abbreviation: D aspartic acid; H histidine; N asparagine; Q glutamine; T threonine.

-		-		-		-		-			•			
Z-	Z	Z +	Ż	Z +	Ż	Z +	z	Z +	T Z	' Z	' Z	Z	Z	
Ē	ECa	_261	_	245	F	079	Z	-448	_	L330		L41	•	BfR Nc
GAD-	GAD⁺	ld isolates	enes fie	monocytog	NNS L.		olates	field is	genes (nocyto	- moi	I SN		
												n=4	≥90 min.	min; -
in to <90	in; + ≥60 m.	min to <60 mi	: ++ ≥30	followed as	denotatior	natively,	n. Alter	eviatio	ndard d	its sta	twice	es plus	10 minut	within
changed	AD reagent	color of the G/	++, if the	enoted as +-	ates were d	ield isola	+++). F	strain (erence	the ref	sed as	was us	utes and	10 mir
ithin 5 to) positive w	738 was GAD	(-12 ER2	erichia coli K	vely. Esch	respectiv	and N-	in, N+	ree nis	ig ml-1 f	003 m	n of 0.	mentatio	supple
or without	TSB) with c	hs (BHI, LB or	ture broth	different cul	red in three	ore-cultui	s were p	isolates	es field	ytogen	nonoc	IS) L. n	otible (NN	susce
isin non-	NS) and n	susceptible (se. Nisin	tem respons	GAD sys	ected the	oth affe	ture bro	the cult	f how	ison o	ompari	8.2-9 : C	Table

		NS L.	monoc	sytoge	nes fie	eld iso	lates		NNS L. n	onocytog	enes field	isolates	GAD⁺	GAD-
BfR No.	Ľ	1	Lз	30	L4	48		079	L2	4 5	L2	61	ECa	Ē
	Z-	Z +	Z-	Z +	Z	Z +	Ż	Z +	Z-	2 +	Ż	Z +	Z-	Ż
BHI		n.d.	+ +	n.d.	ı	n.d.	+ +	n.d.	++	n.d.	+	n.d.	+++	n.d.
LB	n.d.	n.d.	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	‡	+ + +	+ +	+ + +	+ + +	+ +	+	+ + +	n.d.
TSB	+ + +	+ +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	‡	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	+ + +	‡ +	+ +	++++	n.d.
a EC: E	20/i K-12	ER273	38: DOS	itive G	AD rea	action	(GAD+							

^b LF: *Lactobacillus fermentum* field isolate; negative GAD reaction (GAD-). Abbreviation: n.d. not detected.

Table 8.2-10: Incubation of autoclaved SCC (log 5.0 CFU ml⁻¹) with *L. monocytogenes* BfR L1031 field isolate over ripening time (N-). Before incubation, autoclaved SCC was amended with 0.004 mg ml⁻¹ free nisin (N+). Values in brackets represents standard deviation.

Time [d]	log CF	⁻ U ml ⁻¹
nine [d]	N-	N+
0	5.35 (±0.28)	5.69 (±0.25)
1	7.96 (±0.05)	5.36 (±0.19)
2	7.87 (±0.37)	5.65 (±0.23)
3	6.87 (±0.15)	5.22 (±0.26)

8.3. Publications, oral presentations and posters

Publications:

<u>Szendy, M.</u>; Westhäuser, W.; Baude, B.; Reims, J.; Dähne, L.; Noll, M. (2019): Time lapsed and pH-controlled release of nisin from Neusilin particles to enhance food safety of sour curd cheese. Journal of Food Science and Technology 56 (3), p. 1613–1621.

<u>Szendy, M.</u>; Kalkhof, S.; Bittrich, S.; Kaiser, F.; Leberecht, C.; Labudde, D.; Noll, M. (2019): Structural change in GadD2 of *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates supports nisin resistance. International Journal of Food Microbiology 305, 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2019.108240.

<u>Szendy, M.</u>; Rödel, A.; Horn, M.A.; Al Dahouk, S.; Dieckmann, R.; Noll, M.: Efficiency of disinfectant compounds and antimicrobial preservatives towards 253 *Listeria monocytogenes* field isolates and evaluation of antibiotic correlation; *manuscript in preparation*

Oral presentations:

17. Fachsymposium Lebensmittelmikrobiologie (2017): Intrinsische Nisintoleranz durch das Glutamat Decarboxylase System (GAD) in *Listeria monocytogenes*

16. Fachsymposium Lebensmittelmikrobiologie (2016): Wirkung von Mikrobioziden auf *Listeria monocytogenes*

Annual Conference of the Association for General and Applied Microbiology (VAAM) (2016): Effect of nisin on the survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in sour curd cheese after artificial contamination

9. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would sincerely like to thank Prof. Dr. Matthias Noll for supervising my doctoral thesis. I am grateful for all the possibilities and doors he opened for me, for his valuable advice, patience, fruitful discussions and support during the ups and downs of my PhD project.

My deeply gratitude goes to Prof. Dr. Marcus Horn and Prof. Dr. Martin Obst for their guidance and support.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Stefan Kalkhof, Prof. Dr. Aileen Funke and Prof. Dr. Janosch Hildebrand for their interest in my work, assistance during experiments, and encouraging discussions.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Sascha Al Dahouk and Dr. Ralf Dieckmann for enabling my research stay at BfR and for their scientific advice during my PhD project. I acknowledge the support of Dr. Sylvia Kleta and Alice Rödel. Moreover, I thank Thomas Fischer, Anna-Louisa Hauffe, Elena Schmidt, and Jane Kowall for technical assistance.

Big thanks go to Antje Vondran for her time, support in laboratory organization and help with any kind of problems. For his excellent technical support during laboratory work, I am grateful to Florian Westhäuser. I also thank Dr. Jens Hammerl for his kind help with WGS and for the gene analysis. I like to acknowledge Prof. Dr. Dirk Labudde and his group at the University of Applied Sciences Mittweida for the support with protein modelling and skype sessions. Lastly, I thank Dr. Nico Jehmlich for his comprehensive introduction to LC-MS analytic and very helpful discussions about protein data interpretation.

I truly thank all my colleagues at the Institute of Bioanalysis for their kindness and their generous help not only at work but also in Coburg life, namely Dr. Eva-Maria Wittmann, Florian Maurer, Judith Schuster, Julia Kenzel, Katharina Trunzer, Marina Stang, Marwa Malhis, Sandra Lasota and Sarah Muszynski. Especially Christian Büttner for helping me with hard and software problems and his never-ending supply of candies.

I express my gratitude to the entire staff of the Department of Applied Sciences, Coburg University of Applied Science and Arts. Thanks also go to my supervised Bachelor students Katharina Neudert, Moritz Fujera and Nico Rössel.

Finally, I would like to thank everyone who accompanied me on my PhD journey. I greatly appreciate my parents for their permanent support and trust in me. Ultimately, I am deeply grateful to my wife Alyssa Marie Sanchez Szendy for her patience, love, encouragement, proof-reading and understanding.

10. (EIDESSTATTLICHE) VERSICHERUNG UND ERKLÄRUNGEN

(§ 8 Satz 2 Nr. 3 PromO Fakultät)

Hiermit versichere ich eidesstattlich, dass ich die Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe (vgl. Art. 64 Abs. 1 Satz 6 BayHSchG).

(§ 8 Satz 2 Nr. 3 PromO Fakultät)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die Dissertation nicht bereits zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht habe und dass ich nicht bereits diese oder eine gleichartige Doktorprüfung endgültig nicht bestanden habe.

(§ 8 Satz 2 Nr. 4 PromO Fakultät)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich Hilfe von gewerblichen Promotionsberatern bzw. – vermittlern oder ähnlichen Dienstleistern weder bisher in Anspruch genommen habe noch künftig in Anspruch nehmen werde.

(§ 8 Satz 2 Nr. 7 PromO Fakultät)

Hiermit erkläre ich mein Einverständnis, dass die elektronische Fassung der Dissertation unter Wahrung meiner Urheberrechte und des Datenschutzes einer gesonderten Überprüfung unterzogen werden kann.

(§ 8 Satz 2 Nr. 8 PromO Fakultät)

Hiermit erkläre ich mein Einverständnis, dass bei Verdacht wissenschaftlichen Fehlverhaltens Ermittlungen durch universitätsinterne Organe der wissenschaftlichen Selbstkontrolle stattfinden können.

.....

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift